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Adverse changes in economic conditions, including inflation, recession, increased fuel prices, tariffs, and unemployment
levels, availability of consumer credit, taxation or instability in the financial markets or credit markets may either lower
demand for our products or increase our operational costs, or both. In addition, elections and other changes in the
political landscape could have similar effects. Such conditions may also materially impact our customers, suppliers and
other parties with whom we do business. Our revenue will be adversely affected if demand for our products declines. The
impact of unfavorable economic conditions may also impair the ability of our customers to pay for products they have
purchased. As a result, reserves for doubtful accounts and write- offs of accounts receivables may increase, and delay or
failure to collect a significant portion of amounts due on those receivables could have a material adverse effect upon our
business, results of operations, and financial condition. In addition, we also get pressure from our suppliers to pay them
faster and our customers to pay us slower, which impacts our cash flows. Risks Related to Our Business and Industry We
rely on a few targe-customers for a majority of our business, and the loss of any of these customers, significant changes in the
prices, marketing allowances or other important terms provided to any of these customers , or adverse developments with
respect to the financial condition of these customers , could reduee-harm our retinreeme-and-operating results. Our net sales are
concentrated among a small number of farge-our customers. Sales to our three largest customers in the aggregate represented 84
83 %, and sales to our largest customer represented 3735 % of our net sales during fiscal 2623-2024 . We are under ongoing
pressure from our major customers to offer lower prices, extended-- extend payment terms, inereased- increase marketing and
other allowances and other terms more favorable to these customers because our sales to these customers are concentrated, and
provide the market in which we operate is very competitive. Customer demands have put continued pressure on our operating
margins and profitability, resulted in periodic contract renegotiation to provide more favorable prices and terms to these
customers and significantly increased our working capital needs. The loss of or a significant decline in sales to any of these
customers could adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition. In addition, customer concentration
leaves us vulnerable to any adverse change in the financial condition of these customers. We regularly review our accounts
receivable and allowance for credit losses by considering factors such as historical experience, credit quality and age of the
accounts recelvable and the current economlc COI]dlthl’N that may affect a customel s ability to pay sgeh-amounts owed to us -
y . We participate in trade accounts receivable
discount programs with our major customers. If the CIedltWOl’thll’le§§ of any of our customers was downgraded, we could be
adversely affected as frthat-we may be subjected to higher interest rates on the use of these discount programs or we could be
forced to wait longer for payment. Should our customers experience significant cash flow problems, our financial position and
results of operations could be materially and adversely affected, and our the-maximum-ameunt-oftoss-losses that-woutd-could
include be-ineurred-woutd-be-the outstanding receivable balance, Used Cores expected to be returned by customers, and the
value of the Remanufactured Cores held at customers’ locations. We maintain an allowance for credit losses that, in our opinion,
provides for an adequate reserve to cover losses that may be incurred. However , we cannot assure you that our losses will not
exceed our reserve for the reasons and risks above. Changes in terms with, significant allowances for, and collections from these
customers could affect our operating results and cash flows. Failure to compete effectively could reduce our market share and
significantly harm our financial performance. Our industry is highly competitive, and our success depends on our ability to
compete with suppliers of automotive aftermarket products, some of which may have substantially greater financial, marketing
and other resources than we do. The automotive aftermarket industry is highly competitive, and our success depends on our
ability to compete with domestic and international suppliers of automotive aftermarket products. Due to the diversity of our
product offering, we compete with several large and medium- sized companies, including (i) BBB Industries , First Brands and
DRIV €ardenedndustries-for hard parts, (ii) Burke Porter and Loccionni AV-and-Hertba-for test solunonq and dlagnoqtlc
equipment , and (iii) a large number of smaller regional and specialty companies
We also In-addition;-we-face competition from original equipment manufacturers, which, through their automotive dealerthps
supply many of the same types of replacement parts we sell . In addition, other overseas competitors, particularly those
located in China, are increasing their operations and are becoming a significant competitive force . Some of our
competitors may have larger customer bases and significantly greater financial, technical and marketing resources than we do.
These factors may allow our competitors to: * respond more quickly than we can to new or emerging technologies and changes
in customer requirements by devoting greater resources than we can to the development, promotion and sale of automotive
aftermarket products; ¢ engage in more extensive research and development and ° speﬂd—allocate more money and resources on
marketlng and promotlon 18 y H

on us to reduce prices or take other actions, Wthh may have an adverse effect on our operating results. We may also lose
significant customers or lines of business to competitors. If we do not respond appropriately, the evolution of the automotive
industry could adversely affect our business. The automotive industry is increasingly focused on the development of hybrid and
electric vehicles and of advanced driver assistance technologies, with the goal of developing-andintredueing-a commercially-
viable, fully- automated driving experience. There has also been an increase in consumer preferences for mobility on demand
services, such as car and ride sharing, as opposed to automobile ownership, which may result in a long- term reduction in the
number of vehicles per capita. In addition, some industry participants are exploring transportation through alternatives to



automobiles. These evolving areas have also attracted increased competition from entrants outside the traditional automotive
industry. If we do not continue to innovate and develop, or acquire, new and compelling products that capitalize upon new
technologies in response to consumer preferences, it could have an adverse impact on our results of operations. These changes
may also reduce demand for our products for combustion engine vehicles. Work stoppages, production shutdowns and similar
events could significantly disrupt our business. Because the automotive industry relies heavily on just- in- time delivery of
components during the assembly and manufacture of vehicles, a work stoppage or production shutdown at one or more of our
manufacturing and assembly facilities could have adverse effects on our business. Similarly, if one or more of our customers
were to experience a work stoppage, that customer would likely halt or limit purchases of our products. We have also
experienced significant disruptions in the supply of several key components from Asia due to work stoppages, production
shutdowns, government closures, and other supply chain issues at many of our suppliers, leading to an adverse effect on our
financial results. Interruptions or delays in obtaining component parts could impair our business and adversely affect our
operating results. In our remanufacturing processes, we obtain Used Cores, primarily through the core exchange programs with
our customers, and component parts from third- party manufacturers. To supplement Used Cores received from our customers
we purchase Used Cores from core brokers. Historically, the Used Core returned from customers together with purchases from
core brokers have provided us with an adequate supply of Used Cores. If there was a significant disruption in the supply of Used
Cores, whether as a result of increased Used Core acquisitions by existing or new competitors or otherwise, our operating
activities could be materially and adversely impacted. In addition, a number of the other components used in the
remanufacturing process are available from a very limited number of suppliers. We are, as a result, vulnerable to any disruption
in component supply, and any meaningful disruption in this supply would materially and adversely impact our operating results.
Increases in the market prices of key component raw materials could increase the cost of our products and negatively impact our
profitability. In #ghtefaddition to the continuous pressure on pricing which we have experienced from our arge-largest
customers, we also may not be able to recoup the higher costs of our products due to changes in the prices of raw materials,
including, but not limited to, aluminum, copper, steel, and cardboard. We H-=we-are-anableto-recover a substantial portion of our
raw materials from Used Cores returned to us by our customers through the core exchange programs . To supplement Used
Cores received from our customers , the-we purchase Used Cores from core brokers. Although this is not a primary
source of Used Cores, it is a critical source for meeting our raw material demands. The higher prices of these Used Cores
that we purchase could mayrefleetthe-impact efehanges+nrthe cost of raw materials. Raw Sustatnedraw-material price
increases has-have had an unpact on our product costs and proﬁtabrllty and contmued increases will similarly adversely
affect us to-ds pre-. Our financial results are affected
by automotive parts fallure rates that are outside of our control Our operatlng results are affected over the long term by
automotive parts failure rates. These failure rates are impacted by a number of factors outside of our control, including the
produet-designs-thathave resulted-ingreater—rcliability and durability of vehlcles and parts the number of mrles driven by
consumers, and the average age of vehicles on the road. These trends A-—red Ates—o W
could reduce the demand for our products and thus adversely affect our sales and proﬁtablhty Our rehance on forelgn suppliers
for some of the automotive parts we sell to our customers or included in our products presents risks to our business. A significant
portion of automotive parts and components we use in our remanufacturing process are imported from suppliers located outside
the U. S., including China and other countries in Asia. As a result, we are subject to various risks of doing business in foreign
markets and importing products from abroad, such as the following, which we have experienced in the last fiscal year: ®
significant delays in the delivery of cargo due to port security and over- crowding considerations; ® imposition of duties, taxes,
tariffs or other charges on imports; e financial or political instability in any-efthe countries in which our product is
manufactured; @ potential recalls or cancellations of orders for anypreduet-products that dees-do not meet our quality
standards; e disruption of imports by labor disputes or strikes and local business practices; ® inability of our non- U. S. suppliers
to obtain adequate credit or access liquidity to finance their operations; and e natural disasters, conflicts, disease epidemics and
health related concerns, which could result in closed factories, reduced workforces, scarcity of raw materials and scrutiny or
embargoing of goods predueed-irinfeeted-areas-. We ftis-also face pessiblerinrthe-futare, thatwe-may-expertenee-the
following risks related to doing business in foreign markets and importing products from abroad ;sueh-as-the-foHeowing-:
imposition of new legislation relating to import quotas or other restrictions that may limit the quantity of our product that may
be imported into the U. S. from countries or regions where we do business; @ political or military conflict involving foreign
countries or the U. S., which could cause a delay in the transportation of our products and an increase in transportation costs; ®
heightened terrorism security concerns, which could subject imported goods to additional, more frequent or more thorough
inspections, leading to delays in deliveries or impoundment of goods for extended periods; and e our ability to enforce any
agreements with our foreign suppliers. Any of the foregoing factors, or a combination of them, could increase the cost or reduce
the supply of products available to us and materially and adversely impact our business, financial condition, results of operations
or liquidity. In addition, because we depend on independent third parties to manufacture a significant portion of our wheel hub,
brake- related products, and other purchased finished goods, we cannot be certain that we will not experience operational
difficulties with such manufacturers, such as reductions in the availability of production capacity, errors in complying with
merchandise specifications, insufficient quality controls and failure to meet production deadlines or increases in manufacturing
costs. An increase in the cost or a disruption in the flow of our imported products may significantly decrease our sales and
profits. Merchandise manufactured offshore represents a significant portion of our total product purchases. A disruption in the
shipping or cost of such merchandise may significantly decrease our sales and profits. In addition, if imported merchandise
becomes more expensive or unavailable, the transition to alternative sources may not occur in time to meet our demands.
Merchandise from alternative sources may also be of lesser quality and more expensive than those we currently import. Risks
associated with our reliance on imported merchandise include disruptions in the shipping and importation or increase in the




costs of imported products. For example, common risks include: * raw material shortages; ¢ problems with oceanic shipping,
including shipping container shortages; ¢ increased customs inspections of import shipments or other factors causing delays in
shipments; and ¢ increases in shipping rates, all of which we experienced. As well as the following common risks, which we
may experience in the future: * work stoppages; ¢ strikes and political unrest; « economic crises; * international disputes and
wars; * loss of “ most favored nation ” trading status by the U. S. in relations to a particular foreign country; * import duties; and
* import quotas and other trade sanctions. Products manufactured overseas and imported into the U. S. and other countries are
subject to import restrictions and duties, which could delay their delivery or increase their cost. We are subjeet-to-regularly in
contact with customs officials from various fawstits-countries and elaims-disagree from time to time on the amounts due .
In addition, government agencies and self- regulatory organizations have the ability to conduct periodic examinations of and
administrative proceedings regarding our business. Our operating results may continue to fluctuate significantly. We have
experienced significant variations in our annual and quarterly results of operations. These fluctuations have resulted from many
factors, including shifts in the demand and pricing for our products, general economic conditions, including changes in
prevailing interest rates, wage inflation and multiple minimum wage increases in Mexico in the past and likely in the
future, and the introduction of new products. Our gross profit percentage fluctuates due to numerous factors, some of which are
outside of our control. These factors include the timing and level of marketing allowances provided to our customers, actual
sales during the relevant period, pricing strategies, the mix of products sold during a reporting period, and general market and
competitive conditions. We also incur allowances, accruals, charges and other expenses that differ from period to period based
on changes in our business, which causes our operating income to fluctuate . Regulations related to conflict minerals could......
their efforts in the conflict minerals area . Natural disasters or other disruptions in our business in California and Baja California,
Mexico could increase our operating expenses or cause us to lose revenues. A substantial portion of our operations are located in
Southern California and Baja California, Mexico, including our headquarters, remanufacturing and warehouse facilities. Any
natural disaster, such as an earthquake, or other damage to our facilities from weather, fire or other events could cause us to lose
inventory, delay delivery of orders to customers, incur additional repair- related expenses, disrupt our operations or otherwise
harm our business. These events could also disrupt our information systems, which would harm our ability to manage our
operations worldwide and compile and report financial information. As a result, we could incur additional expenses or liabilities
or lose revenues, which could exceed any insurance coverage and would adversely affect our financial condition and results of
operations . During fiscal 2024, we sustained minor damage from rain, which resulted in short- term power outages . Our
failure to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting may affect our ability to accurately report our financial
results and could materially and adversely affect the market price of our common stock. Under the Sarbanes- Oxley Act, we
must maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting, which requires
significant resources and management oversight. Effective internal and disclosure controls are necessary for us to provide
reliable financial reports and effectively prevent fraud and to operate successfully as a public company. If we cannot provide
reliable financial reports or prevent fraud, our reputation and operating results would be harmed. We cannot assure you that our
internal control over financial reporting will be effective in the future or that other material weakness will not be discovered in
the future. Any failure to maintain effective controls or timely effect any necessary improvement of our internal and disclosure
controls could harm operating results or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations, which could affect our ability to
remain listed with the NASBAQ-Nasdaq Global Select Market or subject us to adverse regulatory consequences. Ineffective
internal and disclosure controls could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information, which would
likely have a negative effect on the trading price of our stock. Risks Related to Our Overseas Operations Our offshore
remanufacturing and logistic activities expose us to increased political and economic risks and place a greater burden on
management to achieve quality standards. Our everseas-international operations, especially our operations in Mexico, increase
our exposure to political, criminal or economic instability in the host countries and to currency fluctuations. Risks are inherent in
international operations, including: ¢ exchange controls and currency restrictions; ¢ currency fluctuations and devaluations; ¢
changes in local economic conditions; ¢ repatriation restrictions (including the imposition or increase of withholding and other
taxes on remittances and other payments by foreign subsidiaries); ¢ global sovereign uncertainty and hyperinflation ireertain
foretgn-eountries; * laws and regulations relating to export and import restrictions; * exposure to government actions; ®
increased required employment related costs; and ¢ exposure to local political or social unrest including resultant acts of war,
terrorism or similar events. These and other factors may have a material adverse effect on our effshere-international activities
and on our business, results of operations and financial condition. Our overall success as a business depends substantially upon
our ability to manage our foreign operations. We may not continue to succeed in developing and implementing policies and
strategies that are effective in each location where we do business, and failure to do so could materially and adversely impact
our business, results of operations, and financial condition. Unfavorable currency exchange rate fluctuations could adversely
affect us. We are exposed to market risk from material movements in foreign exchange rates between the U. S. dollar and the
currencies of the foreign countries in which we operate. In fiscal 2623-2024 , approximately 25-27 % of our total expenses were
in currencies other than the U. S. dollar. As a result of our extensive operations in Mexico, our primary risk relates to changes in
the rates between the U. S. dollar and the Mexican peso. To mitigate this currency risk, we enter into forward foreign exchange
contracts to exchange U. S. dollars for Mexican pesos. We also enter into forward foreign exchange contracts to exchange U. S.
dollars for Chinese yuan in order to mitigate risk related to our purchases and payments to our Chinese vendors. The extent to
which we use forward foreign exchange contracts is periodically reviewed in light of our estimate of market conditions and the
terms and length of anticipated requirements. The use of derivative financial instruments allows us to reduce our exposure to the
risk that the eventual net cash outflow resulting from funding the expenses of the foreign operations will be materially affected
by changes in the exchange rates. We do not engage in currency speculation or hold or issue financial instruments for trading
purposes. These contracts generally expire in a year or less. Any change in the fair value of foreign exchange contracts is



accounted for as an increase or decrease to foreign exchange impact of lease liabilities and forward contracts in the consolidated
statements of operations. We recorded a non- cash loss of $ 1, 373, 000, a non- cash gain of $ 2, 776, 000 , and a non- cash loss
of § 316, 000 due to the change in the fair value of the forward foreign currency exchange contracts during fiscal 2024, 2023 ,
and 2022, respectively. In addition, we recorded gains of $ 5,187, 000, $ 6, 515, 000 , and $ 1, 989, 000 in connection with the
remeasurement of foreign currency- denominated lease liabilities during fiscal 2024, 2023 , and 2022, respectively. Changes in
trade pohcy and other factors beyond our control could materlally adversely affect our busmess We are affected by The-former
A e e nat-trade generalty-policy , including withrespeetto
the North Arnerlcan Free Trade Agreement (“ NAFTA ™) and the World Trade Organization (the “ WTO ). In December 2019,
the United States, Mexico and Canada signed the amended United States- Mexico- Canada Agreement (the “ USMCA ”), which
replaced NAFTA. In July 2020, the U. S. notified the United Nations of its intention to withdraw from the WTO. While the
current presidential administration has rejoined the WTO, it remains difficult to predict what affeet-effect the USMCA, the
WTO or other trade agreements and organizations will have on our business. If the U. S. were to withdraw from or materially
modify any other international trade agreements to which it is a party or if the U. S. imposes significant additional tariffs on
imports from China or other restrictions, it could have an adverse impact on our business. Possible new tariffs that might be
imposed by the United States government could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. The U. S.
government has placed tariffs on certain goods imported from China and may impose new tariffs on goods imported from China
and other countries, including products that we import. In retaliation, China has responded by imposing tariffs on a wide range
of products imported from the U. S. and by adjusting the value of its currency. If renegotiations of existing tariffs are
unsuccessful or additional tariffs or trade restrictions are implemented by the U. S. or other countries in connection with a global
trade war, the resulting escalation of trade tensions could have a material adverse effect on world trade and the global economy.
Even in the absence of further tariffs or trade restrictions, the related uncertainty and the market =" s fear of an economic
slowdown could lead to a decrease in consumer spending , and we may experience lower net sales than expected. Reduced net
sales may result in reduced operating cash flows if we are not able to appropriately manage inventory levels or leverage
expenses. Risks Related to Our Indebtedness Our debt can impact our operating results and cash flows and limit our operations.
As of March 31,2023-2024 , we had $ 458128 , 325-000 , 000 of debt outstanding under our credit facility, which is at variable
interest rates. Fluctuations in those rates could impact our operating results and cash flows. In particular, interest rates have been
rising recently, which increases our interest expense. The weighted average interest on our debt was 8. 43 % at March 31, 2024
compared with 8. 12 % at March 31, 2023 eempared-to-3—12-%atMareh3+-20622-. In addition, our credit facility has
covenants that limit aspects of our operations. In addition, on March 31, 2023, we issued and sold $ 32, 000, 000 in aggregate
principal amount of 10. 0 % convertible notes due in 2029 (the Convertrble Notes ). The issuance of shares of our common
stock upon conversion of the Convertible Notes may dilute the ownership interests of existing stockholders and reduce our per
share results of operations. Any sales in the public market of our common stock issuable upon such conversion could adversely
affect prevailing market prices of our common stock. We may also incur additional debt in the future, which could further
increase our leverage, reduce our cash flow or further restrict our business. Our lenders may not waive future defaults under our
credit agreements. Our credit agreement with our lenders contains certain financial and other covenants. If we fail to meet any of
these covenants in the future, there is no assurance that our lenders will waive any such defaults or that we will otherwise be
able to cure them. If we obtained a waiver, it may impose significant costs or covenants on us. In addition, as the capital markets
get more volatile, it may become more difficult to obtain such waivers or refinance our debt. Weakness in conditions in the
global credit markets and macroeconomic factors, including interest rates, could adversely affect our financial condition and
results of operations. The banking industry and global credit markets also experience difficulties from time to time, and issues
involving our lenders could impact our deposits, the availability, terms and cost of borrowings or our ability to refinance our
debt. Any weakness in the credit markets could result in significant constraints on liquidity and availability of borrowing terms
from lenders and accounts payable terms with vendors. These issues could also result in more stringent lending standards and
terms and higher interest rates. In addition, we are exposed to changes in interest rates primarily as a result of our borrowing and
receivable discount programs, which have interest costs that vary with interest rate movements. Any limitations on our ability to
fund our operations could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and ability to grow. Risks Related
to Owning Our Stock Our stock price is volatile and could decline substantially. Our stock price has fluctuated in the past and
may decline substantially in the future as a result of developments in our business, the volatile nature of the stock market, and
other factors beyond our control. Our stock price and the stock market generally has, from time to time, experienced extreme
price and volume fluctuations. Many factors may cause the market price for our common stock to decline, including: (i) our
operating results failing to meet the expectations of securities analysts or investors in any period, (ii) downward revisions in
securities analysts’ estimates, (iii) market perceptions concerning our future earnings prospects, (iv) public or private sales of a
substantial number of shares of our common stock, (v) adverse changes in general market conditions or economic trends, and
(vi) market shocks generally or in our industry . Our stock price is also affected by volume , steh-as-whathasreeently
eeeurred-which impacts the ability of investors to buy or sell our stock . General Risk Factors We have made and may
continue to make strategic acquisitions of other companies er-and businesses , and these acquisitions have and may continue to
introduce significant risks and uncertainties, including risks related to integrating the acquired businesses and achieving benefits
from the acquisitions. In order to position ourselves to take advantage of growth opportunities, we have made, and may continue
to make, strategic acquisitions that involve significant risks and uncertainties. These risks and uncertainties include: © the
difficulty in integrating newly —acquired businesses and operations in an efficient and effective manner; ¢ the challenges in
achieving strategic objectives, cost savings and other benefits from acquisitions;  the potential loss of key employees of the
acquired businesses; ¢ the risk of diverting the attention of senior management from our operations; ¢ risks associated with
integrating financial reporting and internal control systems; ¢ difficulties in expanding information technology systems and other




business processes to accommodate the acquired businesses; and ¢ future impairments of any goodwill of an acquired business.
We may also incur significant expenses to pursue and consummate acquisitions. Any of the foregoing, or a combination of
them, could cause us to incur additional expenses and materially and adversely impact our business, financial condition, results
of operations yor liquidity. Increasing attention to environmental, social, and governance matters may impact our business,
financial results, or stock price. In recent years, increasing attention has been given to corporate activities related to
environmental, social, and governance (“ ESG ") matters in public discourse and the investment community. A number of
advocacy groups, both domestically and internationally, have campaigned for governmental and private action to promote
change at public companies related to ESG matters, including through the investment and voting practices of investment
advisers, public pension funds, universities, and other members of the investing community. These activities include increasing
attention and demands for action related to climate change and promoting the use of energy saving building materials. As they
evaluate investment decisions, many investors and customers, look not only at company disclosures but also to ESG
rating systems that have been developed by third parties to allow ESG comparisons among companies. Although we
participate in a number of these ratings systems, we do not participate in all such systems. The criteria used in these
ratings systems may conflict and change frequently, and we cannot predict how these third parties will score us, nor can
we have any assurance that they score us accurately or other companies accurately or that other companies have
provided them with accurate data. We supplement our participation in ratings systems with published disclosures of our
ESG activities, but some investors may desire other disclosures that we do not provide. We also incur significant costs in
complying with reporting obligations and could incur liability if a regulator or other third party disagrees with our
statements. In addition, the SEC recently issued final rules that mandate additional ESG disclosure and impose other
requirements on us. In addition, some of the domestic and foreign jurisdictions in which we operate could mandate
additional ESG disclosure and impose additional requirements on us. For example, in October 2023, California passed
two bills that require certain companies that do business in California to disclose their GHG emissions and climate-
related financial risks starting in 2026. A failure to comply with investor or customer expectations and standards, which are
evolving, or if we are perceived to not have responded appropriately to the growing concern for ESG issues, regardless of
whether there is a legal requirement to do so, could also cause reputational harm to our business , cause certain investors to be
unwilling to invest in our stock, which could adversely impact our ability to raise capital and could have a-other material
adverse effeet-effects on us .Regulations related to conflict minerals could adversely impact our business.The Dodd- Frank Wall
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (“ Dodd- Frank ’) contains provisions to improve transparency and accountability
concerning the supply of certain minerals,known as ““ conflict minerals ”,originating from the Democratic Republic of Congo (*
DRC ”) and adjoining countries.These rules could adversely affect the sourcing,supply,and pricing of materials used in our
products,as the number of suppliers who provide conflict- free minerals may be limited. We may also suffer reputational harm if
we determine that certain of our products contain minerals not determined to be conflict- free or if we are unable to modify our
products to avoid the use of such materials. We may also face challenges in satisfying customers who may require that our
products be certified as containing conflict- free minerals.The products we manufacture or contract to manufacture contain small
quantities of Tin and Gold.We manufacture or contract to manufacture one product with small quantities of Tantalum.For the
reporting year ending December 31, 20222023 ,we surveyed 24H4-255 smelters s-or refiners sor-metal-proeessing-faetities-for
these minerals that are,or could be,in our supply chain.Of these, 89-87 % were validated as Compliant or Conformant as
conflict- free,per publicly available information on the Conflict Free Sourcing Initiative website. We have not been able to
ascertain the conflict- free status of the remaining smelters or refiners.Our strategy for managing risks associated with conflict
minerals in products includes continuing to encourage our suppliers to engage in conflict- free sourcing and obtaining data from
our suppliers that is more applicable to the products we purchase.We continue to monitor progress on industry efforts to
ascertain whether some facilities that suppliers identified are actually smelters.We do not believe conflict minerals pose risk to
our operations.We are a member of the Automobile Industry Action Group (AIAG) and support their efforts in the conflict
minerals area . If our technology and telecommunications systems were to fail, or we were not able to successfully anticipate,
invest in or adopt technological advances in our industry, it could have an adverse effect on our operations. We rely on computer
and telecommunications systems to communicate with our customers and vendors and manage our business. The temporary or
permanent loss of our computer and telecommunications equipment and software systems, through casualty, operating
malfunction, software virus or service provider failure, could disrupt our operations. In addition, our future growth may require
additional investment in our systems to keep up with technological advances in our industry. If we are not able to invest in or
adopt changes to our systems, or such upgrades take longer or cost more than anticipated, our business, financial condition and
operating results may be adversely affected. Cyber- attacks or other breaches of information technology security could adversely
impact our business and operations. The incidence of cyber- attacks and other breaches of information technology security have
increased worldwide. Cyber- attacks or other breaches of network or information technology security may cause equipment
failure or disruption to our operations. We may face Sweh-such attacks through whiehinehade-the-use of malware, computer
viruses , attachments to e- mails and other means for disruption or unauthorized access The risk of a cybersecurity attack ,
ofreompantes-including by computer hackers (individual or hacking organizations), foreign governments, and cyber
terrorists, has generally increased as the number, intensity, and sophistication of attempted attacks and intrusions from
around the world have increased ir. The techniques and sophistication used to conduct cyber- attacks and breaches of IT
systems, as well as the sources and targets of these attacks, change frequeney-frequently ;-seepe-and are often potentiat
ave-not recognized until such beensubjeetto-eyber—attacks are

et tehindiv i eate;-have been in place matertal-to-our-operations-or-for
finanetal-eondittons;-a perlod of tlme. We have been 1mpacted by securlty incidents in the past and will likely continue to

experience security incidents of varying degrees. The preventive actions we take to reduce the risk of cyber incidents and




protect our information technology and networks may be insufficient to repel a major cyber- attack in the future . As cyber-
attacks continue to evolve, we may be required to expend significant additional resources to continue to modify or
enhance our protective measures or to investigate and remediate any information security vulnerabilities. In addition,
our remediation efforts may not be successful . To the extent that any disruption or security breach results in a loss or damage
to our data or unauthorized disclosure of confidential information, it could cause significant damage to our reputation, affect our
relationship with our customers, suppliers and employees, and lead to claims against us and ultimately harm our business.
Additionally, we may be required to incur significant costs to protect against damage caused by these disruptions or security
breaches in the future including if such security breaches result in a violation of applicable federal and state privacy and
other laws, or subject us to private consumer, business partner, or securities litigation and governmental investigations
and proceedings, any of which could result in our exposure to material civil or criminal liability . While we maintain
specific cyber insurance coverage, which may apply in the event of various breach scenarios, the amount of coverage may not
be adequate in any particular case. Furthermore, because cyber threat scenarios are inherently difficult to predict and can take
many forms, some breaches may not be covered under our cyber insurance coverage. [tem 1B. Unresolved Staff
CommentsNone. Item 1C. CybersecurityMaterial Effects of Cybersecurity Incidents Risks from cybersecurity threats,
including as a result of any previous cybersecurity incidents, have not materially affected us, including our business
strategy, results of operations, or financial condition. Further information regarding cybersecurity risks can be found in
Item 1A. Risk Factors- risks relating to “ cyber- attacks or other breaches of information technology security could
adversely impact our business and operation . Cybersecurity Risk Management and Strategy We have developed and
implemented a cybersecurity program designed to provide structured and thorough cybersecurity risk management and
governance. Our cybersecurity program prioritizes, among other things, prevention of unauthorized access; protection
of sensitive information; detection, assessment, and response to cyber threats; and continuous improvement of our
cybersecurity measures. We seek to achieve our cybersecurity program priorities through a multi- pronged approach to
address cyber threats and incidents that includes (i) implementation of various industry best practices, (ii) proactive
monitoring of our IT systems, (iii) ongoing employee training, (iv) quarterly phishing campaigns, (v) continued
education for our cybersecurity team, and (vi) regular risk assessments. We also maintain cyber insurance coverage to
help mitigate a portion of the potential costs in the event of covered events. Our cybersecurity program is aligned with
various frameworks for managing cybersecurity risks, such as the National Institute of Standards and Technology
Cybersecurity Framework for IT. We have an Information Technology Steering Committee that oversees the IT
function, material projects, budgeting, and cybersecurity. In addition, we have an Incident Response Team, as
highlighted in our cybersecurity policy to respond to any information security risks or incidents. These committees
report directly to the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which is responsible for overall oversight of the
Company’ s cybersecurity program. We rely upon both internal and external resources for evaluating and enhancing
our cyber posture. Our information security team works with external cybersecurity firms to review and provide
feedback on improving our cybersecurity program, including in the areas of data protection, threat and vulnerability
management, and end- point protection. We require annual cybersecurity training by our employees, send out regular
tips and memos to help our employees recognize phishing emails and other social engineering tactics, and provide
various methods for employees to report suspicious activity that may give rise to a cyber- incident or threat. Significant
results of such testing and reviews are communicated to our executive management team and our Audit Committee, as
applicable, and are utilized in our cybersecurity program’ s continuous improvement process. In response to the growing
risks associated with third- party service providers, we do not have any direct connections between our enterprise
resource planning (“ ERP ”) system to our third- party suppliers and their access to our IT systems that could
significantly disrupt our operations. We maintain a set of core practices and procedures when responding to certain
high- risk information security threats and incidents, which are designed to ensure appropriate resources are utilized to
provide an effective, timely, and coordinated response in managing crises, including significant cyber threats and
incidents. Our Management Risk Committee will assume overall responsibility in an effort to ensure that the appropriate
functions and work streams are mobilized and coordinated to effectively manage any significant cyber events. We have
been a target of cyberattacks and other hacking activities, as have certain of our third- party service providers. While
our cybersecurity program is designed to prevent unauthorized access and protect sensitive information, including
through continuous improvement of our cybersecurity measures, and we have not experienced any material cyber
threats or incidents to date, we can give no assurance that we will be able to prevent, identify, respond to, or mitigate the
impact of all cyber threats or incidents. To the extent future cyber threats or incidents result in significant disruptions
and costs to our operations, reduce the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting, or otherwise
substantially impact our business, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, liquidity, financial condition,
and / or results of operations. For additional discussion on our cybersecurity risks, refer to Item 1A. “ Risk Factors ” of
this Form 10- K. Cybersecurity Governance Our Board of Directors oversees the management of risks inherent in the
operation of our business, with a focus on the most significant risks that we face, including those related to
cybersecurity. Our Board of Directors has delegated oversight of cybersecurity, including privacy and information
security, as well as enterprise risk management to the Audit Committee. In connection with that oversight responsibility,
our VP of IT and General Counsel meet with the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis to provide information and
updates on a range of cybersecurity topics which may include our cybersecurity program and governance processes;
cyber risk monitoring and management; the status of projects to strengthen our cybersecurity and privacy capabilities;
recent significant incidents or threats impacting our operations, industry, or third- party suppliers; and the emerging
threat landscape. Our cybersecurity team is managed by a dedicated information security team, led by our VP of IT.



Our VP of IT has more than 25 years of information technology experience across various disciplines, including nearly
15 years of experience in the financial, re- manufacturing, and distribution industries. She has led our global
information security organization for almost three years. In addition to her employment experience in the cybersecurity
field, our VP of IT has a Bachelor’ s of Business Administration and Computer Information Systems, and meets
regularly with other members of our executive team to provide relevant updates on our cybersecurity program. Item 2.
PropertiesThe following sets forth the location, type of facility, square footage and ownership interest in each of our material
facilities. boeation-LocationType Fype-of FacilityApprox Faetlity-Approx-. Squarc Feetleased-FeetLeased or
OwnedExpirationTorrance Owned-ExpirattonrForranee-, CA Remanufacturing, Warchouse, Administrative, and Office 231,
000 Leased March 2032 2032Fijuana—--- Tijuana , Mexico Remanufacturing, Warehouse, and Office 312, 000 Leased August
2033 2633 Fijuana—--- Tijuana , Mexico Distribution Center and Office 410, 000 Leased December 2032 2632 Fjuana—---
Tijuana , Mexico Remanufacturing, Warehouse, and Office 199, 000 Leased December 2032 2632Fijnana—--- Tijuana ,
Mexico Core Induction, Warehouse, and Office 173, 000 Leased December 2032 2632Fjaana—--- Tijuana , Mexico Warehouse
+64-68 , 000 Leased May-June 2026 2624Singapore—--- Singapore & Malaysia Remanufacturing, Warchouse, and Office +H4
144 , 000 Leased Various through Deeember-September 2032 2024Shanghai—--- Shanghai , China Warchouse and Office 27,
000 Leased March 2027 26240ntarte—--- Ontario , Canada Remanufacturing, Warchouse, and Office 157, 000 Leased May
2026 20260ntario—--- Ontario , Canada Manufacturing, Warehouse, and Office 35, 000 Leased December 2024¥We--- 2024 We
believe the above mentioned facilities are sufficient to satisfy our current and foreseeable operations. Item 3. Legal
ProceedingsWe are subject to various lawsuits and claims. In addition, government agencies and self- regulatory organizations
have the ability to conduct periodic examinations of and administrative proceedings regarding our business , —FeHewing-ar-and

our complrance w1th law aud-rt—rn—ﬁseal—z-e-l-&(i&udﬂi)— code the—U—S—Gustem&aﬂd—Befdeﬂlfeteeﬁeﬁ—(ieBP’—)-sﬁﬁed—ﬂ&&H

and regulatlons 999—999—&eﬂ‘1—2-9-1—1—ﬂ‘1feﬂgh—ﬂ‘ﬂd-

%G-I-S—related to all matters 1nclud1ng but t-he—ﬁ-ndr-ngs—e-ﬁt-he—&udﬁ—We—de—not lrmlted beheve—t-h&t—t-lﬂs—a-metmt—rs—eeﬁeet—&ﬂé

t-h&t—we—er—net—need—to aeefue—er—payhaddrtreﬁal—&metmts—m—ﬂ&e—futafe-envmonmental mformatron securlty, taxes, levres,
tariffs and such . [tem 4. Mine Safety DisclosuresNot applicable. PART Illtem 5. Market for Registrant” s Common Equity,

Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity SecuritiesOur common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global
Select Market under the trading symbol MPAA. As of June 64 , 2023-2024 , there were 19, 494-662 , 615-380 shares of
common stock outstanding held by 4410 holders of record. Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer Share repurchase
activity during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2623-2024 was as follows: Periods Total Number of Shares Purchased Average Price
Paid Per Share Total Number of Shares Purchased as Part of Publicly Announced Plans or Programs Approximate Dollar Value
of Shares That May Yet Be Purchased Under the Plans or Programs (1) January 1- January 31, 2623-2024 : Open market and
privately negotiated purchases- $-- $ 18, 255, 000 February 1- February 2829 , 2623-2024 : Open market and privately
negotiated purchases- $-- 18, 255, 000 March 1- March 31, 2623-2024 : Open market and privately negotiated purchases- $-- 18,
255,000 Total $ 18, 255, 000 (1) As of March 31, 2623-2024 , § 18, 745, 000 of the $ 37, 000, 000 was utilized and § 18, 255,
000 remains available to repurchase shares under the authorized share repurchase program, subject to the limit in our Credit
Facility. We retired the 837, 007 shares repurchased under this program through March 31, 2623-2024 . Our share repurchase
program does not obhgate us to acqulre any specrhc number ot shares and shares may be repurchased in privately negotrated

sh&fe—e-f—eeﬁafﬂeﬁ—steelﬁ— Equrty Compensanon Plan lnformatron The tollowrng summarizes our equity compensatron plans as
of March 31, 2823-2024 : Plan Category Number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options, warrants and
rights (a) Weighted— average exercise price of outstanding options warrants and rights (b) Number of securities remaining
available for future issuance under equity compensation plans (excluding securities reflected in column (a)) (c) Equity
compensation plans approved by security holders 2, 122, 863 ( | 5854;795-() $ 26-9 . 26-32 (2) 84430 , 432-129 (3) Equity
compensation plans not approved by security holders N /A N /AN/A Total 2, 122 863 $ 9 32 430 129 ( 1 —854—7-95—$—2-9—
20-8H5432+) Consists of (i) 6-140 , 29 0 P S p ek-Option ;
1-366;169-restricted stock units and-restrieted-stoek( ee-l-leet—wel—y—“ RSUs ”) 192 (9( performance stock unrts (PSU’ 9), "lnd
+975 ., 884 226:745-stock options issued under the Fourth Amended and Restated 2010 Incentlve Award Plan (the “ 2010 Plan
7)sand (#t- ii ) $6-100 , 4+7624 RSUs ssue e lo 6 or-1n ;

2y 581 and-(1v)-52-, #68-227 RSUs-PSUs, and 132 133 stock optlons 1ssued under our 2022 Incentlve Award Plan (the «“ 2022
Plan ™). (2) The weighted average exercise price does not reflect the shares that will be issued in connection with the settlement
of RSUs and PSUs, since RSUs and PSUs have no exercise price. (3) Consists of shares available for future issuance under our
2022 Plan. Stock Performance Graph The following graph compares the cumulative return to holders of our common stock for
the five years ending March 31, 2623-2024 with the NASDAQ Composite Total Returns Index and the Zacks Retail and
Wholesale Auto Parts Index. The comparison assumes $ 100 was invested at the close of business on March 31, 2648-2019 in




our common stock and in each of the comparison groups, and assumes reinvestment of dividends. Item 6. Selected Financial
Dataltem 7. Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of OperationsThe following discussion
contains forward- looking statements, including, without limitation, our expectations and statements regarding our outlook and
future revenues, expenses, results of operations, liquidity, plans, strategies and objectives of management and any assumptions
underlying any of the foregoing. Our actual results may differ significantly from those projected in the forward- looking
statements. Our forward- looking statements and factors that might cause future actual results to differ materially from our
recent results or those projected in the forward- looking statements include, but are not limited to, those discussed in the section
titled “ Cautionary Note Regarding Forward- Looking Statements ”” and “ Risk Factors ** of this Annual Report on Form 10- K.
Except as required by law, we assume no obligation to update the forward- looking statements or our risk factors for any reason.
Management Overview With a scalable infrastructure and abundant growth opportunities, we are focused on growing our
aftermarket business in the North American marketplace and growing our leadership position in the test solutions and diagnostic
equipment market by providing innovative and intuitive solutions to our customers. Our investments in infrastructure and human
resources during the past few years reflects the significant expansion of manufacturing capacity to support multiple product
lines. These investments included (i) a 410, 000 square foot distribution center, (ii) two buildings totaling 372, 000 square feet
for remanufacturing and core sorting of brake calipers, and (iii) the realignment of production at our original 312, 000 square
foot facility in Mexico. Highlights and Accomplishments in Fiscal 2623-2024 During fiscal 2023-2024 , we continued to execute
our strategic plan — focusing on meaningful growth and improving profitability by leveraging our offshore infrastructure,
industry position and customer relationships. The following significant accomplishments support our optimism moving forward:
We—aehteved—Sales 1ncreased by 5.1 percent to a record $ 717. 7 million, desplte 1ndustry softness in the fiscal fourth

ea-tegeries—' . Increased market share for We—expeﬂeneed-meamng-ftﬂ—trae&enﬂwrﬂa—our eusteﬂ&ers—aﬁd-eensuﬂ&ers-ﬁﬂee—}ast
year—s-launch-of a-comprehensive-tine-of brake pads-utilizing— related product lines for both our branded Quality- Built ®
an-and our private label retail industry—leadingformulation;-and-brake retors—serving-products; * Expanded brand equity
by increasing sales under the MPA portfolio of brands, including Quality- Built ®, in the professional installer market
under-our-Quality-—Built-®-brand-; - We-expanded-sates-Sales with-growth in our recently launched Mexican market
continued to accelerate, driven by market share gains through additional preduetline-offerings-and-business being
awarded by current customers tn—Me*teo— We—eeﬁtrntted-Secured addltlonal commitments for our JBT- 1 bench- to-top
testers that are being

rolled- out to the majorlty of retail stores in North Amerlca We—feeused—eﬁ—red-ue&eﬁﬁnﬂfeﬂteryh}eve}s—feﬂeﬁ&ng—Gross

profit increased 16. 3 percent to $ 132. 6 million; * Gross margin increased 1. 8 percentage points to 18. S percent; ¢
Opened a strategie-buitd-up-new facility in Malaysia to meet-demand-during-support manufacturing of wheel hub products
for direct shipments to our customers; * Operating income increased 26. 5 reeent- percent global-to $ 46. 1 million; ¢
Generated cash from operating activities of approximately $§ 39. 2 million; * Reduced net bank debt by $ 32. S million to
$ 114. 0 million; * Restructured our credit agreement to eliminate the senior leverage ratio financial covenant; ¢ Retired
our term loans and materially reduced the balance of our revolving facility; ¢ Instituted a vendor supply chain ehaltenges
financing program to support our strategy for neutrahzatlon of worklng capltal and Made s1gn1ﬁcant progress We

s-on eppeft&ﬂrt—tes—te—eﬂhaﬁee-enhanclng our En\ 1ronmental

Social and Govemdnce practlces ona ;Dlobal basis. Trends Affecting Our Business Our business is impacted by various factors
within the economy that affect both our customers and our industry, including but not limited to inflation, interest rates, glebat
disruptions in the supply chain disraptiens-, fuel costs, wage rates, and other economic conditions. Given the nature of these
various factors, we cannot predict whether or for how long certain trends will continue, nor can we predict to what degree these
trends will impact us in the future. Inflation The cost to manufacture and distribute our products is impacted by the cost of raw
materials, finished goods, labor, and transportation. During fiscal 2023-2024 , we experienced increased eentinted-inflationary
pressure-and-highercosts as—a—resu-l-t—e—ﬁt-he—mereasmg—eest—of raw materials, hmshed 5oods hlgher labor —tr&nspe-rt&t—reﬂ—costs in

Mexico , and othel admlnlstrame costs -

customers on a 11mlted bds1s Future general price mﬂdtmn and its impact on costs and dvallablllty of materlals could ddversely
affect our financial results. Interest Rates Interest rates are-tisirg-remain high in an effort to curb higher-on- going inflation. We
are experiencing higher interest costs for our accounts berrowing-and-otreustomers—receivable discount programs and
borrowings under our credit facility , which have interest costs that vary with interest rate movements. The majority of our
interest costs resaits— result from our accounts eustomers>receivable discount programs —Fhe-, which had a weighted average

discount rate of 6. 8 % for these-programs-was-fiscal 2024 compared with 5. 3 % for fiscal 2023 eompared-with-+-9-%for

-f-“rsea-l%@%% These contmued hléhel interest rates and any future increases m mterest rates will contlnue to ddversely a—ffeet




Apfﬂ—%@%—we—feeewed—ftﬂi-paymefﬁ—e%ﬁe%eeeﬂf&b{& Seunent Repomns_ Our thlee opemtmo segments are as follows .
Hard Parts, inelading-which includes (i) light duty rotating electric products such as alternators and starters, (i1) wheel hub
products, (iii) brake- related products, including brake calipers, brake boosters, brake rotors, brake pads and brake master
cylinders, and (iv) turbochargers, ¢ Test Solutions and Diagnostic Equipment, inelading-which includes (i) applications for
combustion engine vehicles, including bench - top testers for alternators and starters, (i1) testseluttons-and-diagnestie-equipment
for the pre- and post- production of electric vehicles, and (iii) software emulation of power systems— system applications for
the electrification of all forms of transportation (including automobiles, trasts-and-trucks, the emerging electrification of
systems within the aerospace industry, and steh-as-clectric vehicle charging stations), and « Heavy Duty, inelading-which
1ncludes non- dlscretlonary automotive aftermarket Ieplauement hard parts for heavy- duty truck, lndLlStl”ldl mdlme and

reportable segment The Test Solutions and Dlagnostlc Eqmpment and Hea\y Duty se(rments are not materlal are not requlred
to be separately repertable--- reported , and are included within the * all other ” category. See Note 19 of the notes to
consolidated financial statements for more information. Critical Accounting Policies We prepare our consolidated financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP, in the United States. Our significant
accounting policies are discussed in detail below and in Note 2 of the notes to consolidated financial statements. In preparing our
consolidated financial statements, we use estimates and assumptions for matters that are inherently uncertain. We base our
estimates on historical experiences and reasonable assumptions. Our use of estimates and assumptions affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities and the amount dnd timing of rev enues and e‘q)enses we 1ecogmze for dnd during the 1epomno

aﬂd—ﬁnaﬁeta-l—mafke’fs— We are not cunently aware of any specific event or circumstance that would require an update to our
estimates or judgments or a revision of the carrying value of our assets or liabilities as of March 31, 2023-2024 . However,
Fhese-these estimates may change, as new events occur and additional information is obtained. Actual results could differ
materially from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. Our remanufacturing operations include core
exchange programs for the core portion of the finished goods. The Used Cores that we acquire and are returned to us from our
customers are a necessary raw material for remanufacturing. We also offer our customers marketing and other allowances that
impact revenue recognition. These elements of our business give rise to more complex accounting than many businesses our
size or larger . Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements Supplier Finance Programs In September 2022, the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “ FASB ”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ ASU *) 2022- 04,
Liabilities — Supplier Finance Programs (Subtopic 405- 50) Disclosure of Supplier Finance Program Obligations. This
standard requires qualitative and quantitative disclosures sufficient to enable users of the financial statements to
understand the nature, activity during the period, changes from period to period and potential magnitude of supplier
finance programs. The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022. During fiscal 2024, we
launched a supplier finance program as part of our ongoing efforts to improve cash flow and liquidity. This program
allows certain of our suppliers to sell their receivables due from us to a participating financial institution at the sole
discretion of both the supplier and the financial institution. The program is administered by a third party. We have no
economic interest in the sale of these receivables and no direct relationship with the financial institution. Payments to the
third- party administrator are based on services rendered and are not on related to the volume or number of financing
agreements between suppliers, financial institution, and the third- party administrator. We are not a party to agreements
negotiated between participating suppliers and the financial institution. Our obligations to our suppliers, including
amounts due and payment terms, are not affected by a supplier' s decision to participate in this program. We do not
provide guarantees and there are no assets pledged to the financial institution or the third- party administrator for the
committed payment in connection with this program. As of March 31, 2024, we had $ 1, 695, 000 of outstanding supplier
obligations confirmed under this program, included in accounts payable in the consolidated balance sheet. Accounting
Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted Disclosure Improvements In October 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023- 06, Disclosure
Improvements: Codification Amendments in Response to the SEC’ s Disclosure Update and Simplification Initiative.
This standard was issued in response to the SEC’ s disclosure update and simplification initiative, which affects a variety
of topics within the Accounting Standards Codification. The amendments apply to all reporting entities within the scope
of the affected Topics unless otherwise indicated. The effective date for each amendment will be the date on which the
SEC’ s removal of that related disclosure from Regulation S- X or Regulation S- K becomes effective, with early
adoption prohibited. We are currently evaluating the impact this guidance will have on our financial statement
disclosures. Reportable Segment Disclosures In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023- 07, Improvements to
Reportable Segment Disclosures (Topic 280). This standard requires us to disclose significant segment expenses that are
regularly provided to the CODM and are included within each reported measure of segment operating results. The
standard also requires us to disclose the total amount of any other items included in segment operating results, which



were not deemed to be significant expenses for separate disclosure, along with a qualitative description of the
composition of these other items. In addition, the standard also requires disclosure of the CODM’ s title and position, as
well as detail on how the CODM uses the reported measure of segment operating results to evaluate segment
performance and allocate resources. The standard also aligns interim segment reporting disclosure requirements with
annual segment reporting disclosure requirements. This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December
15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. We
are currently evaluating the impact this guidance will have on our financial statement disclosures. Improvements to
Income Tax Disclosures In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023- 09, Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures
(Topic 740). This standard requires us to provide further disaggregated income tax disclosures for specific categories on
the effective tax rate reconciliation, as well as additional information about federal, state / local and foreign income
taxes. The standard also requires us to annually disclose our income taxes paid (net of refunds received), disaggregated
by jurisdiction. This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption
permitted. The standard is to be applied prospective basis, although optional retrospective application is permitted. We
are currently evaluating the impact this guidance will have on our financial statement disclosures . [nventory Inventory is
comprised of: (i) Used Core and component raw materials, (ii) work- in- process, and (iii) remanufactured and purchased
finished goods. Used Core, component raw materials, and purchased finished goods are stated at the lower of average cost or
net realizable value. Work- in- process is in various stages of production and is valued at the average cost of Used Cores and
component raw materials issued to work orders still open, including allocations of labor and overhead costs. Historically, work-
in- process inventory has not been material compared to the total inventory balance. Remanufactured finished goods include: (i)
the Used Core cost and (ii) the cost of component raw materials, and allocations of labor and variable and fixed overhead costs
(the “ Unit Cost ). The allocations of labor and variable and fixed overhead costs are based on the actual use of the production
facilities over the prior 12 months which approximates normal capacity. This method prevents the distortion in allocated labor
and overhead costs that would occur during short periods of abnormally low or high production. In addition, we exclude certain
unallocated overhead such as severance costs, duplicative facility overhead costs, start- up costs, training, and spoilage from the
calculation and expenses these unallocated overhead costs as period costs. Purchased finished goods also include an allocation
of fixed overhead costs. The estimate of net realizable value is subjective and based on our judgment and knowledge of current
industry demand and management’ s projections of industry demand. The estimates may, therefore, be revised if there are
changes in the overall market for our products or market changes that in our judgment impact our ability to sell or liquidate
potentially excess or obsolete inventory. Net realizable value is determined at least quarterly as follows: ¢ Net realizable value
for finished goods by customer, by product line are determined based on the agreed upon selling price with the customer for a
product in the trailing 12 months. We compare the average selling price, including any discounts and allowances, to the finished
goods cost of on- hand inventory, less any reserve for excess and obsolete inventory. Any reduction of value is recorded as cost
of goods sold in the period in which the revaluation is identified. ¢ Net realizable value for Used Cores are determined based on
current core purchase prices from core brokers to the extent that core purchases in the trailing 12 months are significant.
Remanufacturing consumes, on average, more than one Used Core for each remanufactured unit produced since not all Used
Cores are reusable. The yield rates depend upon both the product and customer specifications. We purchase Used Cores from
core brokers to supplement our yield rates and Used Cores not returned under the core exchange programs. We also consider the
net selling price our customers have agreed to pay for Used Cores that are not returned under our core exchange programs to
assess whether Used Core cost exceeds Used Core net realizable value on a by customer, by product line basis. Any reduction
of core cost is recorded as cost of goods sold in the period in which the revaluation is identified. « We record an allowance for
potentially excess and obsolete inventory based upon recent sales history, the quantity of inventory on- hand, and a forecast of
potential use of the inventory. We periodically review inventory to identify excess quantities and part numbers that are
experiencing a reduction in demand. Any part numbers with quantities identified during this process are reserved for at rates
based upon our judgment, historical rates, and consideration of possible scrap and liquidation values which may be as high as
100 % of cost if no liquidation market exists for the part. As a result of this process, we recorded reserves for excess and
obsolete inventory of $ 17, 372, 000 and $ 16, 436 -060-ard-$13;526-, 000 at March 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-,
respectively. This increase in the reserve was primarily due to excess inventory of certain finished goods on hand at March 31,
2623-2024 compared with March 31, 26222023 . We record vendor discounts as a reduction of inventories and are recognized
as a reduction to cost of sales as the inventories are sold. Inventory Unreturned Inventory unreturned represents our estimate,
based on historical data and prospective information provided directly by the customer, of finished goods shipped to customers
that we expect to be returned, under our general right of return policy, after the balance sheet date. Inventory unreturned includes
only the Unit Cost of a finished goods. The return rate is calculated based on expected returns within the normal operating cycle,
which is generally one year. As such, the related amounts are classified in current assets. Inventory unreturned is valued in the
same manner as our finished goods inventory. Contract AssetsContract assets consists of: (i) the core portion of the finished
goods shipped to customers, (ii) upfront payments to customers in connection with customer contracts, (iii) core premiums paid
to customers, (iv) finished goods premiums paid to customers, and (v) long- term core inventory deposits. Remanufactured
Cores held at customers’ locations as a part of the finished goods sold to the customer are classified as long- term contract
assets. These assets are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value of Used Cores on hand (See Inventory above). For
these Remanufactured Cores, we expect the finished good containing the Remanufactured Core to be returned under our general
right of return policy or a similar Used Core to be returned to us by the customer, under our core exchange programs, in each
case for credit. Remanufactured Cores and Used Cores returned by consumers to our customers but not yet returned to us are
classified as “ Cores expected to be returned by customers ”, which are included in short- term contract assets until we physically
receive them during our normal operating cycle, which is generally one year. Upfront payments to customers represent



marketing allowances, such as sign- on bonuses, slotting fees, and promotional allowances provided to our customers. These
allowances are recognized as an asset and amortized over the appropriate period of time as a reduction of revenue if we expect
to generate future revenues associated with the upfront payment. If we do not expect to generate additional revenue, then the
upfront payment is recognized in the consolidated statements of operations when payment occurs as a reduction of revenue.
Upfront payments expected to be amortized during our normal operating cycle, which is generally one year, are classified as
short- term contract assets. Core premiums paid to customers represent the difference between the Remanufactured Core
acquisition price paid to customers generally in connection with new business, and the related Used Core cost. The core
premiums are treated as an asset and recognized as a reduction of revenue through the later of the date at which related revenue
is recognized or the date at which the sales incentive is offered. We consider, among other things, the length of our largest
ongoing customer relationships, duration of customer contracts, and the average life of vehicles on the road in determining the
appropriate period of time over which to amortize these premiums. These core premiums are amortized over a period typically
ranging from six to eight years, adjusted for specific circumstances associated with the arrangement. Core premiums are
recorded as long- term contract assets. Core premiums expected to be amortized within our normal operating cycle, which is
generally one year, are classified as short- term contract assets. Finished goods premiums paid to customers represent the
difference between the finished good acquisition price paid to customers, generally in connection with new business, and the
related finished good cost, which is treated as an asset and recognized as a reduction of revenue through the later of the date at
which related revenue is recognized or the date at which the sales incentive is offered. We consider, among other things, the
length of our largest ongoing customer relationships, duration of customer contracts, and the average life of vehicles on the road
in determining the appropriate period of time over which to amortize these premiums. Finished goods premiums are amortized
over a period typically ranging from six to eight years, adjusted for specific circumstances associated with the arrangement.
Finished goods premiums are recorded as long- term contract assets. Finished goods premiums expected to be amortized within
our normal operating cycle, which is generally one year, are classified as short- term contract assets. Long- term core inventory
deposits represent the cost of Remanufactured Cores we have purchased from customers, which are held by the customers and
remain on the customers’ premises. The costs of these Remanufactured Cores were established at the time of the transaction
based on the then current cost. The selling value of these Remanufactured Cores was established based on agreed upon amounts
with these customers. We expect to realize the selling value and the related cost of these Remanufactured Cores should our
relationship with a customer end, a possibility that we consider remote based on existing long- term customer agreements and
historical experience. Revenue Recognition Revenue is recognized when performance obligations under the terms of a contract
with our customers are satisfied; generally, this occurs with the transfer of control of our products. Revenue is measured as the
amount of consideration we expect to receive in exchange for transferring goods or providing services. Revenue is recognized
net of all anticipated returns, marketing allowances, volume discounts, and other forms of variable consideration. Revenue is
recognized either when products are shipped or when delivered, depending on the applicable contract terms. The price of a
finished remanufactured product sold to customers is generally comprised of separately invoiced amounts for the
Remanufactured Core included in the product (“ Remanufactured Core value ) and the unit portion included in the product (“
Unit Value ), for which revenue is recorded based on our then current price list, net of applicable discounts and allowances.
The Remanufactured Core value is recorded as a net revenue based upon the estimate of Used Cores that will not be returned by
the customer for credit. These estimates are subjective and based on management’ s judgment and knowledge of historical,
current, and projected return rates. As reconciliations are completed with the customers the actual rates at which Used Cores are
not being returned may differ from the current estimates. This may result in periodic adjustments of the estimated contract asset
and liability amounts recorded and may impact the projected revenue recognition rates used to record the estimated future
revenue. These estimates may also be revised if there are changes in contractual arrangements with customers, or changes in
business practices. A significant portion of the remanufactured automotive parts sold to customers are replaced by similar Used
Cores sent back for credit by customers under the core exchange programs (as described in further detail below). The number of
Used Cores sent back under the core exchange programs is generally limited to the number of similar Remanufactured Cores
previously shipped to each customer. Revenue Recognition — Core Exchange Programs Full price Remanufactured Cores:
When remanufactured products are shipped, certain customers are invoiced for the Remanufactured Core value of the product at
the full Remanufactured Core sales price. For these Remanufactured Cores, revenue is only recognized based upon an estimate
of the rate at which these customers will pay cash for Remanufactured Cores in lieu of sending back similar Used Cores for
credits under the core exchange programs. The remainder of the full price Remanufactured Core value invoiced to these
customers is established as a long- term contract liability rather than being recognized as revenue in the period the products are
shipped as we expect these Remanufactured Cores to be returned for credit under our core exchange programs. Nominal price
Remanufactured Cores: Certain other customers are invoiced for the Remanufactured Core value of the product shipped at a
nominal (generally $ 0. 01 or less) Remanufactured Core price. For these nominal Remanufactured Cores, revenue is only
recognized based upon an estimate of the rate at which these customers will pay cash for Remanufactured Cores in lieu of
sending back similar Used Cores for credits under the core exchange programs. Revenue amounts are calculated based on
contractually agreed upon pricing for these Remanufactured Cores for which the customers are not returning similar Used
Cores. The remainder of the nominal price Remanufactured Core value invoiced to these customers is established as a long-
term contract liability rather than being recognized as revenue in the period the products are shipped as we expect these
Remanufactured Cores to be returned for credit under our core exchange programs. Revenue Recognition; General Right of
ReturnCustomers are allowed to return goods that their end- user customers have returned to them, whether or not the returned
item is defective (warranty returns). In addition, under the terms of certain agreements and industry practice, customers from
time to time are allowed stock adjustments when their inventory of certain product lines exceeds the anticipated sales to end-
user customers (stock adjustment returns). Customers have various contractual rights for stock adjustment returns, which are



typically less than 5 % of units sold. In some instances, a higher level of returns is allowed in connection with significant
restocking orders. The aggregate returns are generally limited to less than 20 % of unit sales. The allowance for warranty returns
is established based on a historical analysis of the level of this type of return as a percentage of total unit sales. The allowance
for stock adjustment returns is based on specific customer inventory levels, inventory movements, and information on the
estimated timing of stock adjustment returns provided by customers. Stock adjustment returns do not occur at any specific time
during the year. The return rate for stock adjustments is calculated based on expected returns within the normal operating cycle,
which is generally one year. The Unit Value of the warranty and stock adjustment returns are treated as reductions of revenue
based on the estimations made at the time of the sale. The Remanufactured Core value of warranty and stock adjustment returns
are provided for as indicated in the paragraph “ Revenue Recognition — Core Exchange Programs ”. As is standard in the
industry, we only accept returns from on- going customers. If a customer ceases doing business with us, we have no further
obligation to accept additional product returns from that customer. Similarly, we accept product returns and grant appropriate
credits to new customers from the time the new customer relationship is established. Contract LiabilityContract liability consists
of: (i) customer allowances earned, (ii) accrued core payments, (iii) customer core returns accruals, (iv) core bank liability, (v)
finished goods liabilities, and (vi) customer deposits. Customer allowances earned includes all marketing allowances provided to
customers. Such allowances include sales incentives and concessions. Voluntary marketing allowances related to a single
exchange of product are recorded as a reduction of revenues at the time the related revenues are recorded or when such
incentives are offered. Other marketing allowances, which may only be applied against future purchases, are recorded as a
reduction to revenues in accordance with a schedule set forth in the relevant contract. Sales incentive amounts are recorded
based on the value of the incentive provided. Customer allowances to be provided to customers within our normal operating
cycle, which is generally one year, are considered short- term contract liabilities and the remainder are recorded as long- term
contract liabilities. Accrued core payments represent the sales price of Remanufactured Cores purchased from customers,
generally in connection with new business, which are held by these customers and remain on their premises. The sales price of
these Remanufactured Cores will be realized when our relationship with a customer ends, a possibility that we consider remote
based on existing long- term customer agreements and historical experience. The payments to be made to customers for
purchases of Remanufactured Cores within our normal operating cycle, which is generally one year, are considered short- term
contract liabilities and the remainder are recorded as long- term contract liabilities. Customer core returns accruals represent the
full and nominally priced Remanufactured Cores shipped to our customers. When we ship product, we recognize an obligation
to accept a similar Used Core sent back under the core exchange programs based upon the Remanufactured Core price agreed
upon by us and our customer. The contract liability related to Used Cores returned by consumers to our customers but not yet
returned to us are classified as short- term contract liabilities until we physically receive these Used Cores as they are expected
to be returned during our normal operating cycle, which is generally one year and the remainder are recorded as long- term
contract liabilities. The core bank liability represents the full Remanufactured Core sales price for cores returned under our core
exchange programs. The payment for these returned cores are made over a contractual repayment period pursuant to our
agreement with this customer. Payments to be made within our normal operating cycle, which is generally one year, are
considered short- term contract liabilities and the remainder are recorded as long- term contract liabilities. Finished goods
liabilities represents the agreed upon price of finished goods acquired from customers, generally in connection with new
business. The payment for these finished goods are made over a contractual repayment period pursuant to our agreement with
the customer. Payments to be made within our normal operating cycle, which is generally one year, are considered short- term
contract liabilities and the remainder are recorded as long- term contract liabilities. Customer deposits represent the receipt of
prepayments from customers for the obligation to transfer goods or services in the future. We classify these customer deposits as
short- term contract liabilities as we expect to satisfy these obligations within our normal operating cycle, which is generally one
year. Customer Finished Goods Returns Accrual The customer finished goods returns accrual represents our estimate of our
exposure to customer returns, including warranty returns, under our general right of return policy to allow customers to return
items that their end user customers have returned to them and from time to time, stock adjustment returns when the customers’
inventory of certain product lines exceeds the anticipated sales to end- user customers. The customer finished goods returns
accrual represents the Unit Value of the estimated returns and is classified as a current liability due to the expectation that these
returns will occur within the normal operating cycle of one year. Our customer finished goods returns accrual was § 38, 312,
000 and $ 37, 984 -600-and-$-38,-986-, 000 at March 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022- respectively. The change in the customer
finished goods returns accrual primarily resulted from the timing of returned goods authorizations (“ RGAs ) issued at March
31,20623-2024 compared with March 31, 2822-2023 . Income Taxes We account for income taxes using the liability method,
which measures deferred income taxes by applying enacted statutory rates in effect at the balance sheet date to the differences
between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements. The resulting asset or
liability is adjusted to reflect changes in the tax laws as they occur. A valuation allowance is provided to reduce deferred tax
assets when it is more likely than not that a portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. Realization of deferred tax
assets is dependent upon our ability to generate sufficient future taxable income. Significant judgment is required in determining
our provision for income taxes, our deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against our net
deferred tax assets. We make these estimates and judgments about our future taxable income that are based on assumptions that
are consistent with our future plans. A valuation allowance is established when we believe it is not more likely than not all or
some of a deferred tax assets will be realized. In evaluating our ability to recover deferred tax assets within the jurisdiction in
which they arise, we consider all available positive and negative evidence , including scheduled reversals of deferred tax
liabilities, projected future taxable income, past financial performance, and tax planning strategies . Deferred tax assets
arising primarily as a result of net operating loss carry- forwards and research and development credits in connection with our
Canadian operations have been offset completely by a valuation allowance due to the uncertainty of their utilization in future



periods. During the year ended March 31, 2024, we recorded a discrete non- cash valuation allowance of $ 38, 009, 000 on
U. S. federal and various state deferred tax assets that is considered not more likely than not to be realized under U. S.
GAAP. Should the actual amount differ from our estimate, the amount of our valuation allowance could be impacted. We have
made an accounting policy election to recognize the U. S. tax effects of global intangible low- taxed income as a component of
income tax expense in the period the tax arises. The following discussion and analysis should be read together with the financial
statements and notes thereto appearing elsewhere herein. The following summarizes certain key operating consolidated data for
the periods indicated: Fiscal Years Ended March 31, 2023-2024 Cash flows fased4m>provided by (used in) operations § 39,
172,000 $ (21, 754, 000) $ (44, 862, 000) $56;-689;-060-Finished goods turnover (1) 3.7 3. 6 3. 8 44(1) Finished goods
turnover is calculated by dividing the cost of goods sold for the year by the average between-of beginning and ending non- core
hmshed goods inv entory \4 dlues for each fiscal year We believe that this prov ides a useful measure of our ability to turn our

sa-}es—Flstl %92—3—2024 C ompdled with Fl%(,dl %92—2—2023 Net Sales dnd (Jross Profit The follo“ ing summarizes net sales and
gross profit: Fiscal Years Ended March 31, 2623-2024 Net sales to external customers $ 717, 684, 000 $ 683, 074 -006-5-650;
368-, 000 Cost of goods sold 58S, 133, 000 569, 112 7860-532;443-, 000 Gross profit 132, 551, 000 113, 962 —999—1—1—7—865—
000 Gross profit percentage 18. 5 % 16. 7 %1+8—1+% Net Sales. Our consolidated net sales for fiscal ﬂ%e—ye&r—eﬂded—M&feh—Zv—l—
2023-2024 were $ 683-717 , 674-684 , 000, which represents an mcrease of b -32—34 —7’-66—610 000 or 5. 9—1 % from fiscal the
year-ended-Mareh34;2622-2023 of § 656-683 , -39'8—074 000 —Fth : y y
Gee—m—eefe—feveﬂtte—due to strong demand a-reattg ven

ﬁet—sa-}es—for both the-y M

g 8 emers-. [he folloxxma summarizes Consohddted
net sales by ploduet mix: Flscal Yedrs Ended March ?1 %92—3—2024 Rotdtmv eleCtllLdl products % % Wheel-hab-Brake-
related products % % Wheel hub Brake—related-products % % Other products % % % % Gross Profit. Our consolidated gross
profit swas-for fiscal 2024 increased $ H3-18 , 962-589 , 000, or 16. #+3 %, to $ 132, 551, 000 from $ 113, 962, 000 for fiscal
2023. Our consolidated gross margin, as a percentage of consolidated net sales, improved by 1. 8 % for the-year-ended
Mareh3+;fiscal 2024 to 18. 5 % from 16. 7 % for fiscal 2023 eempared-with-$17%-865,-600;-. This improvement is due to
better utilization of er-our facilities and +8—-%cofconselidatednetsales;for-the yearended-Mareh3152022-benefit of price
increases that went into effect during current and prior perlods Gﬁr—ln addltlon, our 2ross margin for ﬁscal 2024

S5

compared with ﬁscal t-he—ye&eeﬂded—Mafeh—Zv-l—ﬂ)B ef]

dddlthlldl expenses of $ 7, 472, 000 and $ 8,195, 000 respectlvely, prlmarlly due to certain Costs for dlsmptlons n the supply

chain of $-8-, 195;-000-and-$-8;759;-000;respeetively-( iit- ii ) amortization of core and finished goods premiums paid to
customers 1eldted to new business of ‘{> 10, 963, 000 and $ , 791, 000 and-$1H5960,-600-, respectively Jrradditien, and

v~ +iii ) the non- cash quarterly revaluation of cores that are
part of the finished g goods on the Customels shelw es (Whth are included in contract assets) to the lower of cost or net realizable
value, which resulted in a write- down of $ 5,353, 000 and $ 3, 736, 000 and-G-, respectively. In addition, gross margin for
ﬁscal 2023 was 1mpacted by a b , 034, OOO 1educt10n of payroll expense for the Employee Retentlon Credlt (“ ERC?” —Fe-1=

bfakeh—fekrted-epefaﬁeﬂs—rrrMeﬂee—e%%@@@— Opemtmo Expenses The follo“ ing summarizes Consohddted opemtma
expenses: Fiscal Years Ended March 31, 2623-2024 General and administrative $ 57, 769, 000 $ 54, 756, 000 $-57499,-606

Sales and marketing 22,481, 000 21, 729, 000 22;-833;-6080-Rescarch and development 9, 995, 000 10, 322 --660-+6;:-562-, 000
Foreign exchange impact of lease liabilities and forward contracts ( 3, 814, 000) ( 9, 291 ;-606)(1+-673-, 000) Percent of net sales
General and administrative 8. 0 % 8. 80 % Sales and marketing 3.1 % 3. 2 % 3—5%Research and development 1. 54 % 1. 6-5
% Foreign exchange impact of lease liabilities and forward contracts ( 0. 5) % ( 1. 4 3¥2%66-—3-) % General and Administrative.
Our general and administrative expenses for fiscal 2024 were $ 57, 769, 000, which represents an increase of $ 3, 013, 000, or
5.5 %, from fiscal 2023 of $§ 54, 756, 000. This increase was primarily due to (i) $ 2, 960, 000 of increased employee
incentives, (ii) $ 1, 075, 000 of increased employee- related expenses which resulted from the $ 1, 377, 000 employee
retention credit recorded in the prior year partially offset by lower expenses due to cost- cutting measures, and (iii) $ 1,
033, 000 of increased professional services. These increases were partially offset by (i)  54-952 , 756-000 of decreased
severance and (ii) the benefit of our continued cost- cutting measures at our offshore locations. Sales and Marketing.
Our sales and marketing expenses for fiscal 2024 were $ 22, 481, 000, which represents an increase of $ 752, 000, or 3. 5§
%, from fiscal 2023 of $ 21, 729, 000. This increase was primarily due to (i) the $ 968, 000 employee retention credit
recorded in the prior year and (ii) $ 467, 000 of increased commissions due to higher sales. These increases were partially
offset by our cost- cutting measures, which included (i) $ 375, 000 of decreased marketing and advertising expenses and
(ii) $ 218, 000 of decreased trade show expense. Research and Development. Our research and development expenses for
fiscal 2024 were $ 9, 995 . 000, which represents a decrease of $ 327, 000, or 3. 2 -743;:-000;-0:4-8-%, from fiscal 2022-2023



payrel-l—and a reductlon in research and development expense—expenses -fer—t-he—ERG These decreases were partially ¢
by the ()-$ +725 , 646;-000 employee retention credit recorded in the prior year. Foreign Exchange Impact of rnereased
expense—resn-}t-mg—freﬁa—Lease L1ab1ht1es and Forward Contracts Our foreign exchange 1mpact eurreneytr&nsaet—rens—fn)%

eyberseeurrt—y—and forward contracts etherp ety S ; o i o :
Matketing—Oursales-and-marketing-expenses-for 1scal 2024 and 2()2? were non- cash galns of $ 3, 814, 000 and $ 9 2—1—291

F29:-000, respectlvely wla-rela—represents—a—deerease—ef%—l,—l—%,—eeeﬁ Th1s change during $-%;frem-fiscal 2022-2024
3 ates-and-me rg-fiscal 2023 was pllmarll due to (1 ) $H

our foreign cuncncy dcnommalc d lease llablllllcs w hl h 1csullcd 1n non- cash Lams 01 $5, 187 000 and $ 6, 515, ()()() and—$—l—

989-000-for-the-yearsended-Mareh3452023-and2022-, respectively, due to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations and (ii)
the forward foreign currency exchange contracts, which resulted in a non- cash gairloss of $ 2-1 , ##6-373 , 000 compared with
a non- cash fess-gain of $ 346-2 , 776 600-fer-the-yearsended-Mareh-31-, 000 2023-and2022-, respectively, due to the changes
in their fair values. Operating Income Consolidated Operating Income. Our consolidated operating income for fiscal the-year
ended-Mareh31+2623-2024 was $ 36;446— 46, 120 , 000, which represents an increase of $ 79 , 742-674 , 000, or 2726 . -5
%, from fiscal t-he—yeaﬁeﬂded-Mareh—Zv—l—}G%Z—2023 of S 2—8—36 —7’-94—446 ()()() ()pudllmy income increased plllndllly due to
hlgher gross profit 1 g 3 d
lower-operating-expenses-, w hlch were—was partially o lsu by -}ewer—gress—preﬁt—hlgher operatlng expenses as dlSLLlSSCd abox e.
Interest Expense Interest Expense, net. Our interest expense for fiscal the-year-ended-Mareh3452023-2024 was $ 39-60 , 555
040, 000, which represents an inucasc of $ 2420, 999—485 000, or +54-51 . 3—8 % ﬁom inlucsl expense for fiscal -t-he—ye&r

interest rates eﬁ—eﬂﬁbefreﬁng—dnd increased collectlon of receivables utilizing accounts receiv dblC discount programs on
hlgher sales Wh-reh—have—v&ﬂab-}e-(n) hlgher interest rates offset by lower —In-addition;-during-the-year-ended-Mareh314,2023;
v ms-and-our-average berrowing-outstanding balances under our credit
ldClllly -l-l‘lefeased- and (iii) non- cash 1nterest expense incurred on the convertible notes issued on March 31, 2023. Change
in Fair Value of Compound Net Derivative Liability Change in Fair Value of Compound Net Derivative Liability. Our
change in fair value of compound net derivative liability for fiscal 2024 was a non- cash gain of $ 1, 020, 000 associated
with the convertible notes issued on March 31, 2023. Loss on Extinguishment of Debt Loss on Extinguishment of Debt.
Our loss on extinguishment of debt was $ 168, 000 in connection with the repayment of the remaining outstanding
balance of our term loans during fiscal 2024 . Provision for Income Taxes Income Tax. We recorded an income tax expense
of $+36 , 9898176 , 000, or an effective tax rate of (35276 . 3-8 ) %, and ineeome-taxexpense-of-b 5-1 , 788-098 , 000, or an
effective tax rate of 44-(35 . 6-3) %, for fiscal 2024 and 2023 a-nd%@%%—, respectively . During fiscal 2024, we recorded a
discrete non- cash valuation allowance of $ 38, 009, 000 on our U. S. federal and various state deferred tax assets
primarily due to recent losses . The effective tax rate for fiscal year-ended-Marelh342023-2024 , was primarily impacted by
(1) speetftejuriseietions-the valuation allowance on U. S. and Canadian deferred tax assets that we do not expect to
reeognize-the-be realized, (ii) excess tax benefit eftesses-from stock- based compensation , ( #-iii ) non- deductible
executive compensation under Internal Revenue Code Sectlon 162 (m), and (1v lo1c1<rn income taxed at rates that are
different from the federal statutory rate ;-an 3 s
+62-(my-. Fiscal 2622-2023 Compared with
999—$—549—7—82—999—€est—0 the changes in ¢




year Lllde Md ch3 %92—2—2023 was— as compared w1th whieh

4% frem-the year ended March 31, 20242022 6£$-46-, has been omitted 6 i e
to-deereasednon—eash-gains—from foreign-exchange-impaet-ofeasetabilities-this Form 10 K but may be found in Item 7 “
Management’ s Discussion and ferward-eontraets-Analysis of Financial Condition and inereased-eperating-expenses-Results

of Operations ” of the annual report on Form 10- K for the year ended March 31, 2023, filed with the SEC on June 14,
2023 which were-partialty-offsetis avallable free of charge on the SEC’ s website at www. sec. gov by searchlng with our




ineome-taxed-at rates-that-are-differentfrom-the federatstatutoryrate-top of the page . Liquidity and Capital Resources We had
working capital (current assets minus current liabilities) of $ 156, 034, 000 and $ 154, 886 600-and-$1H06;-580-, 000, a ratio of
current assets to current llabllmes of 1. 4 1 0 at March 31, 2024 and 2023 &ﬁd—l—3—l—9—a-t—M&fe-h—3—l— respectlvely %922—"[—1&6}

eustemer—deﬁa&nd— Our pumary source of llqmdlty was hom cash generated from operatlons t-he—ttse—e-ﬁetﬂhfeeewab}e

y 3 rote iunnu f1sea %92—3—2024—I-n—add-rt-teﬂ—we—l=1ave—&eeess—te-ew
g h-as-wellas avattable—e ae meet-sh ds-. We believe cash generated from
operatlons, our cash and cash equivalents, use of accounts receivable discount programs, amounts available under our credit

facility, and other sources are sufficient to satisfy our expeeted-fatare-working capital needs ;repaymentofthe-eurrentportiotrof
ettr—teﬂﬂ—}e&ﬁs—. and ledse and Cdpltdl expendltule obllgatlons over the next 12 months —9ﬁ—M&feh—3—l—292—3—we—tsstled—$—32—

Years Ended MdIL 3 .%92—3—2024 (,as h fused—rﬂ)—plo\ ided by (used 1n) : Opemtmg activities b 39, 172 000 $ (2 754 ()()()) $
(44, 862, 000) $-56;,-889,-800-Investing activities ( 479, 000) (4, 191, 000) (7, 938 ;788094244 000) Financing activities (36,
439, 000) 14, 308, 000 60, 215, 000 6;-567-006)-Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 124, 000 217, 000 78,
000 599;-600-Net increase (decrease) terease-in cash and cash equivalents $ 2,378,000 $ (11, 420, 000) $ 7, 493, 000 $-34;

893;-006)-Additional selected cash flow data: Depreciation and amortization $ 11, 619, 000 $ 12, 444, 000 $ 12, 886 -006-5+H5
+44-, 000 Capital expenditures 1, 000, 000 4, 201, 000 7, 550 7606435942, 000 Net cash used+n-provided by operating

activities was $ 39, 172, 000 for fiscal 2024 compared with net cash used in operations of $ 21, 754 ;-006-and-$44;-862-, 000
for fiscal 2023 and-2022;respeetively-. The significant ehange-changes in our operating activities reflect was-due-primarityto
(1) areduetion-increased collections of nventery-that-was-butlt—ap-trour accounts receivable balances resulting from
higher sales during the current year, (ii) the timing of supplier payments compared with the prior year , and (iii)
contlnued investments in 1nvent0ry to ﬂ&eet—eusfemeiesupport anticipated future demand for (iyareduetion-ofaceounts

y v nage-our products inventoryltevels;and-(ii)-inereased-satesfor
-ﬁsea-l%@%—compdled w 1th 1nvent0ry reductlon 1n1t1at1ves fiseal 2022, resulting-in the prior year a-higheraceountstreeetvable
batanee-which-wil-be-eoHeetedinfuturepertods-. We continue to manage our working capital to maximize our operating cash
flow. Net cash used in investing activities was $ 479, 000 and $ 4, 191 7-8080-arnd-$7-938-, 000 for fiscal 2024 and 2023 and
%92—2— 1espect1\ ely. The Chanue in our investing activ mes pllmarllv 1esu1ted from decreased Cdpltdl expendltules due—te—t-he

¢ tvitt ifteant-change in our financing activities was-due-mainty-to
add-rt—teﬁerl-prlmarlly resulted from (1) the net beffewmgs-repayment of amounts outstanding under our credit facility of §

30, 325, 000 during fiscal 2622-2024 te-support-the-investmentinrourinventory-compared with $ 13, 550, 000 during fiscal
2023 and (ii) the repayments—-- payment under-of debt issuance costs incurred in connection with the amendments to our
credit facility and convertible notes during fiscal 26242024 . During fiscal 2023 we generated proceeds, less debt issuance
costs, from the issuance of $ 32, 000, 000 in convertible notes issued on March 31, 2023. A discussion of the changes in
our operating activities, investing activities, and financing activities for the year ended March 31, 2023, as compared with
the year ended March 31, 2022, has been omitted from this Form 10- K but may be found in Item 7. “ Management’ s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ” of the annual report on Form 10- K for the
year ended March 31, 2023, filed with the SEC on June 14, 2023, which is available free of charge on the SEC’ s website
at www. sec. gov by searching with our ticker symbol “ MPAA ” or at our internet address, www. motorcarparts. com,
by clicking “ Investors > located at the top of the page . We are party to a § 268, 620, 000 senior secured financing, (as
amended from time to time, the “ Credit Facility ) with a syndicate of lenders, and PNC Bank, National Association, as




administrative agent, consisting of (i) a $ 238, 620, 000 revolving loan facility, subject to borrowing base restrictions, a $ 24,
000, 000 sublimit for borrowings by Canadian borrowers, and a $ 20, 000, ()()() sublimit for letters of credit (the “ Revolving
Facility ) and (ii) a $ 30, 000, 000 term loan facility (the “ Term Loans ). Fhe-Prior to the eighth amendment discussed

below, the loans undc1 the Credit Faulm were scheduled to mature on Mdv 28,2026 —"Phe—Gred-rt—Faeﬂ-rFy—eﬁrreﬂt-}y—peﬂﬂrts

th-h—ﬁﬁ&ﬁetal-ee-veriaﬁts— In connection w 1lh the ( redit Faulll\ lhe lenders hd\L a scuuny mluesl in sub&mmmllv all of our
assets. The-On August 3, 2023, we entered into a seventh amendment to the Credit Facility, which among other things, (i)
permitted us to repay our outstanding balance of Term Loans regtire-, (ii) permitted the exclusion of quarterly principal

payments of Term Loans from the fixed charge coverage ratio $-937,-500The-Credit Facility bearsinterestat ratesequal-to
either-SOFR-( including retrospectively as-defined-below)plus-a-marginof 2-75%;3-066-%orfor 3-25%-the prior periods)

otfor all quarters beginning June 30 arefereneerate-phasamarginof+75%, 2-00-%-2023, (iii) reset the fixed charge
coverage ratio financial covenant level or-for the quarters 2-25%-inreachease-depending—-- ending on-September 30,

2023 and December 31, 2023, (iv) eliminated the senior leverage ratio financial covenant effective with the quarter ended
June 30, 2023, (v) extended the minimum undrawn availability financial covenant through the delivery of the June 30,
2024 compliance certificate, and (vi) excluded the amount of all amendment fees and expenses incurred in connection
with this amendment as well as prior unamortized fees associated with the Term Loans from bank EBITDA and the
fixed charge coverage ratio financial covenant. On August 3, 2023, we repaid the remaining outstanding balance of our
Term Loans and recorded a loss on extinguishment of debt for the remaining unamortized debt issuance costs of $ 168,
000 in the consolidated statement of operations. On December 12, 2023, we entered into an eighth amendment to the
Credit Facility, which among the-other applieable-measurement-things, (i) extended the maturity datc to December 12,
2028 from May 28, 2026, (ii) amended the definition of “ Applicable Margin ” to provide for a pricing grid, with the
Applicable Margin for Term SOFR loans ranging from 2 . Fhere-75 % to 3. 25 % and the Applicable Margin for base
rate loans ranging from 1. 75 % to 2. 25 %, in each case based on average daily undrawn availability for the most
recently completed calendar quarter, (iii) amended the existing fixed charge coverage ratio financial covenant that is alse
a-faetlity-fee-only tested if undrawn availability (which may include up to $ 8, 000, 000 of 6-suppressed availability) is less
than 22 . 375-5 % of to-6-—50-%depending-on-thc sentor-aggregate revolving commitments, and (iv) amended the
definitions of Consolidated EBITDA and fixed charge feverage-coverage ratio and certain component definitions used
therein. We had $ 128, 000, 000 and $ 145, 200, 000 outstanding under the Revolving Facility at March 31, 2024 and
2023, respectively. In addition, $ 6, 370, 000 as-was outstanding for letters of credit at March 31, 2024. At March 31,
2024, after certain contractual adjustments, $ 100, 915, 000 was available under the Revolving Facility applieable
meastrementdate-. The interest rate on our Fermteans-and-Revolving Facility was 8. 8243 % and 8. 13 % yrespectively, at
March 31, 2024 and 2023, aﬂd£—99%—&ﬂd—3—l-3%—1u pectively —&t—Mareh—}l%@Q%— The ( redit qulnv as amendedarﬁeﬂg
other-things-, requires us to maintain € F-Set Atre

fixed Lhdl(l coverage muo if undrawn avallablllty is less than 22 -I-n—add-rt—teﬁ—s % of the aggregate revolvmg

d-nte-a spec1ﬁed minimum undrawn avallablllty

-- the things-period ended March 31 , (i)-medified-2024,

undrawn avallablllty was greater than the 22 5 % threshold therefore, t he l1\ed charge coverage ratio Imanual covenant

g - On March 31, "()"3 we entered
into a note purchase agreement , as amended (lhe Note Purchase Aﬂuemem ) w 11 h Blson Capital Partners VI, L. P. and
Bison Capital Partners VI- A, L. P. (collectively, the “ Purchasers ) and Bison Capital Partners VI, L. P., as the purchaser
representative (the ““ Purchaser Replescmame ’) for the issuance and sale of $ 32, 000, 000 in aggregate pllnClpdl amount of
convertible notes due in 2029 (the “ Convertible Notes ") to-be-, which was used for general corporate purposes. The
Convertible Notes bear interest at a rate of 10. 0 % per annum, compounded annually, and payable (i) in kind or (ii) in cash,
annually in arrears on April 1 of each year, commencing on April 1, 2024. On June ‘§, 2023, we entered into the first amendment




to the Note Purchase Agreement, which among other things, removed a provision that specified the Purchasers would be entitled
to receive a dividend or distribution payable in certain circumstances. This amendment was effective as of March 31, 2023. On
August 1, 2023, we entered into the second amendment to the Note Purchase Agreement, which amended the definition
of “ Permitted Restricted Payments > to permit the prepayment of our Term Loans. The aggregate proceeds from the
offering were approximately $ 31, 280, 000, net of initial purchasers’ fees and other related expenses. The initial conversion rate
is 66. 6667 shares of our common stock per $ 1, 000 principal amount of notes (equivalent to an initial conversion price of
approximately $ 15. 00 per share of common stock). At March 31, 2023-2024 , we had 28, 650-214 , 599-757 shares of our
common stock available to be issued if the Convertible Notes were converted. In connection with the Note Purchase Agreement,
we entered into common stock warrants (the “ Warrants ) with the Purchasers, which mature on March 30, 2029. The Warrants
do not become exercisable unless a Company Redemption (as defined below) occurs and the volume weighted average price of
our common stock for 20 consecutive days prior to the redemption is less than $ 15. 00. The fair value of the Warrants, using
Level 3 inputs and the Monte Carlo simulation model, was zero at March 31, 2024 and 2023. We estimate the fair value of the
Warrants at each balance sheet date. Any subsequent changes from the initial recognition in the fair value of the Warrants will
be recorded in current period earnings in the consolidated statements of operations. The Convertible Notes may be converted,
subject to certain conditions, at a conversion price of approximately $ 15. 00 (the “ Conversion Option ). The Convertible
Notes also include a provision for a return of interest (“ Return of Interest ), which requires the Purchasers to return 15. 0 % of
the interest paid to us in certain circumstances. The Return of Interest provision is accounted for as part of the Conversion
Option and if the Conversion Option is exercised in the future, the Return of Interest provision will remain outstanding until the
Purchaser sells all of the underlying stock received upon conversion. Upon conversion, any value associated with the Return of
Interest provision will be reflected as a derivative asset upon conversion, with changes in fair value being recorded in earnings in
the consolidated statements of operations until settlement in connection with the sale of the underlying stock by the Purchaser.
Unless and until we deliver a redemption notice, the Purchasers of the Convertible Notes may convert their Convertible Notes at
any time at their option. Upon conversion, the Convertible Notes will be settled in shares of our common stock. The conversion
rate and conversion price are subject to customary adjustments upon the occurrence of certain events. The Convertible Notes
have a stated maturity of March 30, 2029, subject to earlier conversion or redemption in accordance with their terms. If there is a
Fundamental Transaction, as defined in the Form of Convertible Promissory Note, we may redeem all or part of the Convertible
Notes. Except in the case of the occurrence of a Fundamental Transaction, we may not redeem the Convertible Notes prior to
March 31, 2026. After March 31, 2026, we may redeem all or part of the Convertible Notes for a cash purchase (the “ Company
Redemption ) price equal to the redemption price plus $ 45, 000, 000, but only if (i) we are listed on a national exchange, (ii)
there is no “ Event of Default ” occurring and continuing and (iii) Adjusted EBITDA for the prior four quarters is greater than $
80, 000, 000. The “ Redemption Price ” shall mean a cash amount equal to the principal amount of the Convertible Notes to be
redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest. However, if the volume weighted average price of our common stock for 20
consecutive days prior to the notice of the Company Redemption is less than $ 15 66, the Purchasers may exermse the
warrants and we W111 pay the Redemptlon Price plus $ 2 eve h M shted-¢ se-priee

p}us—$é— 000 000. The Conversmn Optlon and the Company Redemptlon both met the crlterla for blfurcatlon from the
Convertible Notes as derlvatlves and have using-the v va d
and-an-asse at-Mareh t i beencomblnedwrt-h
the-Cenverston-Optiorras a compound net derivative hablhty (the Compound Net Derlvatlve L1ab111ty ). The Compound Net
Derivative Liability has been recorded within convertible note, related party in the consolidated balance sheet-sheets . The fair
value of the Conversion Option and the Company Redemption option using Level 3 inputs and the Monte Carlo
simulation model was a liability of $ 9, 800, 000 and $ 10, 400, 000, and an asset of $ 2, 390, 000 and $ 1, 970, 000 at March
31,2024 and 2023 , respectively . We estimate the fair value of the Compound Net Derivative Liability at each balance sheet
date. Any subsequent changes from the initial recognition in the fair value of the Compound Net Derivative Liability will be
recorded in current period earnings in the consolidated statements of operations. During the year ended March 31, 2024, we
recorded a gain of $ 1, 020, 000 as the change in fair value of the Compound Net Derivative Liability in the consolidated
statement of operations and consolidated statement of cash flows. The Convertible Notes also contain additional features,
such as, default interest and options related to a Fundamental Transaction, requiring bifurcation which were not separately
accounted for as the value of such features were not material at March 31, 2024 and 2023. Any subsequent changes from the
initial recognition in the fair value of those features will be recorded in current period earnings in the consolidated statements of
operations. The Convertible Notes include customary provisions relating to the occurrence of Events of Default, which include
the following: (i) certain payment defaults on the Convertible Notes ; (ii) certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency and
reorganization involving us or any of our subsidiaries; (iii) the entering of one or more final judgements— judgments or orders
against us or any of our subsidiaries for an aggregate payment exceeding $ 25, 000, 000; (iv) the acceleration of senior debt; (v)
certain failures of us to comply with certain provisions of the Note Purchase Agreement or material breaches of the Note
Purchase Agreement by us or any of our subsidiaries; (vi) any material provision of the Note Purchase Agreement, the
Convertible Notes, the guarantee, the subordination agreement, the warrants or the registration rights agreement, for any reason,
ceases to be valid and binding on us or any subsidiary, or any subsidiary shall so claim in writing to challenge the validity of or
our liability under the Note Purchase Agreement, the Convertible Notes, or the registration rights agreement; or (vii) we fail to
maintain the listing of our capital stock on a national securities exchange. Events of Default will be subject to a 30- day cure
period except for those related to clause (ii) and (iv) of the preceding sentence. If an Event of Default occurs and is continuing,
then, we shall deliver written notice to the Purchasers within 5 business days of first learning of such Event of Default. If an
Event of Default involving bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization events with respect to us (and not solely with respect to our



significant subsidiary) occurs, then the principal amount of, and all accrued and unpaid interest on, all of the Convertible Notes
then outstanding will immediately become due and payable without any further action. Unamortized Bebt-debt issuance costs
of $1, 058,000 and $ 1, 006, 000 are presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amounts of the
Convertible Notes at March 31, 2024 and 2023 , respectively . Debt issuance costs are amortized using the effective interest
method through the maturity of the Convertible Nete-Notes and recorded in interest expense in the consolidated statements of
operations . The effective interest rate was 18. 3 % as of March 31, 2024 . Debt issuance costs of $ 360, 000 allocated to the
Compound Net Derivative Liability were immediately expensed to interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations
for the year ended March 31, 2023. Additionally, pursuant to the Note Purchase Agreement, subject to certain conditions, the
Purchaser Representative shall have the right to nominate one director to serve (the “ Investor Director ) on our Board of
Directors (the “ Board ). If an Investor Director is not currently serving on the Board, and subject to certain other conditions set
forth in the Note Purchase Agreement, the Purchaser Representative shall have the right to designate one person to have
observation rights with respect to all meetings of the Board. In connection with our entry into the Note Purchase Agreement, we
have-appointed Douglas Trussler to serve on our Board. Aeccounts Receivable Discount Programs We use accounts receivable
discount programs swith-offered by certain customers and their respective banks. Under these programs, we have options to sell
those customers’ receivables to those banks at a discount to be agreed upon at the time the receivables are sold. These accounts
receivable discount arrangements-programs allow us to accelerate receipt of payment on customers’ receivables. While these
arrangements have reduced our working capital needs, there can be no assurance that these accounts receivable discount
programs will continue in the future. Interest expense resulting from these accounts receivable discount programs would
increase if interest rates rise, if utilization of these accounts receivable diseounting—--- discount arrangements-programs
expands- expand , if customers extend their payment to us, or if the discount period is extended to reflect more favorable
payment terms to customers. The following is a summary of the accounts receivable discount programs: Fiscal Years Ended
March 31, 2623-2024 Receivables discounted $ 618, 012, 000 $ 548, 376 7-800-$525-441- 000 Weighted average days
Weighted average discount rate 6. 8 % 5. 3 9%49-% Amount of discount as interest expense $ 39, 175, 000 $ 26, 432 -660-$-9;
457, 000 Multi- year Customer Agreements We have or are renegotiating long- term agreements with many of our major
customers. Under these agreements, which in most cases have initial terms of at least four years, we are designated as the
exclusive or primary supplier for specified categories of our products. Because of the very competitive nature of the market and
the limited number of customers for these products, our customers have sought and obtained price concessions, significant
marketing allowances and more favorable delivery and payment terms in consideration for our designation as a customer’ s
exclusive or primary supplier. These incentives differ from contract to contract and can include (i) the issuance of a specified
amount of credits against receivables in accordance with a schedule set forth in the relevant contract, (ii) support for a particular
customer’ s research or marketing efforts provided on a scheduled basis, (iii) discounts granted in connection with each
individual shipment of product, and (iv) other marketing, research, store expansion or product development support. These
contracts typically require that we meet ongoing performance standards. While these longer- term agreements strengthen our
customer relationships, the increased demand for our products often requires that we increase our inventories and personnel.
Customer demands that we purchase their Remanufactured Core inventory also require the use of our working capital. The
marketing and other allowances we typically grant our customers in connection with our new or expanded customer
relationships adversely impact the near- term revenues, profitability and associated cash flows from these arrangements.
However, we believe the investment we make in these new or expanded customer relationships will improve our overall
liquidity and cash flow from operations over time. Share Repurchase Program In August 2018, our board of directors approved
an increase in our share repurchase program from $ 20, 000, 000 to $ 37, 000, 000 of our common stock. During fiscal 2024 and
2023, we did not repurchase any shares of our common stock. During fiscal 2022 and-2624-, we repurchased 106, 486 and-54;
966-shares of our common stock —fespeet-wel-y—for $ 1,914, 000 and-$1139;,-000;respeetively- As of March 31, 2023-2024 , $
18, 745, 000 was utilized and $ 18, 255, 000 remains avarlable to repurchase shares under the authorized share repurchase
program, subject to the limit in our Credit Facility. We retired the 837, 007 shares repurchased under this program through
March 31, 2823-2024 . Our share repurchase program does not obligate us to acquire any specific number of shares and shares
may be repurchased in privately negotiated and / or open market transactions. Capital Expenditures and Commitments Our total
capital expenditures were $ 1 , inelading-755, 000 for fiscal 2024 and $ 4, 792, 000 for fiscal 2023. These capital
expenditures include (i) cash paid for the purchase of plant and equipment plant, (ii) equipment acquired under finance
leases , and (iii) non- cash capital expenditures . Capital expenditures svere-$4;792,-000-for fiscal 2023-2024 and-$-8,150;
GGG—fbr—ﬁseal%GQ-Z—’Pk}e'se-eapﬁa{—expendﬁ&fes—prrmarrly 1nclude the purchase of equrpment for our current operatlons and-the

v v g . We expect to incur
approxrmately $7, OOO OOO of caprtal expendrtures prlmarrly to support our global growth lnltlatlves and current operations
during fiscal 2624-2025 . We have used and expect to continue using our working capital and additional capital lease obligations
to finance these capital expenditures. Contractual Obligations The following summarizes our contractual obligations and other
commitments as of March 31, 2623-2024 and the effect such obligations could have on our cash flows in future periods:
Payments Due by Period Contractual Obligations Total Less than 1 year 1 to 3 years 3 to 5 years More than 5 years Finance
lease obligations (1) $ 5-3 ,608-825, 000 $ 2-1 , 864753 , 000 $ 2-1 , 496-539 , 000 $ 532-533 , 000 $ - 6;800-Operating lease
obligations (2) H3-101 , 6759 , 000 +3-12 , 567-676 , 000 24-23 , 634-568 , 000 2422 , 541+-054 , 000 53-43 , 529-461 . 000
Revolving facility (3) +45-128 , 266;-000 —+45-, 266;:-000- - 128 fFeﬂﬂ—k-)aﬂ—H)—l-# 947—000 4-655:-660-5;391-060-1961+,
000- Convertible notes (54 ) 56, 704, 000-- =56, 704, 000 - Accrued core payment (6-5 )43-10 , 289-650 , 000 3, 486-792 , 000
5,985737, 000 3-1 ,824-121 , 000- Core bank liability ( 76 ) +6;4+48- 14, 130, 000 2, 018, 000 4, 036, 000 4, 036, 000 6-4 ,
058040, 000 Finished goods liabilities (87 )+549 , H6:-000 +404 , 277000 433-145 , 000-- Unrecognized tax benefits ( 9-8
)----- Other long- term obligations (+68-9 ) 63-54 , 976-095 , 000 14, 637701 , 000 22-21 , 226-479 , 000 49-15 , 437089 , 000 #




2 ,976-826 . 000 Total $436-369 , 653-712 , 000 $ 4435, 698-344 , 000 $ 6856 , H3-504 , 000 $ +96-227 , +H-537 , 000 $
+24-50 , 673-327 , 000 (1) Finance lease obligations represent amounts due under finance leases for various types of equipment.
(2) Operating lease obligations represent amounts due for rent under our leases for all our facilities, certain equipment, and our
Company automobile. (3) Obligations under our Revolving Facility mature on May28-December 12 , 2626-2028 . This debt is
classified as a short term liability on our balance sheet as we expect to use our Worklng caprtal to repay the amounts outstandlng
under our revolvrng loan. (4) 55 &8 e-afy y v eres

at—Mafeh—3—l—292—3—whtehﬂﬁas—8—924%r6)-Obhgatrons under our Convertible Notes rnature on March 30 2029 There are no

future payments required under the Convertible Notes prior to their maturity, therefore, the carrying value of the notes plus
interest payable in kind, assuming no early redemption or conversion has occurred, is included in the above table based on their
maturity date of March 30, 2029. (6-5 ) Accrued core payment represents the amounts due for principal of $ 42-10 , 227011 ,
000 and interest payments of $ 639 4;-662-, 000 to be made in connection with the purchases of Remanufactured Cores from our
customers, which are held by these customers and remain on their premises. (76 ) The core bank liability represents the
amounts due for principal of $ 4513 , 268-582 , 000 and interest payments of $ 886-548 , 000 to be made in connection with the
return of Used Cores from our customers. (87 ) Finished goods liabilities represents the amounts due for principal of § +549 ,
690,-000 and no interest payments e£$-26;,-000-to be made in connection with the purchase of finished goods from our
customers. (9-8 ) We are unable to reliably estimate the timing of future payments related to uncertain tax position liabilities at
March 31, 2623-2024 ; therefore, future tax payment accruals related to uncertain tax positions in the amount of $ 1, 964-784 ,
000 have been excluded from the table above. ( +8-9 ) Other long- term obligations represent commitments we have with certain
customers to provide marketing allowances in consideration for multi- year customer agreements to provide products over a
defined period. We are not obligated to provide these marketing allowances should our business relationships end with these
customers. Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market RiskOur primary market risk relates to changes in
interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, and customer credit. We do not enter into derivatives or other financial
instruments for trading or speculative purposes. As our overseas operations expand, our exposure to the risks associated with
foreign currency fluctuations will continue to increase. Interest rate risk We are exposed to changes in interest rates primarily as
a result of our borrowing and receivable discount programs, which have interest costs that vary with interest rate movements.
Our ereditrevolving facility bears interest at variable base rates, plus an applicable margin , which was 8. 43 % and 8. 12 % at
March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively . At March 31, 2023-2024 , borrowings under our revolving facility net-debt
ebligations-totaled § +58-128 , +43-000 , 000. If interest rates were to increase 1 %, our net annual interest expense on our ereeit
revolving facility would have increased by approximately $ 1, 584280 , 000 —Fhe-weighted-average-intereston-ourdebt-was-8-
4—2—%—at—Mafeh—34—2923—eefnp&fed+e—3—l—24%rat—Mafeh—34—292% In addrtron durlng the yefneyears ended March 31, 2024 and
2023, collections under our reeeivab 8;376;-0060- 0,-660 ccounts recelvable e
discount program were ever-a-pett e -
$2-618 ,566-012 , 000 and $ 548, 376, 000, respectlvely The Werghted average drscount rate en—eur—faefered—reeewab}es—was
6.8 % and 5. 3 % during fiscal 2024 and 2023 eompared-with-, respectively. If discount rates were to increase | —9- for
fiseal-2622-, our net annual interest expense on our accounts receivable discount programs would have increased by
approximately $ 6, 180, 000 . Forcign currency risk We are exposed to foreign currency exchange risk inherent in our
anticipated purchases and expenses denominated in currencies other than the U. S. dollar. We transact business in the following
foreign currencies; Mexican pesos, Malaysian ringgit, Singapore dollar, Chinese yuan, and the Canadian dollar. Our primary
currency risks result from fluctuations in the value of the Mexican peso and to a lesser extent the Chinese yuan. To mitigate
these risks, we enter into forward foreign currency exchange contracts to exchange U. S. dollars for these foreign currencies.
The extent to which we use forward foreign currency exchange contracts is periodically reviewed in light of our estimate of
market conditions and the terms and length of anticipated requirements. The use of derivative financial instruments allows us to
reduce our exposure to the risk that the eventual net cash outflow resulting from funding the expenses of the foreign operations
will be materially affected by changes in exchange rates. These contracts generally expire in a year or less. Any changes in the
fair values of our forward foreign currency exchange contracts are reflected in current period earnings. Based upon our forward
foreign currency exchange contracts related to these currencies, an increase of 10 % in exchange rates at March 31, 2623-2024
would have increased our operating expenses by approximately $ 4-5 , 76+146 , 000. During fiscal 2024 and fiscal 2023 and
fiseal 2022~ aloss of $ 1, 373, 000 and a gain of § 2, 776 +066-and-atess-of$3+6-, 000, respectively, was recorded due to the
change in the value of the forward foreign currency exchange contracts subsequent to entering into the contracts. In addition, we
recorded gains $ 5,187, 000 and $ 6, 515 ;-066-ard-$15-989- 000 in connection with the remeasurement of foreign currency-
denominated lease liabilities during fiscal 2024 and fiscal 2023 and-fiseal-2022-, respectively. Credit Risk We regularly review
our accounts receivable and allowance for credit losses by considering factors such as historical experience, credit quality and
age of the accounts receivable, and the current economic conditions that may affect a customer’ s ability to pay such amounts
owed to us. The majority of our sales are to leading automotive aftermarket parts suppliers. We participate in trade accounts
receivable discount programs with our major customers. If the creditworthiness of any of our customers was downgraded, we
could be adversely affected, in that we may be subjected to higher interest rates on the use of these discount programs or we
could be forced to wait longer for payment. Should our customers experience significant cash flow problems, our financial
position and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected, and the maximum amount of loss that would be
incurred would be the outstanding receivable balance, Used Cores expected to be returned by customers, and the value of the
Remanufactured Cores held at customers’ locations. We maintain an allowance for credit losses that, in our opinion, provides
for an adequate reserve to cover losses that may be incurred. Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary DataThe
information required by this item is set forth in the consolidated financial statements, commencing on page F- 1 included herein.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosureltem 9A. Controls and
ProceduresEvaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures Management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer
(“ CEO ”), Chief Financial Officer (“ CFO ) and Chief Accounting Officer (“ CAO ”), has evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended, or the *“ Exchange Act, ”) as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10- K. Our disclosure
controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information we are required to disclose in the reports
we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our CEO, CFO and
CAQO, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures, and is recorded, processed, summarized, and
reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’ s rules and forms. Based on this evaluation, our CEO, CFO and CAO
have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level as of March 31,
2623-2024 . Management’ s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting Management is responsible for
establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f)
under the Exchange Act. Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of our financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting as of March 31, 2622-2024 using the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013). Based on its assessment, our management, including our CEO
and CFO, has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of March 31, 2623-2024 . The
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2623-2024 has been audited by the Company’ s
independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP. Their assessment is included in the accompanying Report
of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Change in Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a- 15 (f)
and 15d- 15 (f) under the Exchange Act) identified in connection with the evaluation of our internal control performed during
the period covered by this report, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control
over financial reporting. Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls Management recognizes that a control system, no
matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control
system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits
of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of
controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud or error, if any, have been detected. These
inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur
because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by
collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls also is based
in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will
succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent
limitations in a cost- effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Item 9B. Other
InfermationttemrInformationTrading Arrangements During the quarter ended March 31, 2024, no director or officer of
the Company adopted or terminated a “ Rule 10b5- 1 trading arrangement > or *“ non- Rule 10b5- 1 trading
arrangement > as each such term is defined in Item 408 of Regulation S- K. Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign
Jurisdictions that Prevent InspectionsPART Illltem 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate GovernanceThe
information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Definitive Proxy Statement in connection with our next
Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the *“ Proxy Statement ). Item 11. Executive CompensationThe information required by this
item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement. Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management and Related Stockholder Mattersltem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director
Independenceltem 14. Principal Accountant Fees and ServicesPART FterrIVItem1S +5-. Exhibits, Financial Statement
Sehedutesa—- Schedulea . Documents filed as part of this report: (1) Index to Consolidated Financial Statements: Reports of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID No. 42) Consolidated Balance SheetsF- 1Consolidated Statements
of OperationsF- 2Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive (Loss) IncomeF- 3Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’
EquityF- 4Consolidated Statements of Cash FlowsF- 5Notes to Consolidated Financial StatementsF- 6 (2) Sehedwles— Schedule
. Schedule I — Valuation and Qualifying AccountsS- 1 (3) Exhibits: Number Description of Exhibit Method of Filing 3. 1
Certificate of Incorporation of the Company Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 to the Company’ s Registration Statement
on Form SB- 2 declared effective on March 22, 1994 (the *“ 1994 Registration Statement ). 3. 2 Amendment to Certificate of
Incorporation of the Company Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 2 to the Company’ s Registration Statement on Form S- 1
(No. 33-97498) declared effective on November 14, 1995 (the “ 1995 Registration Statement ). 3. 3 Amendment to Certificate
of Incorporation of the Company Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 3 to the Company’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K for
the fiscal year ended March 31, 1997. 3. 4 Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation of the Company Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3. 4 to the Company’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 1998 (the “ 1998
Form 10- K ). 3. 5 Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation of the Company Incorporated by reference to Exhibit C to the
Company’ s proxy statement on Schedule 14A filed with the SEC on November 25, 2003. 3. 6 Amended and Restated By- Laws
of the Company Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 to Current Report on Form 8- K filed on August 24, 2010. 3. 7
Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation of the Company Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 to
Current Report on Form 8- K filed on April 17, 2014. 3. 8 Amendment to the Amended and Restated By- Laws of the Company
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 to Current Report on Form 8- K filed on June 14, 2016. Number Description of Exhibit



Method of Filing 3. 9 Amendment to the Amended and Restated By- Laws of the Company Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
3. 1 to Current Report on Form 8- K filed on February 22, 2017. 3. 10 Third Amendment to the Amended and Restated By-
Laws of the Company Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 to Current Report on Form 8- K filed on February 1, 2022. 4. 1
Description of the Registrant’ s Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 1 to Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q filed on August 9, 2022. 4. 2 2004 Non- Employee
Director Stock Option Plan Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A for the 2004
Annual Shareholders Meeting. 4. 3 2010 Incentive Award Plan Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Proxy Statement
on Schedule 14A filed on December 15, 2010. 4. 4 Amended and Restated 2010 Incentive Award Plan Incorporated by
reference to Appendix A to the Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on March 5, 2013. 4. 5 Second Amended and Restated
2010 Incentive Award Plan Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on March 3,
2014. 4. 6 2014 Non- Employee Director Incentive Award Plan Incorporated by reference to Appendix B to the Proxy Statement
on Schedule 14A filed on March 3, 2014. 4. 7 Third Amended and Restated 2010 Incentive Award Plan Incorporated by
reference to Appendix A to the Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on November 20, 2017. 4. 8 Fourth Amended and
Restated 2010 Incentive Award Plan Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed on
July 24, 2020. 4. 9 2022 Incentive Award Plan Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Proxy Statement on Schedule
14A filed on July 29, 2022. 4. 10 Form of Convertible Promissory Note Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 1 to the Current
Report on Form 8- K filed on March 31, 2023. 4. 11 Form of Common Stock Warrant Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 2
to the Current Report on Form 8- K filed on March 31, 2023. 4. 12 First Amended and Restated Convertible Promissory nete
Note Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 12 to the Annual Report on Form 10- K Fed-filed herewith-on June 14,
2023 . 4. 13 First Amended and Restated Common Stock Warrant Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 13 to the Annual
Report on Form 10- K Fied-filed herewith-on June 14, 2023 . Number Description of Exhibit Method of Filing 10. | Form
of Indemnification Agreement for officers and directors Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 25 to the 1997 Registration
Statement. 10. 2 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of December 31, 2008, by and between the Company
and Selwyn Joffe Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to Current Report on Form 8- K filed January 7, 2009. Number
Deseriptionof ExhibitMethod-of Filing-10. 3 Employment Agreement, dated as of May 18, 2012, between Motorcar Parts of
America, Inc., and Selwyn Joffe Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to Current Report on Form 8- K filed on May 24,
2012. 10. 4 Form of Stock Option Notice for use in connection with stock options granted to Selwyn Joffe pursuant to the
Motorcar Parts of America, Inc. 2010 Incentive Award Plan Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to Current Report on
Form 8- K filed on August 12, 2013. 10. 5 Form of Stock Option Agreement for use in connection with stock options granted to
Selwyn Joffe pursuant to the Motorcar Parts of America, Inc. 2010 Incentive Award Plan Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10. 2 to Current Report on Form 8- K filed on August 12, 2013. 10. 6 * Revolving Credit, Term Loan and Security Agreement,
dated as of June 3, 2015, among Motorcar Parts of America, Inc., each lender from time to time party thereto, and PNC Bank,
National Association, as administrative agent Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Current Report on Form 8- K
filed on June 8, 2015. 10. 7 First Amendment to Revolving Credit, Term Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of November
5,2015, among Motorcar Parts of America, Inc., each lender from time to time party thereto, and PNC Bank, National
Association, as administrative agent Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q filed on
November 9, 2015. 10. 8 Consent and Second Amendment to Revolving Credit, Term Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of
May 19, 2016, among Motorcar Parts of America, Inc., each lender from time to time party thereto, and PNC Bank, National
Association, as administrative agent Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q filed on
August 9, 2016. 10. 9 Third Amendment to Revolving Credit, Term Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of March 24, 2017,
among Motorcar Parts of America, Inc., each lender from time to time party thereto, and PNC Bank, National Association, as
administrative agent Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 38 to Annual Report on Form 10- K filed on June 14, 2017.
Number Description of Exhibit Method of Filing 10. 10 Fourth Amendment to Revolving Credit, Term Loan and Security
Agreement, dated as of April 24, 2017, among Motorcar Parts of America, Inc., each lender from time to time party thereto and
PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to Current Report on Form
8- K filed on April 27, 2017. NamberDesetiptionof ExhibitMethod-of Filing-10. 11 Fifth Amendment to Revolving Credit,
Term Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of July 18, 2017, among Motorcar Parts of America, Inc., each lender from time to
time party thereto and PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to
Current Report on Form 8- K filed on July 24, 2017. 10. 12 * Amended and Restated Credit Facility, dated as of June 5, 2018,
among Motorcar Parts of America, Inc., each lender from time to time party thereto and PNC Bank, National Association, as
administrative agent Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q filed on August 9, 2018.
10. 13 First Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan Agreement, dated as of November 14, 2018, among Motorcar Parts of
America, Inc., D & V Electronics Ltd., each lender from time to time party thereto, and PNC Bank, National Association, as
administrative agent Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Current Report on Form 8- K filed on November 20, 2018.
10. 14 Amendment No. 2 to Employment Agreement, dated as of February 5, 2019, between Motorcar Parts of America, Inc.,
and Selwyn Joffe Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 3 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q filed on February 11, 2019.
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Motorcar Parts of America, Inc., and Selwyn Joffe Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 24 to the Annual Report on Form
10- K filed on June 15, 2020. 10. 17 Amendment No. 4 to Employment Agreement, dated as of May 21, 2020, between
Motorcar Parts of America, Inc., and Selwyn Joffe Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10. 1 to the Quarterly Report filed on



August 10, 2020. Number Description of Exhibit Method of Filing 10. 18 Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan
Agreement, dated as of May 28, 2021, among Motorcar Parts of America, Inc., D & V Electronics Ltd., Dixie Electric Ltd.,
Dixie Electric Inc., each lender from time to time party thereto, and PNC Bank National Association, as administrative agent
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ExchibitMethod-of Filing-10. 19 Amendment No. 5 to Employment Agreement, dated as of June 18, 2021, between Motorcar
Parts of America, Inc., and Selwyn Joffe Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q filed on
August 9, 2021. 10. 20 Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan Agreement, dated as of November 3, 2022, among
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Amendment to Amended and Restated Loan Agreement, dated as of August 3, 2023, among Motorcar Parts of America,
Inc., D & V Electronics Ltd., Dixie Electric Ltd., and Dixie Electric Inc., each lender from time to time party thereto,
and PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Quarterly
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by reference to Exhibit 10. 2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q filed on August 9, 2023. 10. 29 Eighth Amendment
to Amended and Restated Loan Agreement, dated as of December 12, 2023, among Motorcar Parts of America, Inc., D
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Consolidated Balance SheetsF- 1Consolidated Statements of OperationsF- 2Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive (Loss)
IneemeF—- Income F - 3Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ EquityF- 4Consolidated Statements of Cash FlowsF- 5Notes
to Consolidated Financial StatementsF- 6Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying AccountsS- IREPORT OF INDEPENDENT
REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING HRMFo—- FIRM To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Motorcar Parts
of America, Inc. Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial RepertingWe--- Reporting We have audited Motorcar Parts of
America, Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2623-2024 , based on criteria established
in Internal Control- Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, Motorcar Parts of America, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company)
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2023-2024 , based on the
COSO criteria. We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of March 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-2622-, the
related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive (loss) income, shareholders =' equity and cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended March 31, 2623-2024 , and the related notes and financial statement schedule listed in the
Index at Item 15 and our report dated June 43-11 , 2623-2024 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. Basis for Opintenthe--
-- Opinion The Company’ s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’ s
Report on Internal Control ©ver-over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’ s
internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U. S. federal securities laws and the applicable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audit in accordance with
the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion. Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial RepettitgA— Reporting A company’ s internal control
over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company’ s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2)
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’ s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not
prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate. / s / Ernst & Young LLP Los Angeles, California June +3-11 , 2623-2024 REPORT OF
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRMTo the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Motorcar
Parts of America, Inc. Opinion on the Financial StatementsWe—- Statements We have audited the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets of Motorcar Parts of America, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of March 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-,
the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive (loss) income, shareholders ' equity and cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2023-2024 , and the related notes and financial statement schedule listed in the
Index at Item 15 (collectively referred to as the ““ consolidated financial statements ™). In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at March 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-,
and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2623-2024 , in
conformity with U. S. generally accepted accounting principles. We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’ s internal control over financial
reporting as of March 31, 2623-2024 , based on criteria established in Internal Control- Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework), and our report dated June +3-11 ,
2623-2024 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. Basis for OpintenThese-Opinion These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company ' s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’ s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent
with respect to the Company in accordance with the U. S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the
PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion. Critical Audit MattersThe-—--- Matter The critical audit matters— matter communicated below
are-is a matters— matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that #ere-was communicated or



required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate-relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the
financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of this
critical audit matters— matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole,
and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters— matter below, providing a separate epintens— opinion on the
crmcal audit ﬂ&&tte1=s—~ matter or on the accounts or dlqcloeureq to Wthh t-hey—lt fe}afe-relates —Geﬁffaefuﬂ-l—&gfeeﬂ&eﬁfs—w%ﬂ&

the MatteIAS more fully de%crlbed in Note 2 and Note 14 to the Congohdated ﬁnanc1al %tatementq revenue is recognlzed net of
applicable marketing allowances. These marketing allowances vary by contract and can include (i) the issuance of a-specified
ameuntofcredits against receivables, (ii) support for research or marketing efforts, (iii) discounts granted in connection with
each individual shipments-- shipment of product, and (iv) other marketing, research, store expansion or product development
support. At March 31, 2023-2024 , marketing allowances recorded on the Company’ s consolidated balance sheet was $ 19, 997
789 , 000, which is presented within contract liabilities. Auditing the completeness of marketing allowances was complex
because marketing allowances vary by contract and eexdd-can be impacted by unrecorded marketing allowances provided to
customers. How We Addressed the Matter in Our AuditWe obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the
operating effectiveness of controls over the marketing allowances processes. For example, we tested controls over management’
s review of contracts with customers containing marketing allowances, management’ s review of the completeness and accuracy
of data used in the marketing accrual analysis at period end and management’ s review of credits issued to customers subsequent
to the balance sheet date. Our audit procedures to test marketing allowances included, among others, reviewing significant
contracts with customers, obtaining confirmations of contractual terms and conditions from a sample of the Company’ s
customers, and testing credits issued or payments made to customers throughett-during the year and subsequent to year- end.
We tested the completeness and accuracy of data used in the calculation of the marketing allowance by agreeing contractual
terms to the underlying agreements. In addition, we evaluated the relationship between revenue and marketing allowances and
assessed subsequent events to determine whether there was any new information that would require adjustments to the amounts
recorded. / s / Ernst & Young LLP We have served as the Company’ s auditor since 2007. Los Angeles, California June +3-11 ,
2023-2024 MOTORCAR PARTS OF AMERICA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES Consolidated Balance Sheets March 31, 2023
2024 March 31, 20222023 ASSETS Current assets: Cash and cash equivalents $ 13,974, 000 $ 1 1, 596 -600-$23-0+6-, 000
Short- term investments 1, 837, 000 2, 011 -800-2;262-, 000 Accounts receivable — net 96,296, 000 119, 868 -000-85;-075-,
000 Inventory — net 377, 040, 000 339, 675 7-800-370,-503- 000 Inventory unreturned 20, 288, 000 16, 579 6604560+, 000
Contract assets 27, 139, 000 25, 443 -86027-560-, 000 Income tax receivable 5, 683, 000 2, 156 7860364, 000 Prepaid
expenses and other current assets 18,202, 000 20, 150 786043387, 000 Total current assets 560, 459, 000 537, 478 -606-536;
985-, 000 Plant and equipment — net 38, 338, 000 46, 052 ;-666-5+-662-, 000 Operating lease assets 83, 973, 000 87, 619 666
84997, 000 Deferred income taxes 2, 976, 000 32, 625 7860-26:-982- 000 Long- term contract assets 320, 282, 000 318, 381 5
000-310,255- 000 Goodwill 3, 205, 000 3, 205, 000 Intangible assets — net 1, 069, 000 2, 143 7-800-3;799-, 000 Other assets 1,
700, 000 1, 062 78803413 000 TOTAL ASSETS $ 1, 012, 002, 000 $ 1, 028, 565 -906-$3-645,-698- 000 LIABILITIES
AND SHAREHOLDERS” EQUITY Current liabilities: Accounts payable $ 154,977, 000 $ 119, 437 -660-$147469-, 000
Accrued liabilities 30, 205, 000 22, 329 -88620,966-, 000 Customer finished goods returns accrual 38, 312, 000 37, 984 666
38;-686-, 000 Contract liabilities 37, 591, 000 40, 340 -660-42,496-, 000 Revolving loan 128, 000, 000 145, 200 --066-1+55;:-066
, 000 Other current liabilities 7, 021, 000 4, 871 78663+5-930-, 000 Operating lease liabilities 8, 319, 000 8, 767 -060-6,788-,
000 Current portion of term loan = 3, 664 +8803:-670-, 000 Total current liabilities 404, 425, 000 382, 592 -660-426,405-, 000
Term loan, less current portion = 9, 279 786043624~ 000 Convertible notes, related party 30, 776, 000 30, 994, 000 —Contract
liabilities, less current portion 212, 068, 000 193, 606 78683472764~ 000 Deferred income taxes 511, 000 718 606426~ 000
Operating lease liabilities, less current portion 72, 240, 000 79, 318 -8008-86,-803-, 000 Other liabilities 6, 872, 000 11, 583 ;066
F343- 000 Total liabilities 726, 892, 000 708, 090 ;-080-780,435-, 000 Commitments and contingencies Sharcholders’ equity:
Preferred stock; par value $ 0. 01 per share, 5, 000, 000 shares authorized; none issued-- Series A junior participating preferred
stock; par value $ 0. 01 per share, 20, 000 shares authorized; none issued-- Common stock; par value $ 0. 01 per share, 50, 000,
000 shares authorized; 19, 662, 380 and 19, 494, 615 and+9+64;7F5+-shares issued and outstanding at March 31, 2024 and
2023 and2022-, respectively 197, 000 195 66649+, 000 Additional paid- in capital 236, 255, 000 231, 836 —999—2—2—7—1—84—
000 Retained earnings 39, 503, 000 88, 747 600-92:-954- 000 Accumulated other comprehensive income ( loss ) 9, 155, 000
(303 7806)5-066-, 000) Total shareholders” equity 285, 110, 000 320, 475 ;-660-3+5:263-, 000 TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
SHAREHOLDERS” EQUITY $ 1, 012, 002, 000 $ 1, 028, 565 -000-$+-0645;-698-, 000 The accompanying notes to



consolidated financial statements are an integral part hereof. F- IMOTORCAR PARTS OF AMERICA, INC. AND
SUBSIDIARIES Consolidated Statements of Operations Years Ended March 31, Net sales $ 717, 684, 000 $ 683, 074, 000 $
650, 308 7880-$540,782-, 000 Cost of goods sold 585, 133, 000 569, 112, 000 532, 443 -686-434+321 000 Gross profit 132,
551,000 113,962, 000 117, 865 7800469461, 000 Operating expenses: General and administrative §7, 769, 000 54, 756, 000
57,499, 000 53;-847-0860-Sales and marketing 22, 481, 000 21, 729, 000 22, 833, 000 4+8;-824;-806-Rescarch and development
9,995,000 10, 322, 000 10, 502 7800-8;563-, 000 Foreign exchange impact of lease liabilities and forward contracts ( 3, 814,
000) (9,291, 000) (1, 673 78069-FF666-, 000) Total operating expenses 86, 431, 000 77, 516, 000 89, 161 ;-680-62,-828-, 000
Operating income 46, 120, 000 36, 446, 000 28, 704, 000 Other expenses: 46;-633;-060-Interest expense, net 60, 040, 000 39,
555,000 15, 555, 000 Change in fair value of compound net derivative liability (1, 020, 000)-- Loss on extinguishment of
debt 168, 000-- Total other expenses 59, 188, 000 39, 555, 000 15, 7#6-555 , 000 (Loss) income before income tax expense (
13, 068, 000) ( 3, 109, 000) 13, 149 +660-36;-863-, 000 Income tax expense 36, 176, 000 1, 098, 000 5, 788, 000 95-387#-066-Net
(loss) income $ (49,244, 000) $ (4, 207, 000) $ 7, 361 7808-$24476-, 000 Basic net (loss) income per share $ (2.51) $ (0.
22) $ 0. 38 $+-13-Diluted net (loss) income per share $ (2.51) $ (0. 22) $ 0. 38 $++-Weighted average number of shares
outstanding: Basic 19, 601, 204 19, 340, 246 19, 119, 727 49;-623;445-Diluted 19, 601, 204 19, 340, 246 19, 559, 646 +9:-38%
555-The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part hereof. F- 2MOTORCAR PARTS OF
AMERICA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive (Loss) Income Years Ended March 31,
Net (loss) income $ ( 49, 244, 000) $ (4, 207, 000) $ 7, 361 7888-$21,476-, 000 Other comprehensive income Hessy, net of
tax: Foreign currency translation income ess)-9, 458, 000 4, 763, 000 2, 630, 000 328;:066)-Total other comprehensive
income , net of tax 9, 458, 000 4, 763, 000 2, 630, 000 Comprehensive (loss) —net—e-ﬁta*4—763—(—)(—)9—2—6%9—999—(—3%8—999}
Gempfeheﬁswe-lncome $ (39, 786, 000) $ 556, 000 $ 9, 991 7880-$24+48- 000 The accompanying notes to consolidated
financial statements are an integral part hereof. F- 3MOTORCAR PARTS OF AMERICA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity Common Stock Shares Amount Additional Paid- in Capital Common Stock
Retained Earnings Accumulated Other Comprehensive ( Loss €) Income J-Total Balance at March 31, 2626-2021 48-19 , 965
045 ,386-386 5 190, 000 $ 248223 , 5834058 , 000 $ 64-85 , HF593 , 000 § (7,368-696 , 000) $ 275-301 , 526-145 , 000
Compen%atlon recognized under employee stock plan@—— 5—7 2-47—287 000-- 57 , 247287 , 000 Exercise of stock options $8;

e P estn Us-, net of shares Wlthheld for employee taxes 72-and
net share settlement of exercise prlce 33 -1—1-8—996 499 000-- 499 000 Issuance of common stock upon vesting of RSUs,
net of shares withheld for employee taxes 131, 855 2, 000 ( 1, 747 66635+, 000)-- ( 356-1, 745 , 000) Repurchase and
cancellation of treasury stock, including fees (54-106 , 966-486 ) (1, 000) (1,438-913 , 000)-- (1,439-914 , 000) Foreign
currency translation---- 2 328-, 630 8663-328-, 000 32, 630, 000 Net income--- 247 , 476-361 , 000- 247 , 476-361 , 000
Balance at March 31, 2024-2022 19, 845-104 , 386-751 $ 496-191 , 000 $ 223-227 , 658-184 , 000 $ 8592 , 593-954 , 000 $ (+5
,696-066 ., 000) $ 364315 , 445-263 , 000 Compensation recognized under employee stock plans-- +4 , 287685 , 000-- +4 ,
287685 , 000 Exercise of stock options, net of shares withheld for employee taxes and net share settlement of exercise price 33
236 , 199 2 996-499-, 000 938, 000 -- 499-940 , 000 Issuance of common stock upon vesting of RSUs, net of shares withheld
for employee taxes 434153 , 55-665 2, 000 (+971 , 747%-000)-- ( 969 745060 Repurchase-and-eancelattonoftreasury
stoelsineludingfees{(106;,486)-(1-000)(1-H3;-000)—19+4-, 000) Foreign currency translation---- 24 , 636-763 , 000 24 ,
6306-763 . 000 Net ineome-loss --- (4 , 361207 , 000 ) - +(4 , 36+207 , 000 ) Balance at March 31, 26222023 19, +64-494 ,
751615 $ 494195, 000 $ 227231 , +84-836 , 000 $ 92-88 , 954-747 , 000 $ (5303 , 866;-000) $ 3—15—320 263-475 , 000
Compensation recognized under employee stock plans-- 4, 685-700 , 000-- 4, 685-700 ., 000 Exereise-Issuance of common stock
eptions-upon vesting of RSUs net of qhale% Wlthheld for employee taxes 167 aﬁd—ﬂet—shafe-seﬁ-}emeﬁt—e-ﬁe*efets&pﬂee%é-
499-765 2, 0009 s;-net-of shares-withhe employee-taxes
153;-665-2,-666-( 9—7—1—281 OOO)—— (969—279 000) Forelgn currency translatlon———— 4—9 -7’-63—458 000 49, -7’-63—458 000 Net
loss--- (449 , 207244 , 000)- (449 , 207244 , 000) Balance at March 31, 2023-2024 19, 494-662 , 615-380 $ 195-197 , 000 $
234236 ., 836255, 000 $ 8839 , 747503 , 000 $ 9 {363, 155 666)-$-320-, 475-000 $ 285, 110 , 000 The accompanying notes to
consolidated financial statements are an integral part hereof. F- 4AMOTORCAR PARTS OF AMERICA, INC. AND
SUBSIDIARIES Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Years Ended March 31, Cash flows from operating activities: Net
(loss) income $ (49,244, 000) $ (4, 207, 000) $ 7, 361 7800-$24476-, 000 Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net
cash fusedHm-provided by (used in) operating activities: Depreciation and amortization 10, 544, 000 10, 984, 000 11, 338 ;666
9:-573-, 000 Amortization of intangible assets 1, 075, 000 1, 460, 000 1, 548, 000 455H5-6080-Amortization and-write—off-of
debt issuance costs 2, 165, 000 663, 000 623 —999—859— 000 Amortlzatlon of interest on contract liabilities, net 933, 000 940,
000 879 +-666-924-, 000 Accrued interest on convertible notes, related party 3, 200, 000 9 , 000- Loss on extinguishment of
debt 168 , 000-- Amortization of core premiums paid to customers 10, 181,000 11, 113, 000 11, 242 ;-866-6;596-, 000
Amortization of finished goods premiums paid to customers 782, 000 678, 000 718 ;688464 000 Non- cash lease expense 10,
255, 000 8, 348, 000 7, 447 7860-4362-, 000 Foreign exchange impact of lease liabilities and forward contracts ( 3, 814, 000) (
9,291, 000) (1, 673 6603-FF666-, 000) Foreign currency remeasurement 65, 000 fess<{gaim-1, 408, 000 48, 000 Change in
fair value of compound net derivative liability (1, 566-020 , 000) -- Loss due to the change in the fair value of the contingent
consideration- - 67, 000 230;-606-Fess-( gain-Gain ) loss on short- term investments (347, 000) 181, 000 (163 578069524+, 000)
Net provision for inventory reserves 16, 233, 000 18, 851, 000 13, 504 -60642,863-, 000 Net provision for customer payment
discrepancies 1, 452,000 2, 112, 000 2, 142, 000 €94;-606-Net (recovery of) provision for doubtful accounts (133, 000) 108,
000 95, 000 H50866)-Deferred income taxes 29, 564, 000 (5, 207, 000) (7, 442 76069433~ 000) Share- based compensation
expense 4, 700, 000 4, 685, 000 7, 287 +-006-5:-247, 000 Loss on disposal of plant and equipment 9, 000 17, 000 36 ;-666-29-,
000 Change in operating assets and liabilities ;net-efeffeets-ofaequisittons— Accounts receivable 22, 687, 000 (37, 176, 000)
(24, 145, 000) 28;364;-0606-Inventory (53, 585, 000) 10, 423, 000 (95, 529 76003F35564-, 000) Inventory unreturned ( 3, 666,




000) (1,531, 000) (437 70605544~ 000) Income tax receivable ( 3,501, 000) (2, 030, 000) 111 5660-3-266-, 000 Prepaid
expenses and other current assets 3, 100, 000 (2, 906, 000) (682 86032F63-, 000) Other assets (601, 000) 435, 000 122 ;666
523-, 000 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 47, 264, 000 (23, 757, 000) 17, 453 70686-55;958-, 000 Customer finished
goods returns accrual 222, 000 (201, 000) 6, 533 57080-6;1438-, 000 Contract assets, net ( 14, 221, 000) ( 17, 560, 000) (52, 474 5
0067-(43-8H-, 000) Contract liabilities, net 14, 664, 000 17, 719, 000 48, 056 70064538, 000 Operating lease liabilities ( 8,
702, 000) (7, 141, 000) (5, 442 -060)6;376-, 000) Other liabilities ( 1,257, 000) ( 881, 000) 6, 515 780645738~ 000 Net cash
fuased-m-provided by (used in) operating activities 39, 172, 000 (21, 754, 000) (44, 862, 000) 56;-889:-060-Cash flows from
investing activities: Purchase of plant and equipment ( 1, 000, 000) (4, 201, 000) (7, 550, 000) (43;-942;-606)Preceeds—from

sale-of plant-and-equipment—=-;-600-Redemptions of (payments for) short term investments 521, 000 10, 000 (388 -6603-286-,
000) Net cash used in investing activities ( 479, 000) (4, 191, 000) (7, 938 -660)-(14;2+4-, 000) Cash flows from financing

activities: Borrowings under revolving loan 82, 005, 000 65, 000, 000 107 5666;-666-27, 000, 000 Repayments under revolving
loan (199, 205, 000) ( 74, 800, 000) (36 68656860995~ 000, 000) Repayments of term loan (3-13 , #56-125 . 000) (3, 750, 000)
(3, 750, 000) Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes, related party - 32, 000, 000 — Payments for debt issuance costs ( 3,
973,000) (1, 716, 000) (1, 159, 000) =—Payments on finance lease obligations ( 1, 862, 000) (2, 397, 000) (2, 716 ;-6002442;
000 Payment-of-eontingent-eonsideratton—;5-605-, 000) Exercise of stock options - 940, 000 499 +-666-H9-, 000 Cash used to
net share settle equity awards ( 279, 000) ( 969, 000) (1, 745 ;78889356-, 000) Repurchase of common stock, including fees- -

(1, 914 76003139, 000) Net cash (used in) provided by fused4m)-financing activities (36, 439, 000) 14, 308, 000 60, 215,
000 F6;-567-000)-Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 124, 000 217, 000 78, 000 599;-680-Net
increase (decrease) erease-in cash and cash equivalents 2,378, 000 (11, 420, 000) 7, 493, 000 34;-693;-600)-Cash and cash
equivalents — Beginning of year 11, 5§96, 000 23, 016, 000 15, 523 5768049616~ 000 Cash and cash equivalents — End of
year $ 13,974,000 $ 11, 596, 000 $ 23, 016 -060-515-523-, 000 Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information: Cash paid
for interest, net $ 53,797,000 $ 37, 772, 000 $ 13, 994 +600-$34-066-, 000 Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds 9, 558,
000 14, 198, 000 6, 746 7606-3;-627, 000 Cash paid for operating leases 13, 358, 000 12, 055, 000 10, 406 7-666-1+6;-878-, 000
Cash paid for finance leases 2, 081, 000 2, 659, 000 3, 061 786662824, 000 Plant and equipment acquired under finance lease
745, 000 1, 246, 000 836 70604102, 000 Assets acquired under operating leases 1, 603, 000 7, 832, 000 16, 187 -0660-1+6;484
, 000 Non- cash capital expenditures 16, 000 6, 000 661 7-666-857-, 000 Debt issuance costs included in accounts payable and
accrued liabilities - 476, 000 — The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part hereof. F-
SMOTORCAR PARTS OF AMERICA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements1. Company
Background and OrganizationMotorcar Parts of America, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “ Company ”, or “ MPA ) is a leading
supplier of automotive aftermarket non- discretionary replacement parts, and test solutions and diagnostic equipment. These
replacement parts are primarily sold to automotive retail chain stores and warehouse distributors throughout North America and
to major automobile manufacturers for both their aftermarket programs and warranty replacement programs (“ OES ). The
Company’ s test solutions and diagnostic equipment primarily serves the global automotive component and powertrain testing
market. The Company’ s products include (i) light duty and heavy duty rotating electrical products such as alternators and
starters, (ii) wheel hub assemblies and bearings, (iii) brake- related products, which include brake calipers, brake boosters, brake
rotors, brake pads, brake shoes, and brake master cylinders, and (iv) other products, which include (a) turbochargers and (b) test
solutions and diagnostic equipment including: (i) applications for combustion engine vehicles, including bench - top testers for
alternators and starters, (i) test-solations-and-diagrostte-cquipment for the pre- and post- production of electric vehicles, and
(iii) software emulation of power systems— system applications for the electrification of all forms of transportation (including
automobiles, trusts-and-trucks, the emerging electrification of systems within the aerospace industry, and steh-as-clectric
vehicle charging stations). The Company primarily ships its products from its facilities, including the Company’ s 410, 000
square foot distribution center in Tijuana, Mexico, and various third- party warehouse distribution centers in North America. 2.
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements Supplier Finance Programs
In September 2022, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “ FASB ”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“
ASU ”) 2022- 04, Liabilities — Supplier Finance Programs (Subtopic 405- 50) Disclosure of Supplier Finance Program
Obligations. This standard requires qualitative and quantitative disclosures to enable users of the financial statements to
understand the nature, activity during the period, changes from period to period and potential magnitude of supplier
finance programs. The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022. During the year ended
March 31, 2024, the Company launched a supplier finance program as part of its ongoing efforts to improve cash flow
and liquidity. This program allows certain of the Company’ s suppliers to sell their receivables due from the Company to
a participating financial institution at the sole discretion of both the supplier and the financial institution. The program
is administered by a third party. The Company has no economic interest in the sale of these receivables and no direct
relationship with the financial institution. Payments to the third- party administrator are based on services rendered and
are not related to the volume or number of financing agreements between suppliers, financial institution, and the third-
party administrator. The Company is not a party to agreements negotiated between participating suppliers and the
financial institution. The Company’ s obligations to its suppliers, including amounts due and payment terms, are not
affected by a supplier’ s decision to participate in this program. The Company does not provide guarantees and there are
no assets pledged to the financial institution or the third- party administrator for the committed payment in connection
with this program. As of March 31, 2024, the Company had $ 1, 695, 000 of outstanding supplier obligations confirmed
under this program, included in accounts payable in the consolidated balance sheet. Accounting Pronouncements Not
Yet Adopted Disclosure Improvements In October 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023- 06, Disclosure Improvements:
Codification Amendments in Response to the SEC’ s Disclosure Update and Simplification Initiative. This standard was
issued in response to the SEC’ s disclosure update and simplification initiative, which affects a variety of topics within the



Accounting Standards Codification. The amendments apply to all reporting entities within the scope of the affected
topics unless otherwise indicated. The effective date for each amendment will be the date on which the SEC’ s removal of
that related disclosure from Regulation S- X or Regulation S- K becomes effective, with early adoption prohibited. The
Company is currently evaluating the impact this guidance will have on its financial statement disclosures. F-
6Reportable Segment Disclosures In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023- 07, Improvements to Reportable
Segment Disclosures (Topic 280). This standard requires the Company to disclose significant segment expenses that are
regularly provided to the CODM and are included within each reported measure of segment operating results. The
standard also requires the Company to disclose the total amount of any other items included in segment operating
results, which were not deemed to be significant expenses for separate disclosure, along with a qualitative description of
the composition of these other items. In addition, the standard also requires disclosure of the CODM’ s title and position,
as well as detail on how the CODM uses the reported measure of segment operating results to evaluate segment
performance and allocate resources. The standard also aligns interim segment reporting disclosure requirements with
annual segment reporting disclosure requirements. This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December
15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. The
Company is currently evaluating the impact this guidance will have on its financial statement disclosures. Improvements
to Income Tax Disclosures In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023- 09, Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures
(Topic 740). This standard requires the Company to provide further disaggregated income tax disclosures for specific
categories on the effective tax rate reconciliation, as well as additional information about federal, state / local and foreign
income taxes. The standard also requires the Company to annually disclose its income taxes paid (net of refunds
received), disaggregated by jurisdiction. This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024,
with early adoption permitted. The standard is to be applied prospective basis, although optional retrospective
application is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact this guidance will have on its financial
statement disclosures. Principles of ConsolidationThe accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of
Motorcar Parts of America, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant inter- company accounts and transactions
have been eliminated. Segment Reporting The Company’ s three operating segments are as follows: ¢ Hard Parts, nekading
which includes (i) light duty rotating electric products such as alternators and starters, (ii) wheel hub products, (iii) brake-
related products, including brake calipers, brake boosters, brake rotors, brake pads and brake master cylinders, and (iv)
turbochargers, « Test Solutions and Diagnostic Equipment, nelading-which includes (i) applications for combustion engine
vehicles, including bench - top testers for alternators and starters, (i1) test-solutions-and-dtagnostie-cquipment for the pre- and
post- production of electric vehicles, and (iii) software emulation of power systems-- system applications for the electrification
of all forms of transportation (including automobiles, trucks and-, the emerging electrification of systems within the aerospace
industry, and saehas-clectric vehicle charging stations), and « Heavy Duty, inelading-which includes non- discretionary
automotive aftermarket replacement hard parts for heavy duty truck, industrial, marme and dgllcultur’ll dpphCthlOl]S —Priorto

criteria of a reportable segment The Test Solutloni and Dlagnostlc Eqmpment and Heavy Duty segments are not matenal are
not required to be scparately repertable---- reported , and are included within the “ all other ” category. See Note 19 for more
information. F- €ash-7Cash and Cash EquivalentsCash primarily consists of cash on hand and bank deposits. Cash equivalents
consist of money market funds. The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original or remaining
maturity of less than three months at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are maintained with
various financial institutions. F—6Aeeeunts—- Accounts ReceivableThe Company’ s accounts receivable are recorded at
amortized cost less an allowance for credit losses that are not expected to be recovered. The net amount of accounts receivable
and corresponding allowance for credit losses are presented in the consolidated balance sheets. The Company maintains
allowances for credit losses resulting from the expected failure or inability of its customers to make required payments. The
Company does not require collateral for accounts receivable. The Company believes its credit risk with respect to trade accounts
receivable is limited due to its credit evaluation process and the long- term nature of its relationships with its largest customers.
The Company utilizes a historical loss rate method, adjusted for any changes in economic conditions or risk characteristics, to
estimate its expected credit losses each period. When developing an estimate of expected credit losses, the Company considers
all available relevant information regarding the collectability of cash flows, including historical information, current conditions,
and reasonable and supportable forecasts of future economic conditions over the contractual life of the receivable. The historical
loss rate method considers past write- offs of trade accounts receivable over a period commensurate with the initial term of the
Company’ s contracts with its customers. The Company recognizes the allowance for credit losses at inception and reassesses
quarterly based on management’ s expectation of the asset’ s collectability. The Company’ s accounts receivable are short- term
in nature and written off only when all collection attempts have failed. The Company has receivable discount programs that have
been established with certain major customers and their respective banks. Under these programs, the Company has the option to
sell those customers’ receivables to those banks at a discount to be agreed upon at the time the receivables are sold. Once the
customer chooses which outstanding invoices are going to be made available for discounting, the Company can accept or
decline the bundle of invoices provided. The receivable discount programs are non- recourse, and funds cannot be reclaimed by
the customer or its bank after the related invoices have been discounted. Inventorylnventory is comprised of: (i) Used Core and
component raw materials, (ii) work- in- process, (iii) remanufactured finished goods and purchased finished goods. Used Core,
component raw materials, and purchased finished goods are stated at the lower of average cost or net realizable value. Work- in-
process is in various stages of production and is valued at the average cost of Used Cores and component raw materials issued to



work orders still open, including allocations of labor and overhead costs. Historically, work- in- process inventory has not been
material compared to the total inventory balance. Remanufactured finished goods include: (i) the Used Core cost and (ii) the
cost of component raw materials, and allocations of labor and variable and fixed overhead costs (the “ Unit Cost ). The
allocations of labor and variable and fixed overhead costs are based on the actual use of the production facilities over the prior
12 months which approximates normal capacity. This method prevents the distortion in allocated labor and overhead costs that
would occur during short periods of abnormally low or high production. In addition, the Company excludes certain unallocated
overhead such as severance costs, duplicative facility overhead costs, start- up costs, training, and spoilage from the calculation
and expenses these unallocated overhead costs as period costs. Purchased finished goods also include an allocation of fixed
overhead costs. The estimate of net realizable value is subjective and based on management’ s judgment and knowledge of
current industry demand and management’ s projections of industry demand. The estimates may, therefore, be revised if there
are changes in the overall market for the Company’ s products or market changes that in management’ s judgment impact its
ability to sell or liquidate potentially excess or obsolete inventory. Net realizable value is determined at least quarterly as
follows: F- 78 « Net realizable value for finished goods by customer, by product line are determined based on the agreed upon
selling price with the customer for a product in the trailing 12 months. The Company compares the average selling price,
including any discounts and allowances, to the finished goods cost of on- hand inventory, less any reserve for excess and
obsolete inventory. Any reduction of value is recorded as cost of goods sold in the period in which the revaluation is identified. ¢
Net realizable value for Used Cores are determined based on current core purchase prices from core brokers to the extent that
core purchases in the trailing 12 months are significant. Remanufacturing consumes, on average, more than one Used Core for
each remanufactured unit produced since not all Used Cores are reusable. The yield rates depend upon both the product and
consumer specifications. The Company purchases Used Cores from core brokers to supplement its yield rates and Used Cores
not returned under the core exchange programs. The Company also considers the net selling price its customers have agreed to
pay for Used Cores that are not returned under its core exchange programs to assess whether Used Core cost exceeds Used Core
net realizable value on a by customer, by product line basis. Any reduction of core cost is recorded as cost of goods sold in the
period in which the revaluation is identified. « The Company records an allowance for potentially excess and obsolete inventory
based upon recent sales history, the quantity of inventory on- hand, and a forecast of potential use of the inventory. The
Company periodically reviews inventory to identify excess quantities and part numbers that are experiencing a reduction in
demand. Any part numbers with quantities identified during this process are reserved for at rates based upon management’ s
judgment, historical rates, and consideration of possible scrap and liquidation values which may be as high as 100 % of cost if no
liquidation market exists for the part. As a result of this process, the Company recorded reserves for excess and obsolete
inventory of $ 17,372, 000 and $ 16, 436 ;-906-and-$143;-520- 000 at March 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622;respectively. This
increase in the reserve was primarily due to excess inventory of certain finished goods on hand at March 31, 2623-2024
compared with March 31, 2622-2023 . The Company records vendor discounts as a reduction of inventories and are recognized
as a reduction to cost of sales as the inventories are sold. Inventory UnreturnedInventory unreturned represents the Company’ s
estimate, based on historical data and prospective information provided directly by the customer, of finished goods shipped to
customers that the Company expects to be returned under its general right of return policy, after the balance sheet date.
Inventory unreturned includes only the Unit Cost of a finished good. The return rate is calculated based on expected returns
within the normal operating cycle, which is generally one year. As such, the related amounts are classified in current assets.
Inventory unreturned is valued in the same manner as the Company’ s finished goods inventory. Contract AssetsContract assets
consists of: (i) the core portion of the finished goods shipped to customers, (ii) upfront payments to customers in connection
with customer contracts, (iii) core premiums paid to customers, (iv) finished goods premiums paid to customers, and (v) long-
term core inventory deposits. Remanufactured Cores held at customers’ locations as a part of the finished goods sold to the
customer are classified as long- term contract assets. These assets are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value of Used
Cores on hand (See Inventory above). For these Remanufactured Cores, the Company expects the finished good containing the
Remanufactured Core to be returned under the Company’ s general right of return policy or a similar Used Core to be returned to
the Company by the customer, under the Company’ s core exchange programs, in each case for credit. The Remanufactured
Cores and Used Cores returned by consumers to the Company”’ s customers but not yet returned to the Company are classified as
“ Cores expected to be returned by customers ”, which are included in short- term contract assets until the Company physically
receives them during its normal operating cycle, which is generally one year. F- $5pfrent-9Upfront payments to customers
represent marketing allowances, such as sign- on bonuses, slotting fees, and promotional allowances provided by the Company
to its customers. These allowances are recognized as an asset and amortized over the appropriate period of time as a reduction of
revenue if the Company expects to generate future revenues associated with the upfront payment. If the Company does not
expect to generate additional revenue, then the upfront payment is recognized in the consolidated statements of operations when
payment occurs as a reduction of revenue. Upfront payments expected to be amortized during the Company’ s normal operating
cycle, which is generally one year, are classified as short- term contract assets. Core premiums paid to customers represent the
difference between the Remanufactured Core acquisition price paid to customers, generally in connection with new business,
and the related Used Core cost. The core premiums are treated as an asset and recognized as a reduction of revenue through the
later of the date at which related revenue is recognized or the date at which the sales incentive is offered. The Company
considers, among other things, the length of its largest ongoing customer relationships, duration of customer contracts, and the
average life of vehicles on the road in determining the appropriate period of time over which to amortize these premiums. These
core premiums are amortized over a period typically ranging from six to eight years, adjusted for specific circumstances
associated with the arrangement. Core premiums are recorded as long- term contract assets. Core premiums expected to be
amortized within the Company’ s normal operating cycle, which is generally one year, are classified as short- term contract
assets. Finished goods premiums paid to customers represent the difference between the finished good acquisition price paid to



customers, generally in connection with new business, and the related finished good cost, which is treated as an asset and
recognized as a reduction of revenue through the later of the date at which related revenue is recognized or the date at which the
sales incentive is offered. The Company considers, among other things, the length of its largest ongoing customer relationships,
duration of customer contracts, and the average life of vehicles on the road in determining the appropriate period of time over
which to amortize these premiums. Finished goods premiums are amortized over a period typically ranging from six to eight
years, adjusted for specific circumstances associated with the arrangement. Finished goods premiums are recorded as long- term
contract assets. Finished goods premiums expected to be amortized within our normal operating cycle, which is generally one
year, are classified as short- term contract assets. Long- term core inventory deposits represent the cost of Remanufactured
Cores the Company has purchased from customers, which are held by the customers and remain on the customers’ premises.
The costs of these Remanufactured Cores were established at the time of the transaction based on the then current cost. The
selling value of these Remanufactured Cores was established based on agreed upon amounts with these customers. The
Company expects to realize the selling value and the related cost of these Remanufactured Cores should its relationship with a
customer end, a possibility that the Company considers remote based on existing long- term customer agreements and historical
experience. Customer Finished Goods Returns AccrualThe customer finished goods returns accrual represents the Company’ s
estimate of its exposure to customer returns, including warranty returns, under its general right of return policy to allow
customers to return items that their end user customers have returned to them and from time to time, stock adjustment returns
when the customers’ inventory of certain product lines exceeds the anticipated sales to end- user customers. The customer
finished goods returns accrual represents the Unit Value of the estimated returns and is classified as a current liability due to the
expectation that these returns will occur within the normal operating cycle of one year. Income TaxesThe Company accounts for
income taxes using the liability method, which measures deferred income taxes by applying enacted statutory rates in effect at
the balance sheet date to the differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial
statements. The resulting asset or liability is adjusted to reflect changes in the tax laws as they occur. A valuation allowance is
provided to reduce deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that a portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized.
F- The-10The primary components of the Company’ s income tax expense were (i) federal income taxes, (ii) state income taxes,
(iii) foreign income taxed at rates that are different from the federal statutory rate, (iv) change in realizable deferred tax items,
(v) impact of the non- deductible executive compensation under Internal Revenue Code Section 162 (m), and-(vi ) the portion
of book expense related to convertible notes and derivatives that is not expected to be deductible for tax, and (vii ) income
taxes associated with uncertain tax positions. F—9Realizatton— Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the
Company’ s ability to generate sufficient future taxable income. Significant judgment is required in determining the Company’ s
provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against the Company’ s net
deferred tax assets. The Company makes these estimates and judgments about its future taxable income that are based on
assumptions that are consistent with the Company’ s future plans. A valuation allowance is established when the Company
believes it is not more likely than not all or some deferred tax assets will be realized. In evaluating the Company’ s ability to
recover deferred tax assets within the jurisdiction in which they arise, the Company considers all available positive and negative
evidence , including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, past financial
performance, and tax planning strategies . Deferred tax assets arising primarily as a result of net operating loss carry-
forwards and research and development credits in connection with the Company’ s Canadian operations have been offset
completely by a valuation allowance due to the uncertainty of their utilization in future periods. During the year ended March
31, 2024, the Company recorded a discrete non- cash valuation allowance of $ 38, 009, 000 on U. S. federal and various
state deferred tax assets that is considered not more likely than not to be realized under U. S. GAAP. Should the actual
amount differ from the Company’ s estimates, the amount of the valuation allowance could be impacted. The Company has
made an accounting policy election to recognize the U. S. tax effects of global intangible low- taxed income as a component of
income tax expense in the period the tax arises. Plant and EquipmentPlant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated
depreciation. The cost of additions and improvements are capitalized, while maintenance and repairs are charged to expense
when incurred. Depreciation is provided on a straight- line basis in amounts sufficient to relate the cost of depreciable assets to
operations over their estimated service lives. Machinery and equipment are depreciated over a range from five to ten years.
Office equipment and fixtures are depreciated over a range from three to ten years. Leasehold improvements are depreciated
over the lives of the respective leases or the service lives of the leasehold improvements, whichever is shorter. Depreciation of
assets recorded under finance leases is included in depreciation expense. The Company evaluates plant and equipment, including
leasehold improvements, equipment, construction in progress, and right- of- use assets for impairment whenever events or
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset or asset group may not be recoverable. There was no impairment
recorded during the years ended March 31, 2024, 2023, or 2022 ;er262+. LeasesThe Company determines if an arrangement
contains a lease at inception. Lease assets and lease liabilities are recorded based on the present value of lease payments over the
lease term, which includes the minimum unconditional term of the lease. Certain of the Company’ s leases include options to
extend the leases for up to five years. When the Company has the option to extend the lease term, terminate the lease before the
contractual expiration date, or purchase the leased asset, and it is reasonably certain that it will exercise the option, the option is
considered in determining the classification and measurement of the lease. The lease assets are recorded net of any lease
incentives received. The Company exempts leases with an initial term of 12 months or less from balance sheet recognition and,
for all classes of assets, combines non- lease components with lease components. Lease assets are tested for impairment in the
same manner as long- lived assets used in operations. The Company uses its incremental borrowing rate for each of its leases in
determining the present value of its expected lease payments based on the information available at the lease commencement
date as the rate implicit for each of its leases is not readily detainable. The Company’ s incremental borrowing rate is
determined by analyzing and combining (i) an applicable risk- free rate, (ii) a financial spread adjustment, and (iii) any lease



specific adjustment. Certain leases contain provisions for property- related costs that are variable in nature for which the
Company is responsible, including common area maintenance and other property operating services, which are expensed as
incurred and not included in the determination of lease assets and lease liabilities. These costs are calculated based on a variety
of factors including property values, tax and utility rates, property services fees, and other factors. The Company records rent
expense for operating leases, some of which have escalating rent payments, on a straight- line basis over the lease term. F- Fhe
11The Company has material non- functional currency leases. As required for other monetary liabilities, lessees shall remeasure
a foreign currency- denominated lease liability using the exchange rate at each reporting date, but the lease assets are
nonmonetary assets measured at historical rates, which are not affected by subsequent changes in the exchange rates. The
Company recorded gains of § 5,187, 000, $ 6, 515, 000 ;-and $ 1, 989 ;066-ard-$9,-893- 000 during the years ended March
31, 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 and-262+, respectively, which are included in foreign exchange impact of lease liabilities and
forward contracts in the consolidated statements of operations. See Note 10 for additional information regarding the Company’
s leases. F—10GoeedwiltFhe—- GoodwillThe Company evaluates goodwill for impairment at least annually during the fourth
quarter of each fiscal year or more frequently when an event occurs or circumstances change that indicate the carrying value
may not be recoverable. The goodwill impairment test is performed at the reporting unit level, which represents the Company’ s
operating segments. In testing for goodwill impairment, the Company may elect to utilize a qualitative assessment to evaluate
whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If the Company’ s
qualitative assessment indicates that goodwill impairment is more likely than not, it will proceed with performing the
quantitative assessment. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, goodwill is not considered impaired. If
the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value an impairment loss will be recognized for the amount by which the
carrying value exceeds the reporting unit’ s fair value. The Company completes the required annual testing of goodwill
impairment for each of the reporting units during the fourth quarter of the year. No impairment was recorded during the years
ended March 31, 2024, 2023, or 2022 ;or262+. Intangible AssetsThe Company’ s intangible assets other than goodwill are
finite — lived and amortized on a straight- line basis over their respective useful lives. The Company analyzes its finite- lived
intangible assets for impairment when and if indicators of impairment exist. No impairment was recorded during the years
ended March 31, 2024, 2023 -or 2022 ;er2024-. Debt Issuance CostsDebt issuance costs include fees and costs incurred to
obtain financing. Debt issuance costs related to the Company’ s term teans— loan and convertible notes are presented in the
balance sheet as a direct deduction from carrying amounts of the respective debt. Debt issuance costs related to the Company’ s
revolving loan are presented in prepaid expenses and other current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets,
regardless of whether or not there are any outstanding borrowings under the revolving loan. Fhese-fees-Debt issuance costs
related to the Company’ s convertible notes are amortized using the effective interest method and debt issuance costs
related to the Company’ s term loans and revolving loans are amortized using the straight- line method, which

approximates the effective interest method. Debt issuance costs are amortized using-the-stratght—tne-method;-whieh
approximates-the-effeetive-interestrate-method;over the terms— term of the related loans and netes-and-are-included in interest

expense in the Company’ s consolidated statements of operations. Foreign Currency TranslationFor financial reporting
purposes, the functional currency of the foreign subsidiaries is the local currency. The assets and liabilities of foreign operations
for which the local currency is the functional currency are translated into the U. S. dollar at the exchange rate in effect at the
balance sheet date, while revenues and expenses are translated at average exchange rates during the year. The accumulated
foreign currency translation adjustment is presented as a component of comprehensive income or loss in the consolidated
statements of shareholders’ equity. Puring-the-year-ended-Mareh31;2623;-aggregate-Aggregate forcign currency transaetion
transactions recorded in general and administrative expenses were a gain of $ 515, 000, a {esses—- loss of $ 1, 401, 000,
and a ga-tﬁs—~ galn of $ 239 —999—a-nd—$—1—1-44— 000 for the years ended March 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 a-nd—292—1— respectrvely
v erat-a F- Revenue-12Revenue RecognitionRevenue is recognized when
performance obhgatlons under the terms of a contract Wlth the Company’ s customers are satisfied; generally, this occurs with
the transfer of control of its products. Revenue is measured as the amount of consideration the Company expects to receive in
exchange for transferring goods or providing services. Revenue is recognized net of all anticipated returns, marketing
allowances, volume discounts, and other forms of variable consideration. Revenue is recognized either when products are
shipped or when delivered, depending on the applicable contract terms. F=—4Fhe--- The price of a finished remanufactured
product sold to customers is generally comprised of separately invoiced amounts for the Remanufactured Core included in the
product (“ Remanufactured Core value ”’) and the unit portion included in the product (“ Unit Value ), for which revenue is
recorded based on our then current price list, net of applicable discounts and allowances. The Remanufactured Core value is
recorded as a net revenue based upon the estimate of Used Cores that will not be returned by the customer for credit. These
estimates are subjective and based on management’ s judgment and knowledge of historical, current, and projected return rates.
As reconciliations are completed with the customers the actual rates at which Used Cores are not being returned may differ
from the current estimates. This may result in periodic adjustments of the estimated contract asset and liability amounts recorded
and may impact the projected revenue recognition rates used to record the estimated future revenue. These estimates may also
be revised if there are changes in contractual arrangements with customers, or changes in business practices. A significant
portion of the remanufactured automotive parts sold to customers are replaced by similar Used Cores sent back for credit by
customers under the core exchange programs (as described in further detail below). The number of Used Cores sent back under
the core exchange programs is generally limited to the number of similar Remanufactured Cores previously shipped to each
customer. Revenue Recognition — Core Exchange ProgramsFull price Remanufactured Cores: When remanufactured products
are shipped, certain customers are invoiced for the Remanufactured Core value of the product at the full Remanufactured Core
sales price. For these Remanufactured Cores, revenue is only recognized based upon an estimate of the rate at which these
customers will pay cash for Remanufactured Cores in lieu of sending back similar Used Cores for credits under the core




exchange programs. The remainder of the full price Remanufactured Core value invoiced to these customers is established as a
long- term contract liability rather than being recognized as revenue in the period the products are shipped as the Company
expects these Remanufactured Cores to be returned for credit under its core exchange programs. Nominal price Remanufactured
Cores: Certain other customers are invoiced for the Remanufactured Core value of the product shipped at a nominal (generally
$ 0. 01 or less) Remanufactured Core price. For these nominal Remanufactured Cores, revenue is only recognized based upon an
estimate of the rate at which these customers will pay cash for Remanufactured Cores in lieu of sending back similar Used Cores
for credits under the core exchange programs. Revenue amounts are calculated based on contractually agreed upon pricing for
these Remanufactured Cores for which the customers are not returning similar Used Cores. The remainder of the nominal price
Remanufactured Core value invoiced to these customers is established as a long- term contract liability rather than being
recognized as revenue in the period the products are shipped as the Company expects these Remanufactured Cores to be
returned for credit under its core exchange programs. Revenue Recognition; General Right of ReturnCustomers are allowed to
return goods that their end- user customers have returned to them, whether or not the returned item is defective (warranty
returns). In addition, under the terms of certain agreements and industry practice, customers from time to time are allowed stock
adjustments when their inventory of certain product lines exceeds the anticipated sales to end- user customers (stock adjustment
returns). Customers have various contractual rights for stock adjustment returns, which are typically less than 5 % of units sold.
In some instances, a higher level of returns is allowed in connection with significant restocking orders. The aggregate returns are
generally limited to less than 20 % of unit sales. F- Fhe-13The allowance for warranty returns is established based on a
historical analysis of the level of this type of return as a percentage of total unit sales. The allowance for stock adjustment
returns is based on specific customer inventory levels, inventory movements, and information on the estimated timing of stock
adjustment returns provided by customers. Stock adjustment returns do not occur at any specific time during the year. The return
rate for stock adjustments is calculated based on expected returns within the normal operating cycle, which is generally one
year. The Unit Value of the warranty and stock adjustment returns are treated as reductions of revenue based on the estimations
made at the time of the sale. The Remanufactured Core value of warranty and stock adjustment returns are provided for as
indicated in the paragraph “ Revenue Recognition — Core Exchange Programs ”. As F—2As-is standard in the industry, the
Company only accepts returns from on- going customers. If a customer ceases doing business with the Company, it has no
further obligation to accept additional product returns from that customer. Similarly, the Company accepts product returns and
grants appropriate credits to new customers from the time the new customer relationship is established. Shipping CostsThe
Company includes shipping and handling charges in the gross invoice price to customers and classifies the total amount as
revenue. All shipping and handling costs are expensed as cost of sales as inventory is sold. Contract LiabilityContract liability
consists of: (i) customer allowances earned, (i) accrued core payments, (iii) customer core returns accruals, (iv) core bank
liability, (v) finished goods liabilities, and (vi) customer deposits. Customer allowances earned includes all marketing
allowances provided to customers. Such allowances include sales incentives and concessions. Voluntary marketing allowances
related to a single exchange of product are recorded as a reduction of revenues at the time the related revenues are recorded or
when such incentives are offered. Other marketing allowances, which may only be applied against future purchases, are
recorded as a reduction to revenues in accordance with a schedule set forth in the relevant contract. Sales incentive amounts are
recorded based on the value of the incentive provided. See Note 14 for a description of all marketing allowances. Customer
allowances to be provided to customers within the Company”’ s normal operating cycle, which is generally one year, are
considered short- term contract liabilities and the remainder are recorded as long- term contract liabilities. Accrued core
payments represent the sales price of Remanufactured Cores purchased from customers, generally in connection with new
business, which are held by these customers and remain on their premises. The sales price of these Remanufactured Cores will
be realized when the Company’ s relationship with a customer ends, a possibility that the Company considers remote based on
existing long- term customer agreements and historical experience. The payments to be made to customers for purchases of
Remanufactured Cores within the Company”’ s normal operating cycle, which is generally one year, are considered short- term
contract liabilities and the remainder are recorded as long- term contract liabilities. Customer core returns accruals represent the
full and nominally priced Remanufactured Cores shipped to the Company’ s customers. When the Company ships the product,
it recognizes an obligation to accept a similar Used Core sent back under the core exchange programs based upon the
Remanufactured Core price agreed upon by the Company and its customer. The Contract liability related to Used Cores returned
by consumers to the Company’ s customers but not yet returned to the Company are classified as short- term contract liabilities
until the Company physically receives these Used Cores as they are expected to be returned during the Company’ s normal
operating cycle, which is generally one year and the remainder are recorded as long- term contract liabilities. The core bank
liability represents the full Remanufactured Core sales price paid for cores returned under the core exchange programs. The
payment for these cores are made over a contractual repayment period pursuant to the Company’ s agreement with this
customer. Payments to be made within the Company’ s normal operating cycle, which is generally one year, are considered
short- term contract liabilities and the remainder are recorded as long- term contract liabilities. F- Finished-14Finished goods
liabilities represents the agreed upon price of finished goods purchased from customers, generally in connection with new
business. The payment for these finished goods are made over a contractual repayment period pursuant to the Company’ s
agreement with the customer. Payments to be made within the Company’ s normal operating cycle, which is generally one year,
are considered short- term contract liabilities and the remainder are recorded as long- term contract liabilities. Customer deposits
represent the receipt of prepayments from customers for the obligation to transfer goods or services in the future. The Company
classifies these customer deposits as short- term contract liabilities as the Company expects to satisfy these obligations within its
normal operating cycle, which is generally one year. F—3Advertising— Advertising CostsThe Company expenses all
advertising costs as incurred. Advertising expenses for the years ended March 31, 2024, 2023 -and 2022 and2624-were $ 614,
000, $ 606, 000, and $ 1, 007 70008;-ard-$-507-, 000, respectively. Net (Loss) Income Per ShareBasic net (loss) income per share



is computed by dividing net (loss) income by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the
period. Diluted net (loss) income per share includes the effect, if any, from the potential exercise or conversion of securities,
such as stock options, warrants, and Convertible Notes (as defined in Note 8), which would result in the issuance of incremental
shares of common stock to the extent such impact is not anti- dilutive. The following presents a reconciliation of basic and
diluted net (loss) income per share. Years Ended March 31, Net (loss) income $ ( 49, 244, 000) $ (4, 207, 000) $ 7, 361 ;-600-$
24476-, 000 Basic shares 19, 601, 204 19, 340, 246 19, 119, 727 49-823;345-Effect of dilutive stock options- =439, 919 364;
440-Diluted shares 19, 601, 204 19, 340, 246 19, 559, 646 +9;38%-555-Net (loss) income per share: Basic net (loss) income per
share $ (2.51) $ (0. 22) $ 0. 38 $3-43-Diluted net (loss) income per share $ (2. 51) $ (0. 22) $ 0. 38 $3+-—-H-Potential common
shares that would have the effect of increasing diluted net income per share or decreasing diluted net loss per share are
considered to be anti- dilutive and as such, these shares are not included in calculating diluted net (loss) income per share. For
the years ended March 31, 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 and-2024- there were 2, 122, 863, 1, 854, 795, and 725, 998 ;and+279;25+
, respectively, of potential common shares not included in the calculation of diluted net (loss) income per share because their
effect was anti- dilutive. In addition, for the year ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, there were 1, 693, 778 and 5, 846,
respectively, of potential common shares not included in the calculation of diluted net (loss) income per share #-under the “ if-
converted ” method for the Convertible Notes because their effect was anti- dilutive. The potential common shares related to the
Warrants (as defined below) issued in connection with the Convertible Notes (see Note 8) are anti- dilutive until they become
exercisable and as of March 31, 2023-2024 , the Warrants were not exercisable. Use of EstimatesThe preparation of
consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“ GAAP )
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the consolidated financial
statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. On an on- going basis, the Company
evaluates its estimates, including allowances for credit losses, valuation of inventory and Used Cores , valuation of long- lived
assets, goodwill and intangible assets, useful lives depreetationand-amortizationrof long- lived assets, litigation matters,
valuation of deferred tax assets, share- based compensation, sales returns and other customer marketing allowances, the
incremental borrowing rate used in determining the present value of lease liabilities, and valuation of the embedded derivatives
in connection with the convertible notes. Although the Company does not believe that there is a reasonable likelihood that there
will be a material change in the future estimate or in the assumptions used in calculating the estimate, unforeseen changes in the
industry, or business could materially impact the estimate and may have a material adverse effect on its business, financial
condition and results of operations. F- +4Finanetal-15Financial [nstrumentsThe carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents
shert—term-investments-, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their fair value due to the
short- term nature of these instruments. The carrying amount of short- term investments approximates their fair value as the
shares of these mutual funds trade with sufficient frequency and volume to enable the Company to obtain pricing
information on an ongoing basis. The carrying amounts of the revolving feamterm-loan and other long- term liabilities
approximate their fair value based on the variable nature of interest rates and current rates for instruments with similar
characteristics. The estimated fair value of the Company’ s Convertible Notes (as defined in Note 8) was $ 38, 276, 000
using Level 3 inputs at March 31, 2024. The net carrying amount of the eenrvertible-Convertible netes-Notes approximated
their fair value at March 31, 2023, as they were issued and-seld-on March 31, 2023 . See Note 13 for further information
concerning the fair value of the Company’ s Convertible Notes . Share- Based PaymentsThe Company has share- based
compensation plans and recognizes compensation expense over the requisite service period for its share- based plans based on
the fair value of the awards on the date of the grant, award or issuance and accounts for forfeitures as they occur. Share- based
plans include stock option awards, restricted stock units, restricted stock awards, and performance stock units issued under the
Company’ s incentive plans. The cost is measured at the grant date, based on (i) the estimated fair value of the award using the
Black- Scholes option pricing model for stock options, based-en-(if) the closing share price of the Company’ s stock on the
grant date for restricted stock units and restricted stock awards, based-em-(iii) the closing share price of the Company’ s stock on
the grant date for performance stock units subject to performance conditions, and based-en-(iv) the estimated fair value of the
award using the Monte Carlo valuation model for performance stock units subject to market conditions. See Note 18 for further
information concerning the Company’ s share- based payments. The Black- Scholes option- pricing model and Monte Carlo
valuation model require the input of subjeetive-assumptions including the expected volatility of the underlying stock and the
expected holding period of the option. These subjeetive-assumptions are based on both historical and other information.
Changes in the values assumed and used in the model can materially affect the estimate of fair value. Credit RiskThe Company
regularly reviews its accounts receivable and allowance for credit losses by considering factors such as historical experience,
credit quality and age of the accounts receivable, and the current economic conditions that may affect a customer’ s ability to
pay. The majority of the Company’ s sales are to leading automotive aftermarket parts suppliers. The Company participates in
trade accounts receivable discount programs with its major customers. If the creditworthiness of any of its customers was
downgraded, the Company could be adversely affected, in that it may be subjected to higher interest rates on the use of these
discount programs or it could be forced to wait longer for payment. Should the Company’ s customers experience significant
cash flow problems, its financial position and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected, and the maximum
amount of loss that would be incurred would be the outstanding receivable balance, Used Cores expected to be returned by
customers, and the value of the Remanufactured Cores held at customers’ locations. The Company maintains an allowance for
credit losses that, in its opinion, provide for an adequate reserve to cover losses that may be incurred. Deferred Compensation
PlanThe Company has a deferred compensation plan for certain members of management. The plan allows participants to defer
salary and bonuses. The assets of the plan, which are held in a trust and are subject to the claims of the Company’ s general
creditors under federal and state laws in the event of insolvency, are recorded as short- term investments in the consolidated
balance sheets. Consequently, the trust qualifies as a Rabbi trust for income tax purposes. The plan’ s assets consist primarily of



mutual funds and are recorded at market value with any unrealized gain or loss recorded as general and administrative expense.
The carrying value of plan assets were $ 1, 837, 000 and $ 2, 011 76088-and-$2,202- 000, and the deferred compensation
liability, which is included in other current liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, was $ 1, 837, 000 and $
2,011 7000-and-$2,202- 000 at March 31,2024 and 2023 and2022- respectively. During the years ended March 31, 2024,
2023, and 2022 7ard202+-, the Company made contributions of $ 6, 000, $ 75, 000 -and $ 119 -066-ard-$96-, 000,
respectively. During the year ended March 31, 2024, the Company’ s matching contributions under its deferred
compensation plan were temporarily halted through February 2024 when they were reinstated. F- 16During the years
ended March 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, contributions of $ 82, 000, $ 287, 000, and $ 388, 000, respectively, were made to
the deferred compensation plan. During the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company redeemed $ 603, 000 and
$ 297, 000 , respectively, of its short- term investments for the payment of deferred compensation liabilities. During the year
ended March 31, 2022, the Company did not redeem any of its short- term investments for the payment of deferred
compensation liabilities. F=35Fhe-—- The following summarizes the gain (loss) on the Company’ s equity investments: Years
Ended March 31, Net gain (loss) gatrrecognized on equity securities $ 347,000 $ (181, 000) $ 163 -906-$-52+, 000 Less: net
gain (loss) gatnrecognized on equity securities sold 74, 000 (15, 000)- +6;-6608-Unrealized gain (loss) gatrrecognized on equity
securities still held $ 273, 000 $ (166, 000) $ 163 7888-$51-, 000 Comprehensive Income or LossComprehensive income or
loss is defined as the change in equity during a period resulting from transactions and other events and circumstances from non-
owner sources. The Company’ s total comprehensive income or loss consists of net unrealized income or loss from foreign
currency translation adjustments. 3. Goodwill and Intangible AssetsGoodwillThe Company had goodwill of $ 3, 205, 000 at
March 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-, which was comprised of $ 2, 551, 000 for the Hard Parts segment and $ 654, 000 for all
others, respectively. Intangible AssetsThe following is a summary of acquired intangible assets subject to amortization: March
31,2023-2024 March 31, 2622-2023 Weighted Average Amortization Period Gross Carrying Value Accumulated Amortization
Gross Carrying Value Accumulated Amortization Intangible assets subject to amortization Trademarks 9 years $ 705, 000 $ 641,
000 $ 705, 000 $ 577 ;-066-$-765,006-$-513-, 000 Customer relationships 11 years8, 573, 000 7, 568, 000 8, 576, 000 6, 947 5
860-8799:-066-6;-188-, 000 Developed technology 5 years -- 2, 667, 000 2, 281 7-600-2-888;-060-1-892-, 000 Total 9 years $ 9,
278,000 $ 8,209,000 $ 11,948, 000 $ 9, 805, 000 $42-F- 17During the year ended March 31 , 3922024 , 996-the
Company retired $ 82 , 593—667 OOO of fully amortlzed 1ntang1ble assets. During the year ended March 31,2023, the
Company did not retire any fuly-am A : ¢ $
860-offully amortized mtanglble assets. Amortlzatlon expen%e for acqu1red mtanglble assets is as follows: Yearq Ended March
31, Amortization expense $ 1, 075, 000 $ 1, 460, 000 $ 1, 548 ;-806-$3,571, 000 The estimated future amortization expense
for acquired intangible assets subject to amortization is as follows: Year Ending March 31, 486, 000 341, 000 242, 000 Total $
1,973-069 , 000 4 486;-606-342,-0606-242,-006-Fotal-$2, 143,006 F—164-. Accounts Receivable — NetThe Company has trade
accounts receivable that result from the sale of goods and services. Accounts receivable — net includes offset accounts related
to customer payment discrepancies, returned goods authorizations (“ RGAs ) issued for in- transit unit returns, and allowances
for credit losses. Accounts receivable — net is comprised of the following: March 31, 2623-2024 March 31, 2622-2023
Accounts receivable — trade $ 118, 500, 000 $ 136, 076 -866-$98;-734-, 000 Allowance for credit losses ( 189, 000) ( 339 5
B00)-375-, 000) Customer payment discrepancies (1, 206, 000) (1, 634 780035375, 000) Customer returns RGA issued ( 20,
809, 000) (14, 235 786015969, 000) Less: total accounts receivable offset accounts ( 22, 204, 000) ( 16, 208 7-8060)-13;-659

following: March 31, 2023-2024 March 31, 2622-2023 Raw materials $ 158, 819, 000 $ 147, 880 -660-$1+56;4+4-, 000 Work in
process 7, 943, 000 7, 033 7806-6:-886-, 000 Finished goods 227, 650, 000 201, 198, 000 226-394 , 729-412 , 000 356, 111 666
384623~ 000 Less allowance for excess and obsolete inventory ( 17, 372, 000) ( 16, 436, 000) 435-526;-600)-Total $ 377, 040,
000 $ 339, 675 7806-$370;503-, 000 Inventory unreturned $ 20, 288, 000 $ 16, 579, 000 $3+5;-061+-600-F- +76-186 . Contract
Assets During the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-2622-, the Company reduced the carrying value of
Remanufactured Cores held at customers’ locations by $ 5, 353, 000 and $ 3, 736 7806-and-$4--67-, 000, respectively.
Contract assets are comprised of the following: March 31, 2023-2024 March 31, 2022-2023 Short- term contract assets Cores
expected to be returned by customers $ 15, 409, 000 $ 13, 463 7-806-$15;778-, 000 Core premiums paid to customers 9, 567,
000 9, 812 -666106;-621+, 000 Upfront payments to customers 1, 407, 000 1, 593 5-680-5+7F, 000 Finished goods premiums paid
to customers 756, 000 575 -000-584-, 000 Total short- term contract assets $ 27, 139, 000 $ 25, 443 ~660-527-560-, 000
Remanufactured cores held at customers’ locations $ 279, 427, 000 $ 271, 628 -800-$258,376-, 000 Core premiums paid to
customers 30, 227, 000 38, 310 568043294~ 000 Long- term core inventory deposits 5, 569, 000 5, 569, 000 Upfront
payments to customers 2, 718, 000 344, 000 Finished goods premiums paid to customers 2, 341, 000 2, 530 ;-066-2;,-866;-606
Upfrontpaymentste-eustomers344;,-006-210- 000 Total long- term contract assets $ 320, 282, 000 $ 318, 381 -800-$316, 255
000 7. Plant and Equipment Plant and equipment is comprised of the following: March 31, 2623-2024 March 31, 2622-2023
Machinery and equipment $ 63, 048, 000 $ 62, 556 +600-$-63-094-, 000 Office equipment and fixtures 33, 463, 000 32, 769 5
86031434~ 000 Leasehold improvements 15, 110, 000 14, 301, 000 43-111 , 473-621 , 000 109, 626, 000 +08;-064;-660-Less :
accumulated depreciation ( 73, 283, 000) ( 63, 574, 000) £56;-939:-060)-Total $ 38, 338, 000 $ 46, 052 -006-$51+-662-, 000
Plant and equipment located in the foreign countries where the Company has facilities, net of accumulated depreciation, totaled
$ 33, 455,000 and $ 40, 609, 000 and-$44;348;,-006-, of which $ 30,992, 000 and $ 37, 667 ;-800-ard-$40,-94+2- 000 is
located in Mexico, at March 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-2622-, respectively. 8. DebtThe Company is party to a $ 268, 620, 000
senior secured financing, (as amended from time to time, the “ Credit Facility ”’) with a syndicate of lenders and PNC Bank,
National Association, as administrative agent, consisting of (i) a $ 238, 620, 000 revolving loan facility, subject to borrowing
base restrictions, a $ 24, 000, 000 sublimit for borrowings by Canadian borrowers, and a $ 20, 000, 000 sublimit for letters of
credit (the “ Revolving Facility ) and (ii) a $ 30, 000, 000 term loan facility (the “ Term Loans ). Fhe-Prior to the eighth



amendment dlscussed below, the loans under the Credit qulll\ were scheduled to mature on May 28, 2026 —'Phe—Gfed-'rt
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substantially all of the Company’ s asscts of. On August 3, 2023, the Company —Fhe-entered into a seventh amendment to
the Credit Facility, which among other things, (i) permitted the Company to repay its outstanding balance of Term Loans
reqire, (ii) permitted the exclusion of quarterly principal payments of Term Loans from the fixed charge coverage ratio $

937-5006—The-CreditFaetlity-bears-interestatratesequal-to-either- SOFR-( including retrospectively as-defined-below)plus-a

margitrof 2—75-%;3-06-%or-for 3—25%the prior periods) orfor all quarters beginning June 30 areferenecrate-plus-a
margitrof +75%-, 2-06-%-2023, (iii) reset the fixed charge coverage ratio financial covenant level er-for the quarters 225

Yo-ireachease-depending—-- ending en-September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2023, (iv) eliminated the senior leverage ratio
financial covenant effective with the quarter ended June 30, 2023, (v) extended the minimum undrawn availability
financial covenant through the delivery of the June 30, 2024 compliance certificate, and (vi) excluded the amount of all
amendment fees and expenses incurred in connection with this amendment as well as prior unamortized fees associated
with the Term Loans from bank EBITDA and the fixed charge coverage ratio financial covenant. F- 190n August 3,
2023, the Company repaid the remaining outstanding balance of its Term Loans and recorded a loss on extinguishment
of debt for the remaining unamortized debt issuance costs of $ 168, 000 in the consolidated statement of operations. On
December 12, 2023, the Company entered into an eighth amendment to the Credit Facility, which among the-other
applieable-measurement-things, (i) extended the maturity datc to December 12, 2028 from May 28, 2026, (ii) amended the
definition of “ Applicable Margin ” to provide for a pricing grid, with the Applicable Margin for Term SOFR loans
ranging from 2 . There-75 % to 3. 25 % and the Applicable Margin for base rate loans ranging from 1. 75 % to 2. 25 %,
in each case based on average daily undrawn availability for the most recently completed calendar quarter, (iii) amended
the existing fixed charge coverage ratio financial covenant that is alse-a-faeility-fee-only tested if undrawn availability
(which may include up to $ 8, 000, 000 of 6-suppressed availability) is less than 22 . 375-5 % of t6-0-50-%;-depending-on-the
sentor-aggregate revolving commitments, and (iv) amended the definitions of Consolidated EBITDA and fixed charge
feverage-coverage ratio and certain component definitions used therein. The Company had $ 128, 000, 000 and $ 145, 200,
000 outstanding under the Revolving Facility at March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. In addition, $ 6, 370, 000 as-was
outstanding for letters of credit at March 31, 2024. At March 31, 2024, after certain contractual adjustments, $ 100, 915,
000 was available under the Revolving Facility &pp-l-ie&b-}e—me&s&femeﬁt—d&te— The interest rate on the Company’ s Ferm
teans-and-Revolving Facility was 8. 8243 % and 8. 13 % srespeetively;-at March 31, 2024 and 2023, and-2-99-%and-3—13-%;
respectively yat-Mareh34,2622- F—48Fhe-In addltlon, the Credit Facility ;among-places limits on other—- the things
Company’ s ability to incur liens, incur additional indebtedness, make loans and investments, engage in mergers and
acquisitions, engage in asset sales, redeem, or repurchase capital stock, alter the business conducted by the Company
and its subsidiaries, transact with affiliates, prepay, redeem, or purchase subordinated debt, and amend or otherwise
alter debt agreements. The Credit Facility, as amended , requires the Company to maintain eertain-finanetat-eovenants
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W vattable-tn rgFaetlity Convertlble NotesOn March 31, 2023 the Company entered into a note
purchase agreement , as amended (the “Note Purchase Agreement ) with Bison Capltal Partners VI, L. P. and Bison Capital
Partners VI- A, L. P. (collectively, the “ Purchasers ) and Bison Capital Partners VI, L. P., as the purchaser representative (the
Purchaser Representative ) for the issuance and sale of § 32, 000, 000 in aggregate principal amount of convertible notes due in
2029 (the “ Convertible Notes ) te-be-, which was used for general corporate purposes. The Convertible Notes will bear
interest at a rate of 10. 0 % per annum, compounded annually, and payable (i) in kind or (ii) in cash, annually in arrears on April
1 of each year, commencing on April 1, 2024. On June 8, 2023, the Company entered into the first amendment to the Note
Purchase Agreement, which among other things, removed a provision that specified the Purchasers would be entitled to receive
a dividend or distribution payable in certain circumstances. This amendment was effective as of March 31, 2023. On August 1,
2023, the Company entered into the second amendment to the Note Purchase Agreement, which amended the definition
of “ Permitted Restricted Payments ” to permit the prepayment of its Term Loans. F- The-20The Company’ s Convertible
Notes are comprised of the following: March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023 Principal amount of Convertible Notes $ 32, 000, 000 $
32, 000, 000 Less: unamortized debt discount attributed to Compound Net Derivative Liability ( 7, 576, 000) ( 8, 430, 000) Less:
unamortized debt discount attributed to debt issuance costs (1, 058, 000) (1, 006, 000) Carrying amount of the Convertible Notes
23, 366, 000 22, 564, 000 Plus: Compound Net Derivative Liability 7, 410, 000 8, 430, 000 Net carrying amount of Convertible
Notes, related party $ 30, 776, 000 $ 30, 994, 000 The aggregate proceeds from the offering were approximately $ 31, 280, 000,
net of initial purchasers’ fees and other related expenses. The initial conversion rate is 66. 6667 shares of the Company’ s
common stock per $ 1, 000 principal amount of notes (equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $ 15. 00 per
share of common stock). At March 31, 2823-2024 , the Company had 28, 656-214 , 598-757 shares of its common stock
available to be issued if the Convertible Notes were converted. In connection with the Note Purchase Agreement, the Company
entered into common stock warrants (the “ Warrants ”’) with the Purchasers, which mature on March 30, 2029. The Warrants do
not become exercisable unless a Company Redemption (as defined below) occurs and the volume weighted average price of the
Company’ s common stock for 20 consecutive days prior to the redemption is less than $ 15. 00. The fair value of the Warrants,
using Level 3 inputs and the Monte Carlo simulation model, was zero at March 31, 2024 and 2023. The Company estimates the
fair value of the Warrants at each balance sheet date. Any subsequent changes from the initial recognition in the fair value of
the Warrants will be recorded in current period earnings in the consolidated statements of operations. The Convertible Notes
may be converted, subject to certain conditions, at a conversion price of approximately $ 15. 00 (the “ Conversion Option ).
The Convertible Notes also include a provision for a return of interest (““ Return of Interest ™), which requires the Purchasers to
return 15. 0 % of the interest paid to the Company in certain circumstances. The Return of Interest provision is accounted for as
part of the Conversion Option and if the Conversion Option is exercised in the future, the Return of Interest provision will
remain outstanding until the Purchaser sells all of the underlying stock received upon conversion. Upon conversion, any value
associated with the Return of Interest provision will be reflected as a derivative asset upon conversion, with changes in fair
value being recorded in earnings in the consolidated statements of operations until settlement in connection with the sale of the
underlying stock by the Purchaser. Unless and until the Company delivers a redemption notice, the Purchasers of the
Convertible Notes may convert their Convertible Notes at any time at their option. Upon conversion, the Convertible Notes will
be settled in shares of the Company’ s common stock. The conversion rate and conversion price are subject to customary
adjustments upon the occurrence of certain events. The Convertible Notes have a stated maturity of March 30, 2029, subject to
earlier conversion or redemption in accordance with their terms. If F=26H-there is a Fundamental Transaction, as defined in the
Form of Convertible Promissory Note, the Company may redeem all or part of the Convertible Notes. Except in the case of the
occurrence of a Fundamental Transaction, the Company may not redeem the Convertible Notes prior to March 31, 2026. After
March 31, 2026, the Company may redeem all or part of the Convertible Notes for a cash purchase (the “ Company Redemption
) price equal to the redemption price plus $ 4-5, 000, 000, but only if (i) it is listed on a national exchange, (ii) there is no
Event of Default ” occurring and continuing, and (iii) Adjusted EBITDA for the prior four quarters is greater than $ 80, 000,
000. The “ Redemption Price ” shall mean a cash amount equal to the principal amount of the Convertible Notes to be
redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest. However, if the volume weighted average price of the Company’ s common stock
for 20 consecutive days prior to the notice of the Company Redemption is less than § 15 —86-, the Purchasers may exercise the

warrants and the Company W111 pay the Redemptlon Prlce plus $ 2, OOO 000. F- Hewe’v‘er,—ﬁ:t-he—vehime—weighfed-avemge—pﬂee

Wﬂi-pay—the—fedempﬁeﬂ—pﬂee-phsﬁé—eee—eee—’Phe-ZlThe Conversmn Optlon and the Company Redemptlon both met the
criteria for blfurcatlon from the Convertlble Notes as derlvatlves and have ttstﬁg—theMeﬁte—Gaﬁe—stm%ﬁafmn—mﬁdel—wefe—faﬁ

-has—been Comblned wrt-h—t-he—Genvefsmﬁ—Gpﬁoﬁ—as a compound net derlvatlve hablhty (the “ Compound Net Derlvatlve Llablhty
). The Compound Net Derivative Liability has been recorded within convertible note, related party in the consolidated balance
sheet-sheets . The fair value of the Conversion Option and the Company Redemption option using Level 3 inputs and the

Monte Carlo simulation model was a liability of $ 9, 800, 000 and $ 10, 400, 000, and an asset of $ 2, 390, 000 and $ 1,
970, 000 at March 31, 2024 and 2023 , respectively . The Company estimates the fair value of the Compound Net Derivative
Liability at each balance sheet date. Any subsequent changes from the initial recognition in the fair value of the Compound Net
Derivative Liability will be recorded in current period earnings in the consolidated statements of operations. During the year
ended March 31, 2024, the Company recorded a gain of $ 1, 020, 000 as the change in fair value of the Compound Net
Derivative Liability in the consolidated statement of operations and consolidated statement of cash flows. The Convertible
Notes also contain additional features, such as, default interest and options related to a Fundamental Transaction, requiring
bifurcation which were not separately accounted for as the value of such features were not material at March 31, 2024 and



2023. Any subsequent changes from the initial recognition in the fair value of those features will be recorded in current period
earnings in the consolidated statements of operations. The Convertible Notes include customary provisions relating to the
occurrence of Events of Default, which include the following: (i) certain payment defaults on the Convertible Notes ; (ii) certain
events of bankruptcy, insolvency and reorganization involving the Company or any of its subsidiaries; (iii) the entering of one or
more final judgements— judgments or orders against the Company or any of its subsidiaries for an aggregate payment exceeding
$ 25, 000, 000; (iv) the acceleration of senior debt; (v) certain failures of the Company to comply with certain provisions of the
Note Purchase Agreement or material breaches of the Note Purchase Agreement by the Company or any of its subsidiaries; (vi)
any material provision of the Note Purchase Agreement, the Convertible Notes, the guarantee, the subordination agreement, the
warrants or the registration rights agreement, for any reason, ceases to be valid and binding on the Company or any subsidiary,
or any subsidiary shall so claim in writing to challenge the validity of or the Company’ s liability under the Note Purchase
Agreement, the Convertible Notes, or the registration rights agreement; or (vii) the Company fails to maintain the listing of its
capital stock on a national securities exchange. Events of Default will be subject to a 30- day cure period except for those related
to clause (ii) and (iv) of the preceding sentence. If an Event of Default occurs and is continuing, then, the Company shall deliver
written notice to the Purchasers within 5 business days of first learning of such Event of Default. If an Event of Default
involving bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization events with respect to the Company (and not solely with respect to its
significant subsidiary) occurs, then the principal amount of, and all accrued and unpaid interest on, all of the Convertible Notes
then outstanding will immediately become due and payable without any further action. Unamortized Bebt-debt issuance costs
of $1, 058,000 and $ 1, 006, 000 are presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amounts of the
Convertible Notes at March 31, 2024 and 2023 , respectively . Debt issuance costs are amortized using the effective interest
method through the maturity of the Convertible Note and recorded in interest expense in the consolidated statements of
operations . The effective interest rate was 18. 3 % as of March 31, 2024 . Debt issuance costs of $ 360, 000 allocated to the
Compound Net Derivative Liability were immediately expensed to interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations
for the year ended March 31, 2023. F—24Additionalty—- Additionally , pursuant to the Note Purchase Agreement, subject to
certain conditions, the Purchaser Representative shall have the right to nominate one director to serve (the “ Investor Director )
on the Company’ s Board of Directors (the “ Board ”). If an Investor Director is not currently serving on the Board, and subject
to certain other conditions set forth in the Note Purchase Agreement, the Purchaser Representative shall have the right to
designate one person to have observation rights with respect to all meetings of the Board. In connection with the Company’ s
entry into the Note Purchase Agreement, Douglas Trussler was appointed to serve on its Board. Fetal-F- 22Interest expense
related to the Convertible Notes is as follows: Years Ended March 31 2024 eeﬁtfaefual-Contractual interest expense of$ 3,
200, 000 $ 9, 000 Accretion of debt discount 853 related-te b otes-Wwasrecog g

Mareh31-, 2023-000- Amortization of issuance costs 119 000- Total mterest expense $ 4 172, 000 $ 9 000 There are no
future payments required under the Convertible Notes prior to their maturity, therefore, the principal amount of the notes plus
interest payable in kind, assuming no early redemption or conversion has occurred, of $ 56, 704, 000 would be paid on March
30, 2029. 9. Contract LiabilitiesContract liabilities are comprised of the following: March 31, 2623-2024 March 31, 2622-2023
Short- term contract liabilities Customer allowances earned $ 19, 789, 000 $ 19, 997 -680-$22,-048-, 000 Customer core returns
accruals 10, 448, 000 11, 112 -60612;322,-006-Customer-deposits3;232,-006-3;366-, 000 Accrued core payment 3, 476, 000
3, 056 760014679~ 000 Core bank liability 1, 739, 000 1, 686, 000 Customer deposits 1, 634-735, 000 3, 232 , 000 Finished
goods liabilities 404, 000 1, 257 -686-5-537, 000 Total short- term contract liabilities $ 37 591, 000 §$ 40, 340 —999—$—42—496—
000 Long- term contract liabilities Customer core returns accruals $ 193, 545, 000 $ 170, 420 -0606-$1+54946-, 000 Core bank
liability 11, 843, 000 13, 582 5-66035;267, 000 Accrued core payment 6, 535, 000 9, 171 5680-928-, 000 Finished goods
liabilities 145, 000 433 ;-6001-588;-000-Customer-aHowanees-earned—4+ 000 Total long- term contract liabilities $ 212, 068,
000 $ 193, 606, 000 10 $472,764;-000-F-—2210-. L casesThe Company leases various facilities in North America and Asia under
operating leases expiring through August 2033. The Company also has finance leases for certain office and manufacturing
equipment, which generally range from three to five years. The Company has material non- functional currency leases, which
resulted in a remeasurement gains of $ 5, 187, 000, $ 6, 515, 000, and $ 1, 989 ;-800;and-$9,893- 000 during the years ended
March 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 ;and-2624, respectively. These remeasurement gains are included in foreign exchange impact
of lease liabilities and forward contracts in the consolidated statements of operations. F- Balanee-23Balance sheet information
for leases is comprised of the following: March 31, 2623-2024 March 31, 2622-2023 LeasesClassification Assets:
OperatingOperating lease assets $ 83,973,000 $ 87, 619, 000 $84-99%-060-FinancePlant and equipment 4, 611, 000 5, 549 5
800-7476-, 000 Total leased assets $ 88, 584, 000 $ 93, 168 7880-$89,467- 000 Liabilities: Current OperatingOperating lease
liabilities § 8, 319, 000 $ 8, 767 7880-$-6;788-, 000 FinanceOther current liabilities 1, 585, 000 1, 851 -880-2,336- 000 Long-
term Operatinglong- term operating lease liabilities 72, 240, 000 79, 318 7-806-86;-863-, 000 FinanceOther liabilities 1, 893, 000
2,742 7880-3;425- 000 Total lease liabilitics $ 84, 037, 000 $ 92, 678, 000 $-93;346;,-000F-23Fease—- Lease cost recognized
in the consolidated statement of operations is comprised of the following: Years Ended March 31, Lease cost Operating lease
cost $ 15,047,000 $ 13, 176,000 $ 12, 472 7806-5H5527-, 000 Short- term lease cost 1, 263, 000 1, 686, 000 1, 462 766015
383-, 000 Variable lease cost 667, 000 761, 000 1, 011 ;-800-825-, 000 Finance lease cost: Amortization of finance lease assets 1,
508, 000 1, 983, 000 2, 088 78604762-, 000 Interest on finance lease liabilities 219, 000 262, 000 345 680379, 000 Total
lease cost $ 18,704,000 $ 17, 868, 000 $ 17, 378 +006-$45-876-, 000 Maturities of lease commitments at March 31, 2023
2024 were as follows: Maturity of lease liabilities by fiscal year Operating Leases Finance Leases Total $ 12, 676, 000 $ 1, 753,
000 $ 14, 429, 000 12, 374, 000 1, 015, 000 13, 567389 , 000 11 $2-, 064;-660-515;-631-06012,-535;-066-1-569,-000-14-194
+64;-000 +2-524 , 699000 83711 , 718 66612936~ 000 10, 8+6-928 , 000 346-364 , 000 11, +62-292 | 000 +6;725;-666-186;
666169+ 11, 126, 000 169, 000 11, 295 , 000 Thereafter 53-43 , 929461 , 000 6-- 43 , 461 666-53;-935-, 000 Total lease
payments H3-101 , 6H4-759 , 000 5-3 , 868-825 . 000 HS8-105 , 679-584 . 000 Less : amount representing interest ( 2521 , 586




200, 000) (445347 , 000) (2621 , 864547 , 000) Present value of lease liabilities $ 88-80 , 885-559 , 000 $ 4-3 , 593-478 , 000
$92-84 . 678-037 , 000 F- Other240ther information about leases is as follows: March 31, 2023-2024 March 31, 26222023
Lease term and discount rate Weighted- average remaining lease term (years): Finance leases 2. 9-8 2. 9 Operating leases 8.3 9.
0 +6—4-Weighted- average discount rate: Finance leases 5-6 . 9-4 % 5. +9 % Operating leases 5. 8 % 5. 78 % 11 2441
Accounts Receivable Discount ProgramsThe Company uses accounts receivable discount programs with-offered by certain
customers and their respective banks. Under these accounts receivable discount programs, the Company may sell those
customers’ receivables to those banks at a discount to be agreed upon at the time the receivables are sold. These accounts
receivable discount arrangements-programs allow the Company to accelerate receipt of payment on customers’ receivables.
The following is a summary of the Company’ s accounts receivable discount programs: Fiscal Years Ended March 31,
Receivables discounted $ 618, 012, 000 $ 548, 376 7066-$-525;441-, 000 Weighted average days Weighted average discount
rate 6. 8 % 5. 3 %+-9-% Amount of discount as interest expense $ 39, 175, 000 $ 26, 432 +-600-$9497, 000 12. Financial
Risk Management and DerivativesPurchases and expenses denominated in currencies other than the U. S. dollar, which are
primarily related to the Company’ s facilities overseas, expose the Company to market risk from material movements in foreign
exchange rates between the U. S. dollar and the foreign currencies. The Company’ s primary risk exposure is from fluctuations
in the value of the Mexican peso and to a lesser extent the Chinese yuan. To mitigate these risks, the Company enters into
forward foreign currency exchange contracts to exchange U. S. dollars for these foreign currencies. The extent to which forward
foreign currency exchange contracts are used is modified periodically in response to the Company’ s estimate of market
conditions and the terms and length of anticipated requirements. The Company enters into forward foreign currency exchange
contracts in order to reduce the impact of foreign currency fluctuations and not to engage in currency speculation. The use of
derivative financial instruments allows the Company to reduce its exposure to the risk that the eventual cash outflow resulting
from funding the expenses of the foreign operations will be materially affected by changes in exchange rates between the U. S.
dollar and the foreign currencies. The Company does not hold or issue financial instruments for trading purposes. The forward
foreign currency exchange contracts are designated for forecasted expenditure requirements to fund foreign operations. The
Company had forward foreign currency exchange contracts with a U. S. dollar equivalent notional value of § 54, 092, 000 and $
48, 486 7090-and-$44;,968-, 000 at March 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022- respectively. These contracts generally have a term of
one year or less, at rates agreed at the inception of the contracts. The counterparty to this derivative transaction is a major
financial institution with investment grade credit rating; however, the Company is exposed to credit risk with this institution.
The credit risk is limited to the potential unrealized gains (which offset currency fluctuations adverse to the Company) in any
such contract should this counterparty fail to perform as contracted. Any changes in the fair values of forward foreign currency
exchange contracts are included in foreign exchange impact of lease liabilities and forward contracts in the consolidated
statements of operations. F-Fhe-25The following shows the effect of the Company’ s derivative instruments on its consolidated
statements of operations: (Loss) Gain {Eess)-Recognized as Foreign Exchange Impact of Lease Liabilities and Forward
Contracts Derivatives Not Designated as Years Ended March 31, Hedging Instruments Forward foreign currency exchange
contracts $ (1,373, 000) $ 2, 776, 000 $ (316, 000) $F-FH3;-600-The fair value of the forward foreign currency exchange
contracts of $ 2,516, 000 and $ 3, 889 7806-and-$+33-, 000 are included in prepaid and other current assets in the
consolidated balance sheets at March 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-, respectively. The changes in the fair values of forward
foreign currency exchange contracts are included in foreign exchange impact of lease liabilities and forward contracts in the
consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended March 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 ;and2624-. 13 F—2543- Fair Value
MeasurementsThe Company defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
(an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants on the measurement date. The Company uses a three- tier valuation hierarchy based upon observable and
unobservable inputs: « Level 1 — Valuation is based upon quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities. « Level 2 — Valuation is based upon quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, or other inputs
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the financial
instrument. * Level 3 — Valuation is based upon unobservable inputs that are significant to the fair value measurement. The fair
value hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. In instances in which the inputs used to measure fair
value fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy, the fair value measurement has been determined based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. The Company’ s assessment of the significance of a
particular item to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment, including the consideration of inputs specific to
the asset or liability. F- Fhe-26The following sets forth by level within the fair value hierarchy, the Company’ s financial assets
and liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis according to the valuation techniques the Company used
to determine their fair values at: March 31, 2623-2024 March 31, 2622-2023 Fair Value Measurements Fair Value
Measurements Using Inputs Considered as Using Inputs Considered as Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value Level 1
Level 2 Level 3 Assets Short- term investments Mutual funds $ 1, 837, 000 $ 1, 837, 000 $-$-$ 2, 011, 000 $ 2, 011 ;-000-$—%-
$2,202,-600-5-2,2062-, 000 $- $- Prepaid expenses and other current assets Forward foreign currency exchange contracts 2, 516,
000- 2, 516, 000- 3, 889, 000- 3, 889 6803560013, 000- Liabilities Other current liabilities Deferred compensation
1, 837,000 1, 837, 000-- 2, 011, 000 2, 011 ;680-—2,262;-600-2,202-, 000-- Convertible notes, related party Compound Net
Derivative Liability 7, 410, 000-- 7, 410, 000 8, 430, 000-- 8, 430, 000 =~—Short- term Investments and Deferred
CompensationThe Company’ s short- term investments, which fund its deferred compensation liabilities, consist of investments
in mutual funds. These investments are classified as Level 1 as the shares of these mutual funds trade with sufficient frequency
and volume to enable the Company to obtain pricing information on an ongoing basis. Forward Foreign Currency Exchange
ContractsThe forward foreign currency exchange contracts are primarily measured based on the foreign currency spot and
forward rates quoted by the banks or foreign currency dealers (See Note 12). Compound Net Derivative EiabilityhrLiabilityThe



he-tsstane h rverth s-enMareh he-Company estimates the fair value of the
Compound Net Derlvatlve Liability (see Note 8) uilng Level 3 1nput§ and the Monte Carlo simulation model at the balance
sheet date. The Monte Carlo simulation model requires the input of subjeetive-assumptions including the expected volatility of
the underlying stock. These subjeettve-assumptions are based on both historical and other information. Changes in the values
assumed and used in the model can materially affect the estimate of fair value. This amount is recorded within convertible notes,
related party in the consolidated balance sheet-sheets at March 31, 2024 and 2023. The-Company-estimates-Any changes in the

fair value of the Compound Net Derlvatlve L1ab111ty are recorded in usingtevel 3-inputs-and-the Monte-Carlo-simulation
e : y ses— change frontthe-initialreeognition-in the-fair value of the
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consolidated statements of operations and in the consolidated statements of cash flows . F=26The--- The following
assumptions were used to determine the fair value of the Compound Net Derivative Liability: March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023
Risk free interest rate 4. 36 % 3. 64 % Cost of equity 23. 20 % 21. 80 % Weighted average cost of capital 14. 90 % 14. 60 %
Expected volatility of MPA €emmen-common Steelestock 50. 00 % 50. 00 % EBITDA volatility 3540 . 00 % 35. 00 % F-
Fhe-27The following summarizes the activity for Level 3 fair value measurements: Years Ended March 31, Beginning balance
$ 8,430,000 $ - Newly issued = 8, 430, 000 Changes in revaluatien-the fair value of the Compound Net Derivative Liability
included in earnings —Exereises+setements-(1, 020, 000) - Ending balance $ 7, 410, 000 $ 8, 430, 000 During the years ended
March 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-20822-, the Company had no significant measurements of assets or liabilities at fair value on a
nonrecurring basis subsequent to their initial recognition. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their fair value due to the short- term nature of these
instruments. The carrying amounts of the revolving loan stermtean-and other long- term liabilities approximate their fair value
based on the variable nature of interest rates and current rates for instruments with similar characteristics. At March 31, 2024
and 2023, the net carrying amount of the Convertible Notes was $ 30, 776, 000 and $ 30, 994, 000, respectively, (see Note
8). The estimated fair value of the Company’ s Convertible Notes was $ 38, 276, 000 using Level 3 inputs at March 31,
2024. The net carrying amount of the Convertible Notes approximated their fair value at March 31, 2023, as they were issued
on March 31, 2023. 14. Commitments and ContingenciesWarranty ReturnsThe Company allows its customers to return goods
that their consumers have returned to them, whether or not the returned item is defective (“ warranty returns ). The Company
accrues an estimate of its exposure to warranty returns based on a historical analysis of the level of this type of return as a
percentage of total unit sales. Amounts charged to expense for these warranty returns are considered in arriving at the
Company’ s net sales. The following summarizes the changes in the warranty return accrual: Years Ended March 31, Balance at
beginning of year $ 19, 830, 000 $ 20, 125, 000 $ 21, 093, 000 $4+8:306;,-600-Charged to expense 142, 240, 000 132, 719, 000
118, 675 7880-1H5-025-, 000 Amounts processed ( 142, 744, 000) ( 133, 014, 000) (119, 643 ;-6803-108;232-, 000) Balance at
end of year $ 19, 326, 000 $ 19, 830, 000 $ 20, 125, 000 $2+At March 31 , 893-2024 and 2023 , the Company’ s total
warranty return accrual was $ 19, 326, 000 F—-and $ 19, 830, 000, respectively, of which $ 5, 667, 000 and $ 4, 357, 000,
respectively, was included in the customer returns RGA issued within accounts receivable — net and $ 13, 659, 000 and
$ 15, 473, 000, respectively, was included in the customer finished goods returns accrual in the consolidated balance
sheets. 27Commitments—- Commitments to Provide Marketing Allowances under Long- Term Customer ContractsThe
Company has or is renegotiating long- term agreements with many of its major customers. Under these agreements, which in
most cases have initial terms of at least four years, the Company is designated as the exclusive or primary supplier for specified
categories of the Company’ s products. Because of the very competitive nature of the market and the limited number of
customers for these products, the Company’ s customers have sought and obtained price concessions, significant marketing
allowances, and more favorable delivery and payment terms in consideration for the Company’ s designation as a customer’ s
exclusive or primary supplier. These incentives differ from contract to contract and can include (i) the issuance of a specified
amount of credits against receivables in accordance with a schedule set forth in the relevant contract, (ii) support for a particular
customer’ s research or marketing efforts provided on a scheduled basis, (iii) discounts granted in connection with each
individual shipment of product, and (iv) other marketing, research, store expansion or product development support. These
contracts typically require that the Company meet ongoing performance standards. While these longer- term agreements
strengthen the Company’ s customer relationships, the increased demand for the Company’ s products often requires that the
Company increase its inventories and personnel. Customer demands that the Company purchase their Remanufactured Core
inventory also require the use of the Company’ s working capital. F- Fhe-28The marketing and other allowances the Company
typically grants its customers in connection with its new or expanded customer relationships adversely impact the near- term
revenues, profitability, and associated cash flows from these arrangements. Such allowances include sales incentives and
concessions and typically consist of: (i) allowances which may only be applied against future purchases and are recorded as a
reduction to revenues in accordance with a schedule set forth in the long- term contract, (ii) allowances related to a single
exchange of product that are recorded as a reduction of revenues at the time the related revenues are recorded or when such
incentives are offered, and (iii) amortization of core premiums paid to customers generally in connection with new business. The
following summarizes the breakout of allowances discussed above, recorded as a reduction to revenues: Years Ended March 31,
Allowances incurred under long- term customer contracts $ 10, 128, 000 $ 18, 253, 000 $ 19, 348 -806-$29,238-, 000
Allowances related to a single exchange of product 130, 918, 000 154, 194, 000 129, 283 ;-866-99,768-, 000 Amortization of
core premiums paid to customers 10, 181, 000 11, 113, 000 11, 242 7-860-6;590-, 000 Total customer allowances recorded as a
reduction of revenues $ 151, 227, 000 $ 183, 560, 000 $ 159, 873 +800-$435;-596-, 000 The following presents the Company’ s
commitments to incur allowances, excluding allowances related to a single exchange of product, which will be recognized as a
reduction to revenue when the related revenue is recognized: Year Ending March 31, $ 14, 637701 , 000 11, 62+179 , 000 10,
605300, 000 9,939-439 , 000 9-5 , 498-650 , 000 Thereafter F2 , 996-826 , 000 Total marketing allowances $ 63-54 , 976-095 ,




000 ContingenciesThe Company is subject to various lawsuits and claims. In addition, government agencies and self- regulatory
organlzatlons have the ability to conduct per10d1c examlnanon% of and administrative proceedlngs regardlng the Company s

code and regulatlons 999—&eﬂa—2(-)-1—1—t-hfeugh—rmé-—29-l-8—related to matters 1nclud1ng, but t-he—ﬁnd-mgs—ef—t-he—&ud-rt—”l:he
eempaﬂy—dees—not llmlted betiev : A S

an&ema’és—m—t-he—f&mfe- env1r0nmental mformatlon securlty, taxes, lev1es, tarlffs and such F- 28452915 . Significant
Customer and Other InformationSignificant Customer ConcentrationsWhile the Company continually seeks to diversify its
customer base, it currently derives, and has historically derived, a substantial portion of its sales from a small number of large
customers. Any meaningful reduction in the level of sales to any of these customers, deterioration of the financial condition of
any of these customers or the loss of any of these customers could have a materially adverse impact on our business, results of
operations, and financial condition. The Company’ s largest customers accounted for the following total percentage of net sales:
Years Ended March 31, Customer A % % % Customer B-C % % % Customer €B % % % Customer D % % % Revenues for
Customers A through C were derived from the Hard Parts segment and Test Solutions and Diagnostic Equipment segment.
Revenues for Customer D were derived from the Hard Parts segment. The Company’ s largest customers accounted for the
following total percentage of accounts receivable — trade: March 31, 2623-2024 March 31, 2022-2023 Customer A % %
Customer B % % Customer C % % Customer D % % Geographic and Product InformationThe Company’ s products are
predominantly sold in the U. S. and accounted for the following total percentage of net sales: Years Ended March 31, Rotating
electrical products % % % WheetHrab-Brake- related products % % % Wheel hub Brake—related-products % % % Other
products % % % % % % Significant Supplier ConcentrationsNo suppliers accounted for more than 10 % of the Company’ s
inventory purchases for the years ended March 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 ;and2624- F- 2046-3016 . [ncome Taxes Domestic
and foreign components of (loss) income dessy-before income taxes are as follows: Years Ended March 31, 2623-2024 United
States $ (29, 661, 000) $ ( 14, 470, 000) $ 6, 021, 000 $43;926,000-Foreign 16, 593,000 11, 361, 000 7, 128 ;-600-+6;943-,
000 (Loss) income before income taxes ( 13, 068, 000) ( 3, 109, 000) 13, 149 --866-36;863-, 000 The income tax expense is as
follows: Years Ended March 31, Current tax expense Federal $ 1, 696, 000 $ 2, 483, 000 $ 8, 572, 000 $-5;734;-006-State 363,
000 396, 000 1, 478, 000 722;-806-Foreign 4, 553, 000 3, 426, 000 3, 180 ;7666-3;364-, 000 Total current tax expense 6, 612,
000 6, 305, 000 13, 230 7-9666-9;-820-, 000 Deferred tax expense (benefit) expense-Federal 25, 320, 000 (5, 037, 000) (6,411,
000) €5-969-666)-State 4, 249, 000 (705, 000) (659, 000) H8-066-Foreign (5, 000) 535, 000 (372, 000) 5,358;-606-Total
deferred tax expense ( benefit) 29, 564, 000 (5, 207, 000) (7, 442 06689433, 000) Total income tax expense $ 36, 176, 000 $
1,098,000 $ 5, 788, 000 $9;387-006-F - 30Peferred-31Deferred income taxes consist of the following: March 31, 2623-2024
March 31, 2022-2023 Assets Allowance for bad debts $ 44, 000 $ 78 -006-$99- 000 Customer allowances earned 4, 706, 000
4, 760 78005324, 000 Allowance for stock adjustment returns 3, 620, 000 2, 391 78004651, 000 Inventory adjustments 7,
419, 000 7, 817, 000 3;:-845;-600-Intangibles, net 852, 000 809 -886-785-, 000 Stock options 2, 723, 000 2, 770 -666-2;-984-,
000 Operating lease liabilities 21, 251, 000 23, 408 7806-23-894-, 000 Estimate for returns 29, 942, 000 26, 670 00025445,
000 Accrued compensation 2, 600, 000 2, 718 78803545, 000 Net operating losses 4, 670, 000 5, 351 6804617, 000 Tax
credits 2, 054, 000 2, 012, 000 2-Capitalized research credits 1 , 648-158 . 000 - Plant and equipment, net 1, 010, 000- Other
6, 588, 000 5, 046 -860-3;-833-, 000 Total deferred tax assets $ 88, 637, 000 $ 83, 830 7000-57%4-977, 000 Liabilities Plant and
equipment, net = (79 36003505+, 000) Contract assets ( 10, 265, 000) ( 12, 357 76003-33873-, 000) Operating lease assets (
23, 845, 000) ( 25, 004, 000) 2374245-6080)-Other (6, 663, 000) (6, 864 7-880)5;960-, 000) Total deferred tax liabilities $ ( 40,
773, 000) $ (44, 304 0003544365, 000) Less valuation allowance $ ( 45,399, 000) $ (7. 619, 000) $6;-8+6;-606)-Total $
2,465,000 $ 31, 907 -600-$26:856-, 000 As of March 31, 2023-2024 , before tax effect, the Company had federal net
operating loss carryforwards of § 1, 363474 , 000 related to its January 2019 acquisition, state net operating loss carryforwards
of $ 649-401 , 000 and foreign net operating loss carryforwards of $ 49-16 , 642403 , 000. The federal net operating loss
carryforwards expire beginning in fiscal year 2033-2034 , the state net operating loss carryforwards expire beginning in fiscal
year 2033, and the foreign net operating loss carryforwards expire beginning in fiscal year 2038. As of March 31, 2023-2024 ,
the Company also had non- US tax credit carryforwards of § 2, 642-054 , 000, which will expire beginning in fiscal year 2034.
A full valuation allowance was established on the federal and foreign net operating loss and tax credits carryforward as the
Company believes it is more likely than not these tax attributes would not be realizable in the future. The net increase in the
valuation allowance was $ 883-37, 780 , 000 during the year ended March 31, 2623-2024 . One of the Company’ s Canadian
subsidiaries currently has a valuation allowance of approximately $ 4, 500, 000. During the year ended March 31, 2024,
this Canadian subsidiary experienced improved performance, which could result in a material reduction in the valuation
allowance on its deferred tax assets in the next 12 months if this trend continues . Realization of deferred tax assets is
dependent upon the Company’ s ability to generate sufficient future taxable income. Significant judgment is required in
determining the Company’ s provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded
against the Company’ s net deferred tax assets. The Company makes these estimates and judgments about its future taxable
income that are based on assumptions that are consistent with the Company’ s future plans. A valuation allowance is established
when the Company believes it is not more likely than not all or some deferred tax assets will be realized. In evaluating the
Company’ s ability to recover deferred tax assets within the jurisdiction in which they arise, the Company considers all available
positive and negative evidence , including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income,
past financial performance, and tax planning strategies . Deferred tax assets arising primarily as a result of non- US net
operating loss carry- forwards and non- US research and development credits in connection with the Company’ s Canadian



operations have been offset completely by a valuation allowance due to the uncertainty of their utilization in future periods.
Sheutd-During the aetaatameount-differfromryear ended March 31, 2024, the Company recorded a discrete non- cash >s
estimates;-the-ameunt-ofthe-valuation allowance eetwld-of $ 38, 009, 000 on U. S. federal and various state deferred tax
assets that is considered not more likely than not to be impaeted-realized under U . S. GAAP. F- Fer-32For the years ended
March 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 ;and2024-, the primary components of the Company’ s income tax expense were (i) federal
income taxes, (i) state income taxes, (iii) foreign income taxed at rates that are different from the federal statutory rate, (iv)
ehaﬁge—m—fe&hzab-}e—defeﬁed-ta*ﬁems—év}lmpact of the non- deductible executive compensation under Internal Revenue Code
Section 162 (m), and (¥+v ) change in valuation allowance. In addition, for the year ended March 31, 2024, the Company’
s income taxes-assoetated-with-uneertainrtax positionsF-expense included the impact of an excess tax benefit from share -
based compensation. 3+Fhe--- The difference between the income tax expense at the federal statutory rate and the Company’ s
effective tax rate is as follows: Years Ended March 31, Statutory federal income tax rate 21. 0 % 21. 0 % 21. 0 % State income
tax rate, net of federal benefit 10. 8 % 3. 5 % 4. 1 % 2-Excess tax benefit from share- based compensation (4 . 2-8) %- %- %
Foreign income taxed at different rates ( 9. 8) % (28. 7) % 4 —9-%+. 9 % Non- deductible executive compensation ( 2. 6) % (
9.0) % 7. 2 % +9-%Change in valuation allowance ( 289.1) % (25. 8) % 5. 0 %2-2-% Uncertain tax positions 0. 9 % (1. 0)
% 6. 1 % 8-3%Research and development credit 2-0 . 7 % 2. 7 % (0. 9 ¥%€6-3-) % Net operating loss carryback- % - % (0. 4)
26—% Other (3.9) % 2. 0 % (3. 0) % +(276 . 2-8) % (35. 3) % 44. 0 %36—4-% The Company and its subsidiaries file income tax
returns #-for the U. S. federal , jurisdtetionand-various state , and foreign jurisdictions with varying statutes of limitations. At
March 31, 2623-2024 , the Company is aetunder examination by -rn—&ﬂ-y—mﬂsdieﬁeﬂ—&ﬂd-the State of California for fiscal yecars
ended March 31, 2648-threugh2623-2020 , 2021, and 2022 and remairrremains subject to examination from the fiscal years
ended March 31, 2020 and forward . The Company believes no significant changes in the unrecognized tax benefits will
occur within the next 12 months. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as
follows: Years Ended March 31, Balance at beginning of period $ 1, 964, 000 $ 1, 975, 000 $ 1, 104 ;-680-$1-641+, 000
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year 15, 000 53, 000 352 -6066-249-, 000 Additions for tax positions of
prior year 15, 000 - 581 -606-67-, 000 Reductions for tax positions of prior year ( 210, 000) ( 64, 000) (62 76603223~ 000)
Balance at end of period $ 1, 784, 000 $ 1, 964, 000 $ 1, 975 -666-$3+3404-, 000 At March 31, 2024, 2023 ;-and 2022 and202+
, there are $ 1, 475,000, $ 1, 616, 000, and $ 1, 632 -066;ard-$-923-, 000, respectively, of unrecognized tax benefits that if
recognized would affect the annual effective tax rate before the impact of changes in the valuation allowance . F- The-33The
Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as part of income tax expense. During the years
ended March 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 ;and2024-, the Company recognized interest and penalties of approximately $ 21, 000,
$59,000, and $ 112, 000 ;and-$-(+6:-066)-, respectively. The Company had approximately $ 250, 000 and $ 229 -600-and-$
-1—7-9— 000 for the pdyment of 1nterest and penaltles accmed at March 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-, respectively. The Whth-the
P 0 he-Company intends to indefinitely reinvest its undistributed earnings

from forel,tsn subudlarle% in foreign operatlons with the exception of earnings from its Singapore subsidiary . No
incremental U. S. Federal-federal tax or withholding taxes have been provided for these earnings. 17. Defined Contribution
PlansThe Company has a 401 (k) retirement plan covering all employees who are 21 years of age with at least six months of
service. The plan permits eligible employees to make contributions up to certain limitations, with the Company matching 50 %
of each participating employee’ s contribution up to the first 6 % of employee compensation. Employees are immediately vested
in their voluntary employee contributions and vest in the Company’ s matching contributions ratably over five years. During the
year ended March 31, 2024, the Company’ s matching contributions under its 401 (k) retirement plan were temporarily
halted through February 2024 when they were reinstated. The Company’ s matching contribution to the 401 (k) retirement
plan was $ 148, 000, $ 549, 000, and $ 578 7600;ard-$507-, 000 for the years ended March 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, and
202+respectively. 18 #3248~ Share- based Paymentsin—- Payments 2022 Incentive Award Plan (the “ 2022 Plan ”) In
September 2022, the Company’ s shareholders approved the 2022 Incentive Award Plan (the ““ 2022 Plan ), which replaced the
2010 Incentive Award Plan and the 2014 Non- Employee Director Incentive Award Plan. Under the 2022 Plan, a total of 924,
200 shares of the Company’ s common stock were reserved for grants to its employees, non- employee directors, and
consultants. At March 31, 2623-2024 ~there were 52-(i) 132 , 768-133 options to purchase shares of common stock
outstanding, (ii) 100, 624 shares of restricted stock units outstanding , and (iii) S81, 227 shares of performance stock units

outstanding under the 2022 Plan. At March 31, 2023, there were 52, 768 shares of restricted stock units outstanding
under the 2022 Plan. There were 430, 129 and 871, 432 shares of common stock swere-available for grant under this-the 2022
plan-Plan at —AtMarch 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022;10;-417-and-82,324-of restrieted-stoekunits-, respectively . Fwere
eutstanding-tnderthe-2014 Non- Employee Director Incentive Award Plan At March 31, 2024 there were no restrlcted stock
units outstanding under the 2014 Non- Employee Director Incentive Award Plan. At March 31, 2023, there were 10, 417
restrlcted stock units outstandmg under thls plan No shares of common stock remain av ailable for gr"mt under this plan A—f

lncentlve Award Phn At March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectlvely, there were (1) 140 299 and 266 169 shares of restricted
stock units outstanding, (ii) 975, 884 and 1, 226, 745 options to purchase shares of common stock outstanding, and (iii)
192, 696 and 192, 696 shares of performance stock units outstanding under the 2010 Incentive Award Plan. In addition,
at March 31, 2023, there were 100, 000 restricted shares outstanding . No shares of common stock remain available for
grant under this plan. 2004 Non- Employee Director Stock Option Plan [n addition, at March 31, 2024, there were no
options to purchase shares of common stock outstanding under the 2004 Non- Employee Director Stock Option Plan. At
March 31, 2023 and-2022-, options to purchase 6, 000 ane-24-606-shares of common stock srespeetively-were outstanding



under the 2004 Non- Employee Director Stock Option Plan. No options remain available for grant under this plan. F- Steek
34Stock OptionsThe Company granted options to purchase 132, 133 shares of common stock during the year ended
March 31, 2024. The Company did not grant any stock options during the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022. The
following summarizes the Black- Scholes option- pricing model assumptions used to derive the weighted average fair
value of the stock optlons granted durlng the year ended Malch 31, %92—3—2024 and—zea-z— :Phe—fe-l-}ewmg—su-mﬁaaﬂzes—t-he

d-&rrﬂg—t-he—yea-r—eﬁded—Mafeh—&l—%@%l#eafs» Year Ended March 31, %92—1—2024 Welghted average risk free interest rate 9—4
44-53 % Weighted average expected holding period (years) 5-6 . 96Wetg-hted—57We1ghted average expected volatility 44-51 .
96-29 % Weighted average expected dividend yield- Weighted average fair value of options granted $ 6-3 . 43-75 The following
is a summary of stock option transactions: Number of Weighted Average Shares Exercise Price Outstanding at March 31, 2022
2023 1, 695232 ., 499-745 $ +7-20 . 53-20 Granted =132, 133 $ -9. 32 Exercised - 326;469)-5 - 6—F5-Forfeited / Cancelled (
123-116 , 932-328 ) § 19. 45-70 Expired (42-140 , 353-533 ) $ +5-9 . 9+-66 Outstanding at March 31, 2023-2024 1,232-108 ,
F45-017 $ 20. 26-29 At March 31, 2623-2024 , options to purchase 96-132 , 495-133 shares of common stock were unvested at
the weighted average exercise price of § +5-9 . +6-32 . F=33Based--- Based on the market value of the Company’ s common
stock at March 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 ;and-2021-, the pre- tax intrinsic value of options exercised was $ 0, $ 2, 427, 000,
and $ 245 ;-000;-and-$-546-, 000, respectively. The total fair value of stock options vested during the years ended March 31,
2024, 2023, and 2022 ;and2024-was $ 324, 000, $ 1, 140, 000, and $ 2, 174 -906and-$2484-, 000, respectively. The
following summarizes information about the options outstanding at March 31, 2023-2024 : Options Outstanding Options
Exercisable Weighted Weighted Weighted Average Weighted Average Average Remaining Aggregate Average Remaining
AggregateRange of Exercise Life Intrinsic Exercise Life IntrinsicExercise price Shares Price In Years Value Shares Price In
Years Value $9.32 to $ 17. 38 341, 027 $ 12. 99 7. 43 208, 894 $ 15. 32 6. 14 48-te-$ +8-19 . 26-00 to $ 22. 73 410, 633 19. 58
4.78 410, 633 19. 58 4. 78 $ 22. 93 to $ 27. 465 40 164 , 44-8-133 26. 35 2. 55 164, 133 26.35 2.55 $ 28. 68 to $ 31. 13 334
83-308;923-$42-192 , —76-4-08-518-2110-522-224 —83-438;-637 1958578438637 1958578522 84t0-$28-04178;
566—26—24—3%9448%66—26—24—3%9%—2—8—95*@%—34—%3—2—}9—1%429 602-1.95246-192 , +24-224 29. 60 2-1 . 95 1, 232-108 ,
F45-017 $ 20. 20-29 4. 66-77 $-+975 , 884 136;250-5 20-21 . 63-78 4. 44-14 $- The aggregate intrinsic values in the above table
represent the pre- tax value of all in- the money options if all such options had been exercised on March 31, 2623-2024 based
on the Company’ s closing stock price of § 78 . 44-04 as of that date. AtF- 35At March 31,2623-2024 , there was $ +32-409 ,
000 of total unrecognized compensation expense from stock- based compensation granted under the plans, which is related to
non- vested shares. The compensation expense is expected to be recognized over a weighted average vesting period of three
menths-2. S years . Restricted Stock Units and Restricted Stock (collectively “ RSUs ”’) During the year ended March 31,
2024, the Company granted 100, 624 of time- based vesting restricted stock units, based on the closing market price on
the grant date. During the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company granted (i) performance- based restricted stock
awards which had a threshold performance level of 33, 333 shares, a target performance level of 66, 667 shares, and a maximum
performance level of 100, 000 shares at the grant date for both periods and (ii) 229, 121 and 163, 703 of time- based vesting
restricted stock units, respectively. The estimated grant date fair value of the RSUs of $ 800, 000, $ 4, 430, 000, and $ 5, 775 5
800and-$4,150-, 000, for the years ended March 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, and-2024-respectively, whteh-was based on the
closing market price on the date of grant. The fair value related to these awards is recognized as compensation expense over the
vesting period. These awards generally vest in three equal installments beginning each anniversary from the grant date, subject
to continued employment. Upon vesting, these awards may be net share settled to cover the required withholding tax with the
remaining amount converted into an equivalent number of shares of common stock. Total shares withheld during the years
ended March 31, 2024, 2023 , and 2022 were 42, 720, 74, 854 , and 84, 762, respectively, based on the value of these awards as
determined by the Company’ s closing stock price on the vesting date. The following is a summary of non- vested RSUs:
Number of Shares Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value Outstanding at March 31, 2022-2023 399429 , 663-354 $ 49-15 .
98-07 Granted 329-100 , +21-624 $ 43-7 . 46-95 Vested ( 228;549r-$26-210, 485) $ 15 . 98-58 Forfeited / Cancelled ( 78, 70
570 - 34H-) $ 49-13 . +5-28 Outstanding at March 31, 2023-2024 429-240 , 354-923 § 4+5-12 . 8723 As of March 31, 2023-2024 ,
there was $ 3-1 , 289-435 , 000 of unrecognized compensation expense related to these award% which W111 be recogmzed over
the remalnlng Ve%tlng penod of app10x1mately -1—0 5—9 year% he s-tnrecoghized-eompensation-expense-teludes

Performance Stock Unlt§ (“ PSU@ ”) Durlng the year ended March 31 2024 the Company granted 585 583 PSUs, which
vest, subject to continued employment, as follows: (i) if the stock price is greater than or equal to $ 10. 00 per share, then
1/3 of the grant will vest, (ii) if the stock price is greater than or equal to $ 15. 00 per share then the next 1 /3 of the
grant will vest, and (iii) if the stock price is greater than or equal to $ 20. 00 per share then the final 1 /3 of the grant will
vest. Recipients are eligible to vest in between S0 % and 150 % of the third tranche by achieving a stock price between $
17. 50 and $ 25. 00 per share (each stock price target must be met for thirty consecutive trading days). The Company
calculated the fair value of these PSUs individually for each tranche using the Monte Carlo Simulation Model at the
grant date. Compensation cost is recognized over the estimated derived service period. Compensation cost related to
these awards will not be adjusted even if the market condition is not met. During the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022,
the Company granted 126, 028 and 84, 593 of performance- based PSUs (at target performance levels), respectively, to its
executives, which typically cliff vest after three- years subject to continued employment. These awards are contingent and
granted separately for each of the following metrics: adjusted EBITDA, net sales, and relative total shareholder return (“ TSR ™).
Compensation cost is determined at the grant date and recognized on a straight- line basis over the requisite service period to the
extent the conditions are deemed probable. The number of shares earned at the end of the three- year period will vary, based
only on actual performance, from 0 % to 150 % of the target number of PSUs granted —RSYs-are-not-eonsidered-issued-or



outstanding-ordinary-shares-of the-Company-. Adjusted EBITDA and net sales are considered performance conditions. The

Company will reassess the probability of achieving each performance condition separately each reporting period. TSR is
considered a market condition because it measures the Company’ s return against the performance of the Russell 3000,
excluding companies classified as financials and real estate, over a given period of time. Compensation cost related to the TSR
award will not be adjusted even if the market condition is not met. The Company calculated the fair value of the PSUs for each
component individually. F- Fhe-36The fair value of PSUs subject to performance conditions is equal to the closing stock price
on the grant date. The fair value of PSUs subject to the-a market condition is determined using the Monte Carlo walaation
simulation model. The following table summarizes the assumptions used in determining the fair value of the FSR-awards
subject to market conditions : Year Ended March 31, 2024 Risk free interest rate 4. 32- 4. 35 % 3. 35 % 0. 47 % Expected life
in years 0. 2- 1. 8 Expected volatility of MPA common stock 54.2-55.1 % 51. 30 % 53. 70 % Expected average volatility of
peer companies - % 62. 70 % 59. 30 % Average correlation coefficient of peer companies - % 27. 50 %6-26. 70 76Expeeted---
Expected dividend yield - -- Grant date fair value $ 3. 57-8.37 $ 16. 02 $ 26. 89 The following is a summary of non- vested
PSUs: Number of Shares Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value Outstanding at March 31, 2622-2023 $4:-593-$23-19-192 ,
696 $ 17. 48 Granted 426-585 , 828583 $ 44-4 . 90-50 Vested- $- Forfeited / Cancelled (494 , 925356 ) $ 49-5 . 95-79
Outstanding at March 31, 2623-2024 +92-773 , 696-923 $ +7-7 . 48-73 At March 31, 2023-2024 , there was $ 1,926-361 , 000 of
unrecognized compensation expense related to these awards, which will be recognized over the weighted average remaining
vesting period of approximately 1. 9-0 years— year . 19 F3545- Segment InformationPursuant to the guidance provided under
the Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification for segment reporting, the Company has
identified its chief operating decision maker (“ CODM ”), reviewed the documents used by the CODM, and understands how
such documents are used by the CODM to make financial and operating decisions. The Company has identified its Chief
Executive Officer as the CODM. The criteria the Company used to identify the reportable segments are primarily the nature of
the products the Company sells, the Company’ s organizational and management reporting structure, and the operating results
that are regularly reviewed by the Company’ s CODM to make decisions about the resources to be allocated to the business
units and to assess performance. The Company’ s three operating segments are: « Hard Parts, inelueding-which includes (i) light
duty rotating electric products such as alternators and starters, (ii) wheel hub products, (iii) brake- related products, including
brake calipers, brake boosters, brake rotors, brake pads and brake master cylinders, and (iv) turbochargers, * Test Solutions and
Diagnostic Equipment, inelading-which includes (i) applications for combustion engine vehicles, including bench - top testers
for alternators and starters, (i1) test-selations-and-diagnostie-cquipment for the pre- and post- production of electric vehicles, and
(iii) software emulation of power systers— system applications for the electrification of all forms of transportation (including
automobiles, trucks and-, the emerging electrification of systems within the aerospace industry, and sueh-as-electric vehicle
charging stations), and « Heavy Duty, -'me{ud-iﬂg—which includes non- discretionary automotive aftermarket replacement hard

parts for heavy— duty truck, 1ndu%tr1al marine, and agncultural apphcatlom F- Pﬂer—te—t-he—fet&t-h—quaﬁer—e—ﬂﬁseﬂ-l%@%,—t-he

be—aggfegafed—’l:he-37The Company s Hard Parti opelatlng %egment meets the Cnterla of a reportable %egment while-. The Test
Solutions and Diagnostic Equipment and Heavy Duty segments are not material, are not required to be separately repertable—--
reported , and are included within the *“ all other ” category. F—36Finanetal--- Financial information relating to the Company” s
segments is as follows: March 31, 2024 Hard Parts All Other Total Net sales to external customers $ 669, 904, 000 $ 47,
780, 000 $ 717, 684, 000 Intersegment sales 895, 000 407, 000 1, 302, 000 Operating income (loss) 48, 500, 000 (2, 431, 000)
46, 069, 000 Depreciation and amortization 10, 371, 000 1, 248, 000 11, 619, 000 Segment assets 1, 019, 811, 000 54, 946,
000 1, 074, 757, 000 Capital expenditures 621, 000 379, 000 1, 000, 000 March 31, 2023 Hard Parts All Other Total Net sales
to external customers $ 638, 460, 000 $ 44, 614, 000 $ 683, 074, 000 Intersegment sales 600, 000 192, 000 792, 000 Operating
income (loss) 44, 855, 000 (8, 303, 000) 36, 552, 000 Depreciation and amortization 10, 955, 000 1, 489, 000 12, 444, 000
Segment assets 1, 032, 739, 000 49, 778, 000 1, 082, 517, 000 Capital expenditures 3, 459, 000 742, 000 4, 201, 000 March 31,
2022 Hard Parts All Other Total Net sales to external customers $ 609, 992, 000 $ 40, 316, 000 $ 650, 308, 000 Intersegment
sales 831, 000 2, 502, 000 3, 333, 000 Operating income (10%@) 32, 265 OOO (3, 544, 000) 28,721, OOO Deprec1at10n and
amomzatlon 11,345,000 1, 541, 000 12, 886, 000 Seg 3 8 63060 Capltal

g tionand A o . e
9996—1—8—999—1—3—942— OOO Net %ales March 31 2024 March 31 2023 March 31, 2022 M&feh—}l—ZGQ—l—Total net %aleq for
reportable segment $ 670, 799, 000 $ 639, 060, 000 $ 610, 823 7800-5-542-8H-, 000 Other net sales 48, 187, 000 44, 806, 000
42, 818 7806-36;429-, 000 Elimination of intersegment net sales ( 1, 302, 000) ( 792, 000) (3, 333 5780692458, 000) Total
consolidated net sales $ 717, 684, 000 $ 683, 074, 000 $ 650, 308 0005540782, 000 Profit or loss March 31, 2024 March
31,2023 March 31, 2022 Mareh3+202+Total operating income for reportable segment $ 48, 500, 000 $ 44, 855, 000 $ 32,
265 006-$48450-, 000 Other operating loss ( 2,431, 000) ( 8, 303, 000) (3, 544 7-800)-1-836-, 000) Elimination of
intersegment operating income (loss) #reeme-51, 000 (106, 000) (17, 000) 43;-066-Interest expense, net ( 60, 040, 000) ( 39,
555,000) (15, 555, 000) (+5-Change in fair value of compound net derivative liability 1 , 776-020 , 000 -- Loss on
extinguishment of debt (168, 000 ) -- Total consolidated (loss) income before income tax expense $ ( 13, 068, 000) $ (3, 109,
000) $ 13, 149 ;-600-$36;:-863-, 000 Assets March 31, 2623-2024 March 31, 2022-2023 Total assets for reportable segment $ 1,
019, 811, 000 $ 1, 032, 739 +-860-5+-647-475-, 000 Other assets 54, 946, 000 49, 778 60047488~ 000 Elimination of
intersegment assets ( 62, 755, 000) ( 53, 952 7800)-(49,265-, 000) Total consolidated assets $ 1, 012, 002, 000 $ 1, 028, 565,
000 F- 3820 $1-045,698,-600-20-. Share Repurchase ProgramIn August 2018, the Company’ s board of directors approved an



increase in its share repurchase program from $ 20, 000, 000 to $ 37, 000, 000 of its common stock. During the yearyears ended
March 31, 2024 and 2023 the Company did not repurchase any shares of its common stock. During the years— year ended
March 31, 2022 and2624-, the Company repurchased 106, 486 and-54;-960-shares of its common stock srespeetively—for $ 1,
914, 000 ard-$+H139,-000,respeetively-. As of March 31, 2023-2024 . $ 18, 745, 000 was utilized and $ 18, 255, 000 remains
available to repurchase shares under the authorized share repurchase program, subject to the limit in the Company’ s Credit
Facility. The Company retired the 837, 007 shares repurchased under this program through March 31, 2623-2024 . The
Company’ s share repurchase program does not obligate it to acquire any specific number of shares and shares may be
repurchased in privately negotiated and / or open market transactions. 21 ¥-372+-. Related Party TransactionsLeaseln December
2022, the Company entered into an operating lease for its 35, 000 square foot manufacturing, warehouse, and office facility in
Ontario, Canada, with a company co- owned by a member of management. The lease, which commenced January 1, 2023, has
an initial term of one year with a base rent of approximately $ 27, 000 per month and includes options to renew for up to four
years. In November 2023, the Company exercised one of these options to renew for an additional one- year period. The
rent expense recorded by-the-Cempany-for the related party lease was $ 328, 000 and $ 82, 000 for the year-years ended March
31, 2024 and 2023 , respectively . Convertible Note and Election of New DirectorOn March 31, 2023, the Company entered
into the Note Purchase Agreement with Bison Capital Partners VI, L. P. and Bison Capital Partners VI- A, L. P., and Bison
Capital Partners VI, L. P. as the Purchaser Representative, for the issuance and sale of the Convertible Notes. In connection with
the issuance of the Convertible Notes and at the recommendation of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of
the Board and in connection with the bylaws of the Company, the Board appointed Douglas Trussler, a co- founder of Bison
Capital in 2001, to the Board, effective immediately, to serve until the Company’ s 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and
until his successor is duly elected and qualified. Mr. Trussler’ s compensation will be consistent with the Company’ s previously
disclosed standard compensation practices for non- employee directors, which are described in the Company’ s Definitive Proxy
Statement, filed with the SEC on July 29, 2022. There are no other transactions between Mr. Trussler and the Company that

would be reportable under Item 404 ('1 of Regulation S- K. Q—Z—Empbyee—Refeﬁﬁeﬂ—GfedﬁiPhe—%RE—Sﬁet—pfeﬁdes—aﬁ

S-S-Sehed:u-}e-39Schedule II— Valuatron and Quallfyrng AccountsAccounts Recelvable — Allow ance for credlt los%es Charge to
Balance at (recovery of) Balance at Years Ended beginning of bad debts Amounts end of March 31, Description year expense
written off year Allowance for credit losses $ 375;-060-$108;-000-$144,-006-$-339 , 000 $ (133, 000) $17,000$ 189, 000
Allowance for credit losses $ 348;-600-$-95,-000-$-68,-8000-$-375, 000 $ 108, 000 $ 144, 000 $ 339 , 000 Allowance for credit
losses $ 4:252,-000-$-(1-000)-$3;903,-000-$-348 , 000 $ 95, 000 $ 68, 000 $ 375 , 000 Accounts Receivable — Allowance for
customer- payment discrepancies Balance at Charge to Balance at Years Ended beginning of discrepancies Amounts end of
March 31, Description year expense Processed year Allowance for customer- payment discrepancies $ 1, 634 375,-000-$2,H2
,000 % 1,853-452, 000 $ 1, 634-880,000 $ 1,206 , 000 Allowance for customer- payment discrepancies $ #52-1, 375, 000 §$ 2,
-1-42—112 000 $ 1,549-853 , 000 $ 1,395-634 , 000 Allowance for customer- payment discrepancies $ 752, 000 $ 2, 142, 000 $
1,046-519 , 000 $ 694-1 , 375 866-$982-060-5752-, 000 Inventory — Allowance for excess and obsolete inventory Provision
for Balance at excess and Balance at Years Ended beginning of obsolete Amounts end of March 31, Description year inventory
written off year Allowance for excess and obsolete inventory $ 43-16 , 526-436 , 000 $ 4+8-16 , 85+233 , 000 § 15, 935297 , 000
$+6-17 ,436-372 , 000 Allowance for excess and obsolete inventory $ 13, %46—999—55—1—3%94—999%—1—3%—39—999%—1—3—520
000 $ 18, 851, 000 $ 15, 935, 000 $ 16, 436 , 000 Allowance for excess and obsolete inventory $ 13, 246 %98—999—55—1%—893—
999—$—1—2—7-65— 000 $ 13, %46—504 000 $ 13%—}E*htbﬁ4—12—FH%SHNfENBEBﬁkNB—RES%¥PED—€9N¥ER—P}BJ:E




MHUR%G@N%#E—KPLBI:E%R@NHSS@M@?E—B&&M&RH@—ZSO %9%9—000 $ {—]—l—Retss&ed—as—lS 520 000
Deferred Tax Assets — Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets Balance at Charge to Balance at Years Ended
beglnnlng of income tax Charged to end of March 31 Descrlptlon year expense %G%FQ{H%I:U-E—REGE{%LE-D—%
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Other Accounts year Valuatlon allowance
fmes—&nd—en—fhe—da-tes—set—feﬁh» for deferred tax assets $

619 000 $ 37 780 000 $-$ 45, 399 000 Valuatlon allowance for deferred tax
assets $ 6, 816, 000 $ 803 000$-9%7, 619 000 Valuatlon allowance for deferred tax assets $ 6, 163, 000 $ 653 000 $-$ 6.
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ibi Exhibit 21. 1List of SubsidiariesMVR Products Pte. Limited, a company
organized under the laws of SingaporeUnijoh Sdn. Bhd., a company organized under the laws of MalaysiaMotorcar Parts de
Mexico, S. A. de C. V., a company organized under the laws of MexicoMotorcar Parts of Canada, Inc., a company organized
under the laws of CanadaCentral Auto Parts (Shanghai) Co., Ltd, a company organized under the laws of ChinaD & V
Electronics Ltd, a company organized under the laws of CanadaD & V Electronic Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd, a company
organized under the laws of ChinaEPICQ MX, S. A. de C. V., a company organized under the laws of MexicoDixie Electric
Ltd., a company organized under the laws of CanadaDixie Electric Inc., a company organized under the laws of the United
StatesINDEL Distribution Company Private Limited, a company organized under the laws of IndiaDixie Auto Electric India
Private Limited, a company organized under the laws of IndiaExhibit 23. ICONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRMWe consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements: (1)
Registration Statement (Form S- 8 No. 333- 144883) pertaining to the 2004 Non- Employee Director Stock Option Plan, (2)



Registration Statement (Form S- 8 No. 333- 185691) pertaining to the 2010 Incentive Award Plan, (3) Registration Statement
(Form S- 3 No. 333- 195585) of Motorcar Parts of America, Inc., (4) Registration Statement (Form S- 8 No. 333-205910)
pertaining to the 2014 Non- Employee Director Incentive Award Plan and Second Amended and Restated 2010 Incentive Award
Plan, (5) Registration Statement (Form S- 8 No. 333- 223685) pertaining to the Third Amended and Restated 2010 Incentive
Award Plan, (6) Registration Statement (Form S- 8 No. 333- 248577) pertaining to the Fourth Amended and Restated 2010
Incentive Award Plan, and (7) Registration Statement (Form S- 8 No. 333- 268273) pertaining to the 2022 Incentive Award
Plan; of our reports dated June +3-11 , 2823-2024 , with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of
Motorcar Parts of America, Inc. and subsidiaries and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Motorcar
Parts of America, Inc. and subsidiaries, included in this Annual Report (Form 10- K) of Motorcar Parts of America, Inc. and
subsidiaries for the year ended March 31, 2623-2024 . / s / Ernst & Young LLP Los Angeles, CA June +3-11 , 2623-2024 Exhibit
31. 1ICERTIFICATIONSI, Selwyn Joftfe, certify that: 1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10- K of Motorcar Parts of
America, Inc.; 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other
financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 4. The registrant’ s other certifying officer (s)
and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d-
15 (f)) for the registrant and have: a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report
is being prepared; b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused, such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; c.
Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’ s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; andd. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant” s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’ s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report)
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting;
and5. The registrant’ s other certifying officer (s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’ s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’ s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions): a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of
internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant” s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; andb. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other
employees who have a significant role in the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting. Date: June +3-11 , 2623-2024
/s / Selwyn Joffe Selwyn Joffe Chief Executive OffteerEsxhibit-Officer Exhibit 31. 2CERTIFICATIONSI, David Lee, certify
that: 1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10- K of Motorcar Parts of America, Inc.; 2. Based on my knowledge, this report
does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report; 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report; 4. The registrant’ s other certifying officer (s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f)) for the registrant and have: a. Designed such
disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; b. Designed such internal control over
financial reporting, or caused, such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’ s
disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based upon such evaluation; andd. Disclosed in this report any
change in the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’ s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’ s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting; and5. The registrant’ s other certifying officer (s)
and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’ s auditors
and the audit committee of registrant’ s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): a. All significant
deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’ s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; andb. Any
fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’ s
internal control over financial reporting. Date: June +3-11 , 2623-2024 / s / David Lee David Lee Chief Financial OffieerExhibit
Officer Exhibit 31. 3CERTIFICATIONSI, Kamlesh Shah, certify that: 1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10- K of
Motorcar Parts of America, Inc.; 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact



or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial
statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 4. The registrant’ s other
certifying officer (s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f)) for the registrant and have: a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such
disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared; b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused, such internal
control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles; c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant” s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based upon such evaluation; andd. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’ s internal control over
financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’ s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’ s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’ s internal control
over financial reporting; and5. The registrant’ s other certifying officer (s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’ s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’ s board
of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the
design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’ s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; andb. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves
management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting. Date:
June 43-11 , 2023-2024 / s / Kamlesh Shah Kamlesh Shah Chief Accounting OffteerEXHIBIF-Officer EXHIBIT 32.
1CERTIFICATE OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER AND CHIEF ACCOUNTING
OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES- OXLEY ACT OF 2002In connection with the Annual
Report of Motorcar Parts of America, Inc. (the “ Company ) on Form 10- K for the year ended March 31, 2623-2024 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “ Annual Report ), I, Selwyn Joffe, Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, to my knowledge, that: 1. The Annual Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13 (a) or 15
(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and2. The information contained in the Annual Report fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. / s / Selwyn Joffe Selwyn Joffe Chief Executive
Officer June 43-11 , 2623¥1-20241In connection with the Annual Report of Motorcar Parts of America, Inc. (the “ Company ) on
Form 10- K for the year ended March 31, 2623-2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof
(the “ Annual Report ), I, David Lee, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002, to my knowledge, that: 1. The Annual Report fully
complies with the requirements of Section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and2. The information
contained in the Annual Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company. / s / David Lee David Lee Chief Financial Officer June 43-11 , 2623¥1-2024In connection with the Annual Report of
Motorcar Parts of America, Inc. (the “ Company ) on Form 10- K for the year ended March 31, 2623-2024 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “ Annual Report ), [, Kamlesh Shah, Chief Accounting Officer of
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of
2002, to my knowledge, that: 1. The Annual Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and2. The information contained in the Annual Report fairly presents, in all material respects,
the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. / s / Kamlesh Shah Kamlesh Shah Chief Accounting Officer
June +3-11 , 2623Fhe-2024The foregoing certifications are being furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission as part
of the accompanying report on Form 10- K. A signed original of each of these statements has been provided to Motorcar Parts of
America, Inc. and will be retained by Motorcar Parts of America, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission
or its staff upon request.



